Integrated care to address the physical health needs of people with severe mental illness: a rapid review

Mark Rodgers¹ Jane Dalton¹

Melissa Harden¹

Andrew Street²

Gillian Parker³

Alison Eastwood¹

Centre for Reviews and Dissemination¹

Centre for Health Economics²

Social Policy Research Unit³

University of York, Heslington, York, YO10 5DD

Corresponding author: Mark Rodgers, Centre for Reviews and Dissemination, University of York (mark.rodgers@york.ac.uk)

Competing interests: None declared.

Keywords: Integrated care; Mental health; Physical health; Rapid review

Total word count: 32,294

Important

This web report has been created once the normal NIHR Journals Library peer and editorial review processes are complete. The report has undergone full peer and editorial review as documented at NIHR Journals Library website and may undergo rewrite during the publication process. The order of authors was correct at editorial sign-off stage.

A final version (which has undergone a rigorous copy-edit and proofreading) will publish in a forthcoming issue of the *Health Services and Delivery Research* journal.

Any queries about this web report should be addressed to the NIHR Journals Library Editorial Office <u>NIHRedit@soton.ac.uk</u>.

The research reported in this web report was commissioned and funded by the HS&DR programme as part of a series of evidence syntheses under project number 13/05/11. For more information visit http://www.nets.nihr.ac.uk/projects/hsdr/130511

The authors have been wholly responsible for all data collection, analysis and interpretation, and for writing up their work. The HS&DR editors have tried to ensure the accuracy of the authors' work and would like to thank the reviewers for their constructive comments however; they do not accept liability for damages or losses arising from material published in this web report.

This web report presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR). The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, NETSCC, the HS&DR programme or the Department of Health. If there are verbatim quotations included in this publication the views and opinions expressed by the interviewees are those of the interviewees and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, NETSCC, the HS&DR programme or the views and opinions expressed by the interviewees are those of the interviewees and do not necessarily reflect those of the authors, those of the NHS, the NIHR, NETSCC, the HS&DR programme or the Department of Health.

Abstract

Background

People with mental health conditions have a lower life expectancy and poorer physical health outcomes than the general population. Evidence suggests this discrepancy is driven by a combination of clinical risk factors, socioeconomic factors, and health system factors.

Objective(s)

To explore current service provision and map the recent evidence on models of integrated care addressing the physical health needs of people with severe mental illness (SMI) primarily within the mental health service setting.

The research was designed as a rapid review of published evidence from 2013-2015, including an update of a comprehensive 2013 review, together with further grey literature and insights from an expert advisory group.

Synthesis

We conducted a narrative synthesis, using a guiding framework based on nine previously identified factors considered to be facilitators of good integrated care for people with mental health problems, supplemented by additional issues emerging from the evidence.

Descriptive data were used to identify existing models, perceived facilitators and barriers to their implementation, and any areas for further research.

Findings and discussion

The synthesis incorporated 45 publications describing 36 separate approaches to integrated care, along with further information from the Advisory Group.

Most service models were multi-component programmes incorporating two or more of the nine factors: information sharing systems, shared protocols, joint funding/commissioning, co-located services, multidisciplinary teams, liaison services, navigators, research, and reduction of stigma.

Few of the identified examples were described in detail and fewer still were evaluated, raising questions about the replicability and generalisability of much of the existing evidence. However, some common themes did emerge from the evidence. Efforts to improve the physical health care of people with SMI should empower people (staff and service users) and help remove everyday barriers to delivering and accessing integrated care. In particular, there is a need for improved communication between professionals and better information technology to support them, greater clarity about who is responsible and accountable for physical health care, and awareness of the effects of stigmatisation on the wider culture and environment in which services are delivered.

Limitations and future work

The literature identified in the rapid review was limited in volume and often lacked the depth of description necessary to acquire new insights. All members of our Advisory Group were based in England, so this report has limited information on the NHS contexts specific to Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

A conventional systematic review of this topic would not appear to be appropriate in the immediate future, though a more interpretivist approach to exploring this literature might be feasible.

Wherever possible, future evaluations should involve service users and be clear about which outcomes, facilitators, and barriers are likely to be context-specific and which might be generalisable.

Funding details

Commissioned by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Health Service and Delivery Research (HS&DR) Programme (project no. 13/182/05)

Word count: 467

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Table of contents

Abstract	3
Alphabetical list of abbreviations	7
Scientific summary	8
Plain English summary	15
1. Introduction	16
2. Background	17
Physical health of people with severe mental illness	17
Integrated care	18
3. Methods	19
General approach	19
Research questions	20
Scope and definitions	20
Data sources	20
Inclusion and exclusion criteria	22
Study selection and data extraction	22
Quality assessment	22
Synthesis	23
4. Nature of the evidence	24
Advisory Group	24
Literature	24
5. Findings and discussion	27
5.1. Information sharing systems (13 studies)	27
5.2. Shared protocols (10 studies)	29
5.3. Joint funding and commissioning (8 studies)	31
5.4. Co-location of services (19 studies)	32
5.5. Multidisciplinary teams (19 studies)	32
5.6. Liaison services (17 studies)	34
5.7. Navigators (15 studies)	34
5.8. Research (6 studies)	36
5.9. Reduction of stigma (8 studies)	37
5.10 Other factors emerging from the evidence	38

6. Conclusions	41
7. Acknowledgements	46
8. References	47
APPENDIX 1: Field expert contact form	52
APPENDIX 2: Service User contact form	54
APPENDIX 3: Search strategies	56
APPENDIX 4: Data extraction template	68
APPENDIX 5: Data extraction	69
Listofhouse	
List of boxes Box 1: NHS policy and strategy	19
Box 2: Nine factors at the heart of good integrated care (Mental Health Foundation, 2013)	23
List of tables	
Table 1: Classification of included publications	26

List of figures

Figure 1: Flow of identified literature

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

25

Прпар	
A&E	Accident and Emergency
BMI	Body Mass Index
CCG	Clinical Commissioning Group
CCO	Coordinated Care Organisation
CENTRAL	Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials
CDSR	Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews
CLAHRC	Collaboration for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care
CMHC	Community Mental Health Centre
CMHT	Community Mental Health Team
СРА	Care Programme Approach
CPHC	Community Physical Health Co-ordinator
CPN	Community Psychiatric Nurse
CQUIN	Commissioning for Quality and Innovation
DARE	Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects
EMR	Electronic Medical Record
GMS	General Medical Services
GP	General Practitioner
HS&DR	Health Service & Delivery Research
HTA	Health Technology Assessment database
IPC	Integrated and Personalised Commissioning
MDT	Multi-Disciplinary Team
NHS	National Health Service
NICE	National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
NIHR	National Institute for Health Research
NHS	National Health Service
NHSEED	NHS Economic Evaluations Database
PBHCI	Primary and Behavioural Health Care Integration
QOF	Quality and Outcomes Framework
SAMHSA	Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration
SCR	Summary Care Record
SHAPE	Supporting Health And Promoting Exercise
SMI	Severe Mental Illness
UK	United Kingdom
US	United States
VA	Veterans Administration

Alphabetical list of abbreviations

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Scientific summary

Background

People with mental health conditions have a lower life expectancy and poorer physical health outcomes than the general population. Evidence suggests this discrepancy is driven by a combination of clinical risk factors, socioeconomic factors, and health system factors.

While physical health and mental health are closely linked, services for mental health conditions are typically separate from general healthcare for physical conditions.

Service integration (i.e. breaking down the barriers in how care is provided between family doctors and hospitals, between physical and mental health care, and between health and social care) is a key step in the proposed system change for the NHS. Service integration encompasses the concept of integrated care; a potentially complex intervention with many different components. A number of initiatives relating to the development of integrated care services are underway in England. These include Vanguard sites, Integrated Personal Commissioning and establishment of the NHS England Mental Health Taskforce.

A systematic review published in 2013 (Bradford *et* al) evaluated interventions that integrated medical and mental health care to improve general medical outcomes in individuals with SMI. The included interventions were associated with increased rates of immunization and screening, but had mixed results in terms of changes in physical functioning, and none reported clinical outcomes. In the same year, the Mental Health Foundation undertook an inquiry into integrated health care for people with mental health problems. This identified nine factors at the heart of good integrated care for people with mental health problems: (1) Information sharing systems; (2) Shared protocols; (3) Joint funding and commissioning; (4) Co-location of services; (5) Multidisciplinary teams; (6) Liaison services; (7) Navigators; (8) Research; and (9) Reduction of stigma.

Objectives

The aim of this project is to explore what current provision exists in practice, and to map the most recent evidence on models of care for addressing the physical health needs of people with mental health problems, primarily within the mental health service setting. Specifically, we sought to address the following four questions:

- 1. What type of models currently exist for the provision of integrated care specifically to address the physical health needs of people with severe mental illness (SMI) when accessing mental health care services?
- 2. What are the perceived facilitators and barriers to implementation of these models?
- 3. How do models implemented in practice compare and contrast with those described in the literature?
- 4. Can we identify high priority areas for either further primary research or a full evidence synthesis?

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Methods

We carried out a rapid review to identify, appraise and synthesise relevant evidence from 2013 to 2015, incorporating an update of Bradford *et al* (2013). Our approach was pragmatic and iterative in nature. Inevitably the process was less exhaustive and the outputs somewhat less detailed than might be expected from a full systematic review. The results should be viewed in the context of evolving NHS policy and the likelihood of ongoing change in relation to developing models of integrated care.

Data sources

We considered two main data sources: the published literature and an advisory group (comprising service users and experts in the field of mental health).

Literature

A literature search was undertaken to identify empirical and descriptive publications relating to integrated care for the physical health of people with SMI. Building on the Bradford et al review we carried out searches to find and prioritise any new evaluative studies since 2013, using an adapted version of the search strategy from the review.

Nine electronic databases were searched from 1st January 2013 to May/June 2015. .

Further searches were undertaken to identify UK and international guidelines and any relevant English-language government policy documents from the UK, Australia, New Zealand, Canada or USA.

The project team also collected relevant literature recommended by members of the Advisory Group working in the field of mental health.

Advisory group

We contacted a number of field experts with an interest in our topic. Service users were identified through local contacts. Contacts were made by telephone or face-to-face meeting, with brief notes recorded for each conversation on standard forms (see Appendix 1 and Appendix 2).

Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Study design: Empirical and descriptive publications, including evaluative studies arising from an update of Bradford et al; policy/guideline documents.

Setting: Integration of services primarily *within* the healthcare sector. Models focused on the wider integration of services spanning non-NHS settings (e.g. social care, education, employment, housing, and voluntary sector provision) were not eligible for inclusion.

Population: People diagnosed with SMI (schizophrenia, schizotypal and delusional disorders; bipolar affective disorder; severe depressive episode(s) with or without psychotic episodes).

Intervention: Any health care services that include arrangements to address the physical health needs of people with SMI. Programmes primarily concerned with organisation and delivery of services rather than the implementation of discrete health technologies.

Outcome: Any outcome relevant to the provision and implementation of integrated care. For the evaluative literature, outcomes were restricted to those related to physical health (including sexual health).

Study selection and data extraction

Study selection was carried out by three reviewers independently and data extraction was carried out by one reviewer, checked by a second reviewer. Disagreements were resolved by discussion or with the involvement of a third reviewer.

Quality assessment

We did not assess the included papers for methodological quality, given our primary aim was to describe interventions and their implementation rather than establishing the risk of bias in their evaluation.

Synthesis

We combined studies in a narrative synthesis, using the nine factors of good integrated from the Mental Health Foundation report as a guiding framework. We also incorporated into our synthesis any other relevant factors identified during data extraction and from discussions with Advisory Group field experts, particularly wider system factors that might underpin the successful implementation of integrated care interventions.

Findings and discussion

We spoke to 13 Advisory Group field experts, of whom eight provided helpful signposting information. We engaged with five people in more detailed face-to-face or teleconference conversations. We had face-to-face or teleconference conversations with two service users.

We identified 45 publications describing 36 separate approaches to integrating physical health needs into the care of people with SMI were included in this rapid review. These comprised a range of study designs including systematic and non-systematic literature reviews, primary studies, book chapters, conference abstracts, dissertations, policy and guidance documents, feasibility studies, descriptive reports and programme specifications. Twenty-seven papers reported on 25 distinct evaluations of programmes or interventions.

Most service models were multi-component programmes incorporating two or more of the factors that have previously been identified as facilitators of integrated care: information sharing systems, shared protocols, joint funding/commissioning, co-located services, multidisciplinary teams, liaison services, navigators, research, and reduction of stigma (see table below).

The majority of programmes were in community and/or secondary care mental health settings in the UK, North America, or Australia.

Classification of included publications

	Bartels ³¹	Bellamy ⁵²	Bradford ²⁶	Chawstiak ^{36, 44}	Curtis ⁴⁸	De Hert ⁵³	Department of Health ³	Department of Health ⁵	Druss ⁵¹	Greater Manchester	Happell ^{28, 54-56}	Hardy ²⁹	Jones ³⁸	Kelly ³⁰ Brekke ⁴²	Kern ⁵⁷	Kilany ⁴¹	Kilbourne ^{32, 34, 35, 58}	Lee ³⁹	Maki ⁴³	Mental Health Foundation ²⁷	NHS IQ ⁴⁹	NHS London ⁵⁹	Nover ⁶⁰	Parks ⁶¹	Pirraglia ⁴⁰	Rubin ^{so}	Shackleford ⁶²	Solomon ⁶³	Stark ⁶⁴	Tallian ⁶⁵	Ungar ⁶⁶	Vanderlip ⁶⁷	Vinas Cabrera ³³	Von Esenwein ³⁷	Welthagen ⁶⁸	Yeomans ⁴⁷
Study design E:Evaluation P:Policy D:Descriptive	E	E	E	E	E	Ρ	P E	Ρ	E	E	D D E	E	E	E	D	E	E E D	E	E	D	E	D	D	D	E	E	D	D	D	D	D	D	E	E	D	E
1. Information sharing systems			•				•			•					•	•	•		•	•				•					•				•	•		•
2. Shared protocols			٠			•				•					•	•				•		•		٠						•			•			
3. Joint funding and commissioning		•	•					•							•	•				•	•			•												
4. Co-location of services	•	•	٠	•	•		•		٠		٠				•	•		•		•			٠	•	•	•	•				•				•	
5. Multidisciplinar y teams		•	•	•	•		•	•	•	٠					•	•		•	•	•	•		•	•		•					•	•				
6. Liaison services		٠	٠	•			•		٠	•	٠				•	•	•			•				•		•	•		•		•				•	
7. Navigators	٠	•								٠	٠		٠	٠	٠	٠				•	•		٠	٠		•		٠				•				
8. Research															•	٠			٠	•				٠					•							
9. Reduction of stigma											٠			٠	٠	٠	٠			٠	•			٠												

•1-9 indicates the likely emphasis of the intervention, according to the nine factors of good integrated care

What type of models currently exist for the provision of integrated care specifically to address the physical health needs of people with severe mental illness (SMI) when accessing mental health care services?

Most programmes described the complex interaction of multiple components. However, few were described in detail and fewer still were comprehensively evaluated, raising questions about the replicability and generalisability of much of the existing evidence.

Many variants of the 'navigator' model were described, though the few available evaluations tended to be superficial, with little clarity about implementation. However, the available evidence suggests that any individual tasked with co-ordinating care needs to be empowered with the authority to influence other care professionals. Additional considerations of sustainability and ethics apply to 'peer navigator' approaches.

What are the perceived facilitators and barriers to implementation of these models?

A fundamental requirement for successful integration of physical and mental health care is having the right people with the right skills and attitudes.

Any planned structural changes should consider the likely impact on the attitudes, skills and behaviours of the people interacting within and across health organisations, be they health professionals or service users. Many factors identified as facilitators either empowered individuals and/or minimised the effort needed for individuals to provide and access integrated services.

Mental health professionals who avoid physical health actions through a lack of confidence in their own skills may be empowered through targeted training and greater clarity about their responsibilities in relation to physical health. Care co-ordinators/navigators may have an empowerment role by providing advocacy for service users in certain settings, and might themselves benefit from greater formal authority over care integration. All health professionals need time to undergo training and to collaborate on patient care, which can be difficult in clinical settings with heavy caseloads. Management commitment to protect time and resources for such activities has been raised as a potentially worthwhile investment.

Integrated information systems and individual electronic records have yet to be properly implemented due to various technical, legal, and organizational barriers. However, these remain the most promising means of simplifying communication and collaboration among professionals across multiple services. However, any arrangements that reduce the level of effort necessary to deliver integrated services on a day-to-day basis should be welcomed. The literature mentions simple measures such as informal referral procedures, high visibility, and open access as facilitators of physical health clinics for people with SMI in mental health settings.

Multidisciplinary teams form an important role in the provision of mental health services, and are likely to continue to do so in the future. However, simply having an appropriate skill mix within a team does not appear to be sufficient for providing integrated care. There is often broad agreement about what needs to be done to improve the physical health of people with SMI, but not about who should be responsible. Within multidisciplinary teams, there must be clarity about the specific aspects of care for which individuals in the team are responsible and accountable, supported by

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

effective communication between team members. We heard several instances where opportunities to intervene have been missed due to poor communication between providers.

Organisational incentives alone are likely to be inadequate unless individuals have the appropriate knowledge, skills, resources, and environment to support them. Shared protocols, joint action plans and decision support tools may assist by clarifying responsibilities and supporting record keeping and communication across boundaries.

The Advisory Group described several ways in which the existing organization of services, and often unconscious assumptions, attitudes, and behaviours of health care staff, can be stigmatizing to people with SMI. Concerns such as inattention to the sexual health of people with SMI and inpatient environments conducive to poor physical health were not mentioned in the identified literature.

Greater prioritization of physical health needs to be embedded in the culture and environment of mental health services. This will require clear strategic leadership and commitment from staff at all levels, backed by appropriate funding arrangements.

How do models implemented in practice compare and contrast with those described in the literature?

In 2013, the Mental Health Foundation concluded that good integrated care appears to be the exception rather than the norm, with isolated pockets of good practice, but overall dissatisfaction with progress being made across the UK. Our Advisory Group field experts gave the impression that this remains the state of affairs in 2015, describing a small number of high-profile programmes as well as their own local efforts. However, at the time of writing there are several high-profile initiatives either announced or ongoing.

Can we identify high priority areas for either further primary research or a full evidence synthesis?

A lack of evaluation and dissemination of local innovations makes it difficult for lessons learned locally to be shared across institutions and the wider health service.

Most published evaluations were small-scale and/or poorly described. Ideally, future evaluations should be on a larger scale and use meaningful, validated measures of success. In particular, evaluations need to be clear about which outcomes, facilitators, and barriers are likely to be context-specific and which might be generalisable.

Wherever possible, service users should be involved in the design, conduct, and evaluation of programmes. For example, service users on our advisory panel identified scope for: improved appointment booking arrangements for patients with SMI; making mental health inpatient environments more conducive to good physical health; and greater attention to the sexual health of people with SMI. These concerns have received very little attention in the recent literature.

There is scope for additional research on understanding why efforts to integrate physical health care needs for people with SMI succeed or fail, using qualitative or mixed-method techniques.

Limitations and future work

The literature identified in this rapid review was restricted in volume and often lacked the depth of description necessary to acquire useful insights. Much of the literature was descriptive or failed to

provide useful information on barriers and facilitators. The weight of attention given to specific interventions in our synthesis was partly determined by the amount of available information rather than the inherent value of the intervention.

All members of our Advisory Group were based in England, so this report has limited information on the NHS contexts specific to Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland.

While our initial focus was on people accessing care in the mental health setting, we found that the initial point of access is often not quite so clear cut, especially when patients are invariably referred back and forth between secondary and primary care.

Due to the nature of the existing published evidence and changing policy landscape, a full systematic review of this topic would not appear to be feasible or appropriate in the immediate future. However, there might be an argument for undertaking a more interpretivist approach to exploring this literature. Very few of the interventions described in the literature had any explicit theoretical basis, but it might be possible to code these studies with the specific aim of developing higher level concepts and theory. Equally, aspects of this literature could be interpreted in light of existing theories of behavior change. Such an investigation was outside the scope and resources of this rapid review.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Plain English summary

People with mental health conditions have a lower life expectancy and poorer physical health outcomes than the general population. Evidence suggests this is due to a combination of clinical risk factors, socioeconomic factors, and health system factors.

Several recent reviews have looked at ways to better integrate physical and mental health care for for people with severe mental illness (SMI). One review identified nine factors for good integrated care: Information sharing systems; Shared protocols; Joint funding and commissioning; Co-location of services; Multidisciplinary teams; Liaison services; Navigators; Research; and Reduction of stigma.

This rapid review looked for only the most recent evidence and examples of practice in this area by searching the published literature and by speaking to people involved in providing or using current services.

Few of the identified examples were described in detail and fewer still were evaluated, raising questions about the replicability and generalisability of much of the existing evidence. However, some common themes did emerge from the evidence. Efforts to improve the physical health care of people with SMI should empower people (staff and service users) and help remove everyday barriers to delivering and accessing integrated care. In particular, there is a need for improved communication between professionals and better information technology to support them, greater clarity about who is responsible and accountable for physical health care, and awareness of the effects of stigmatisation on the wider culture and environment in which services are delivered.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

1. Introduction

People with severe mental illness (schizophrenia, schizotypal and delusional disorders; bipolar affective disorder; severe depressive episode(s) with or without psychotic episodes¹) have a lower life expectancy and poorer physical health outcomes than the general population.² Evidence suggests this discrepancy is driven by a combination of clinical risk factors (e.g. comorbid diabetes, cardiovascular disease), socioeconomic factors, and health system factors.³ A wide range of solutions have been proposed to address this issue through changes and improvements to existing health service arrangements.

The aim of this project is to explore what current provision exists in practice together with mapping recent evidence on models of care for dealing with the physical health needs of people with mental health problems at point of access in the mental health service setting.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

2. Background

Physical health of people with severe mental illness

People with mental health conditions have a lower life expectancy and poorer physical health outcomes than the general population.² Physical health and mental health are closely linked, and demands have been repeatedly placed on the NHS to deliver an equal response to the treatment of each.^{4, 5} Many patients with severe mental illness (SMI) remain under-served. In 2014, the National Audit of Schizophrenia revealed that only 33% of people with schizophrenia were adequately monitored for diabetes and cardiovascular disease; just 52% had their body mass index (BMI) recorded; and 36% of service users received an intervention to address impaired control of blood glucose on an annual basis.⁶ Another review found that one third of patients with SMI are seen only in primary care.⁷ These recent reports indicate serious shortcomings in the physical health monitoring and integration of services for this population group.

Services for mental health conditions have traditionally been separate from general healthcare for physical conditions but there is increasing emphasis on developing a whole system approach to improve integration between the two, with particular focus on patient-centred development and delivery.⁴ This isn't new; a focus on patient-centred delivery of health services for people with mental illness has been advocated for many years. In 1991, the Department of Health introduced 'The Care Programme Approach', which was subsequently updated in 2013.⁸ The Care Programme Approach (CPA) is a national system setting out how secondary mental health services should help people with mental illness and related complex needs. Those eligible for CPA are entitled to a full assessment of health and social care needs, a care plan (overseen by a care co-ordinator) and regular reviews of health and progress, although Mental Health Trusts do not have to follow this guidance and may adopt their own policy. The personalisation agenda for people with serious mental illness also featured in the National Service Framework for Mental Health in 1999.⁹

In 2006, the Department of Health produced a commissioning framework entitled "Choosing Health: Supporting the physical needs of people with severe mental illness".² This described the nature of pilot health improvement programmes in which a lead mental health nurse practitioner attached to an existing team (e.g. primary care team or community mental health team (CMHT)) would be responsible for conducting physical health checks , in-depth consultations (including providing relevant information, signposting, exploring broader health-related issues such as employment or education), referral to screening and health promotion services, and establishing specific one-to-one or group health improvement interventions. The pre-requisites for this type of programme were defined² and evaluations have emerged since.^{10, 11} However, there seems little available evidence of their wider implementation.

In terms of existing guidance and incentives to address the treatment and management of people with SMI, NICE guidelines for various mental health disorders include those for psychosis and schizophrenia,¹²⁻¹⁵ and a Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) incentive is currently in place for secondary health care providers to improve the physical health care of people with SMI.¹⁶ This CQUIN helps ensure service users have their physical and mental health diagnoses recorded, and aims to promote effective communication between primary care, specialist mental health services and service users. In addition, in the latest proposal announced by NICE to improve the quality of care by family doctors consideration is given to the introduction of new quality indicators © Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton SCience Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

to identify and support people with SMI who are at risk of cardiovascular disease.¹⁷ These indicators will inform negotiations for the 2016/17 Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF).

Integrated care

Service integration (i.e. breaking down the barriers in how care is provided between family doctors and hospitals, between physical and mental health care, and between health and social care) is a key step in the proposed system change for the NHS.⁵ Service integration encompasses the concept of integrated care; a potentially complex intervention with many different components. As yet, integrated care is not well-defined and the terminology to describe the concept is diverse (e.g. collaborative care, holistic care, patient-centred care).

The present focus on improving integrated care for people with mental health needs appears to be from the perspective of access to health services for an acute or chronic physical health condition.¹⁸ Information about the converse of this (i.e. addressing the physical health care needs of patients with severe mental illness at point of access in the mental health service setting) seems lacking. The latter represents the primary focus for this rapid review.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

3. Methods

General approach

This project was resourced as a rapid review of current practice and recently published evidence. There is no generally accepted definition of the term 'rapid review' and a number of other terms have been used to describe it as one which incorporates systematic review methodology modified to various degrees. Our intention was to carry out a review using systematic and transparent methods to identify, appraise and produce a synthesis of relevant evidence from 2013 to 2015. Our approach was necessarily pragmatic and iterative in nature. Inevitably the process would be less exhaustive and the outputs somewhat less detailed than might be expected from a full systematic review.

The results of this rapid review should also be viewed in the context of evolving UK policy and the likelihood of ongoing change in relation to developing models of integrated care. Recent initiatives are summarized in Box 1.

Box 1: NHS policy and strategy

Present policy in England is aiming to develop new models of care as part of the strategic plan for wider system change in the NHS.⁵ A number of initiatives are underway, including several relating to the development of integrated care services. These include:

Vanguard sites¹⁹

In January 2015, the NHS called for expressions of interest for individual organisations and health and social care partnerships to become Vanguard Sites for the New Care Models Programme (outlined in the Five Year Forward View.⁵ Twenty-nine organisations across the UK were selected to lead in supporting improvement and integration of services across three key areas: (1) Integrated primary and acute care systems (i.e. GP, hospital, community, and mental health services); (2) Multispecialty Community Providers (transferring specialist care from the acute sector into the community); and (3) Enhanced health in care homes (joining up health, care, and rehabilitation services for older people).

Of the 29 Vanguards sites selected, nine subsequently focused on the first of these key areas, i.e. integrated primary and acute care systems. Of the nine sites, North East Hampshire and Farnham²⁰ was the only one where integration across mental and physical health care was specifically mentioned by NHS England (though similar activity may be implicit in others). North East Hampshire and Farnham Clinical Commissioning Group report that five multidisciplinary integrated care teams are now operational. These comprise community nurses, occupational therapists, physiotherapists, social workers, a psychiatric nurse, a lead psychiatrist, a pharmacist, a geriatrician, GPs, the voluntary sector, and specialists in palliative care and domiciliary care.²¹

Integrated Personal Commissioning²²

In July 2014, NHS England and Local Government bodies invited health and social care leaders to become demonstrator sites to help develop a new integrated and personalised commissioning (IPC) approach to providing care for people with complex needs. Eight sites were chosen in the first instance. IPC aims to move the balance of spending power to the individual, in terms of people being able to shape their own health and social care delivered (as appropriate) by various combinations of local authority, NHS, and voluntary sector providers. The latest update indicates that local strategies are now being developed and discussed with senior figures at NHS England.²³

NHS England Mental Health Taskforce²⁴

In March 2015, a new Taskforce was set up to develop a five year strategy for mental health across England. The Taskforce was set up to explore variation in service provision, examine outcomes for service users, and identify priorities for improvement. A particular focus of this strategy was to improve the physical health of people with mental health problems. The Mental Health Taskforce public engagement survey findings were published in September 2015.²⁵ Although very little was reported on models of care to address physical health

needs of people with SMI, findings identified priorities for mental health service users in general relating to improved access, reduction of stigma, parity of esteem, early support/prevention, the need for a more joined up system, and workforce-related issues such as attitudes and need for appropriate training. These findings will inform a new Mental Health Strategy for England with a report is due in Autumn 2015.

Research questions

We sought to address the following four questions:

- What type of models currently exist for the provision of integrated care specifically to address the physical health needs of people with severe mental illness (SMI) when accessing mental health care services?
- 2. What are the perceived facilitators and barriers to implementation of these models?
- 3. How do models implemented in practice compare and contrast with those described in the literature?
- 4. Can we identify high priority areas for either further primary research or a full evidence synthesis?

Scope and definitions

The focus of the review was NHS health care services that included steps to address the physical health needs of people diagnosed with SMI. We focused on where these services were provided in the mental health care setting. We used the NICE definition of 'Severe mental illness' to cover: schizophrenia, schizotypal and delusional disorders; bipolar affective disorder; severe depressive episode(s) with or without psychotic episodes.¹ We adopted a broad definition for physical health outcomes, including the assessment and modification of cardio-metabolic risk factors, anthropometric measures, and physical functioning.

We did not consider the various interventions or services aimed at the broader needs (i.e. beyond health) of this group of people, or the integration of services spanning non-NHS settings (e.g. social care, education, employment, housing, and voluntary sector provision).

Data sources

We considered two main data sources: conversations with our advisory group (comprising field experts and service users in the area of mental health), and the published literature.

Advisory Group

We convened an Advisory Group primarily to extend our working knowledge of the topic area and understand more clearly some of the issues arising from the published literature. We contacted a number of known field experts who had an interest in our topic. Service users were identified through local contacts. Contacts were made on the basis that their advisory input would help us to (a) develop our research and (b) ultimately think about what might be useful to those commissioning and delivering future services. Early reading of the background and policy literature helped us to

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

develop pro-forma contact forms with a list questions (Appendices 1 and 2). Contacts were made by telephone or face-to-face meeting. Brief notes were recorded.

Literature

The aim of the literature search was to identify relevant reviews, studies, guidelines and policy documents relating to integrated care for the physical health of people with SMI. Early scoping searches to inform the protocol identified the previous systematic review by Bradford et al. about the effectiveness of models of care that integrated medical and mental health care to improve medical outcomes of people with severe mental illness. This systematic review was carried out in 2011 and updated in 2013. The review included four RCTs of US-based interventions, of which three were conducted in Veterans Administration (VA) outpatient mental health clinics, and the fourth was an evaluation funded by the National Institute of Mental Health. All four interventions included some form of nurse-led care coordination, with or without components such as a specific "liaison" role, direct psychiatrist/family practitioner involvement, patient self-management support, and guideline-based decision support tools. The included interventions were associated with increased rates of immunization and screening, but had mixed results in terms of changes in physical functioning, and none reported clinical outcomes.

Building on the Bradford et al review we carried out searches to find and prioritise any new evaluative studies since the 2013 update, using an adapted version of the search strategy from the review.²⁶

The following databases were searched: Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews (CDSR), Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects (DARE), Health Technology Assessment database (HTA), NHS Economic Evaluations Database (NHSEED), MEDLINE, MEDLINE in process, Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL), EMBASE, and PsycINFO. Searches for ongoing and completed trials were carried out on Clinical Trials.gov. All searches were limited where possible to references added to the databases from 1st January 2013 onwards. As searches for the two Bradford et al reviews ran from inception to 18th January 2013, our selected start date ensured there were no gaps in the search Retrieval was limited to randomised controlled trials or evaluation studies.

Searches of the National Guideline Clearinghouse and the Trip database were undertaken to identify UK and international guidelines relating to integrated care for SMI. In addition, the following websites were searched to identify any relevant English-language government policy documents from the UK, Australia, New Zealand, Canada and USA:

- Department of Health https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-of-health
- Australian Department of Health http://www.health.gov.au/
- New Zealand Ministry of Health http://www.health.govt.nz/
- Health Canada http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/index-eng.php
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration http://www.samhsa.gov/

A further search of Google was carried out to locate UK reports relating to integrated care for SMI. Using the Google advanced search interface, the search was limited to UK pdfs published in English. The first 100 results were scanned for relevance.

Alongside the more formal searches undertaken as described above, the project team collected relevant literature from experts and contacts working in the field of mental health and followed up any documents found to obtain further relevant literature. This "snowballing" technique has been used in previous reviews.

All searches were carried out in May/June 2015. Full search strategies and results can be found in Appendix 3.

Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Study design: Empirical and descriptive study designs, including evaluative literature arising from the update of Bradford et al; policy/guideline documents.

Setting: Integration of services primarily *within* the healthcare sector i.e. NHS if UK-based. Models focused on the wider integration of services spanning non-NHS settings (e.g. social care, education, employment, housing, and voluntary sector provision) were not eligible.

Population: People diagnosed with SMI (schizophrenia, schizotypal and delusional disorders; bipolar affective disorder; severe depressive episode(s) with or without psychotic episodes).

Intervention: Any health care services that include bringing together care arrangements to address the physical health needs of people with SMI. Programmes primarily concerned with organisation and delivery of services rather than the implementation of discrete health technologies.

Outcome: Any outcome related to the provision and implementation of integrated care. For the evaluative literature, outcomes were restricted to those related to physical health (including sexual health).

Study selection and data extraction

Electronic search results were loaded into Endnote X7. At the initial screening stage, the results were divided between three reviewers to eliminate obviously irrelevant items. Decisions were recorded as "include", "reject" or "maybe". A second screen was carried out by three reviewers independently to arrive at a definitive list of "includes" and "rejects". Full text copies were ordered for the included records. Papers identified from other sources (e.g. field experts) were added to the Endnote library and assessed in the same way.

A data extraction template was developed and piloted on 12 papers by three reviewers (see Appendix 4). Details included population and setting; approach to Integrated Care; Mental Health Foundation factors covered (1-9); barriers and facilitators to implementation; details of evaluations. Revisions to the template were made where necessary. Subsequent data extraction was carried out by one reviewer and checked by a second reviewer. Disagreements were resolved by discussion or with the involvement of a third reviewer.

Quality assessment

Given the lack of detail reported in the studies and the lack of comprehensive evaluations, we did not assess the included papers for methodological quality; our aim was to describe interventions and their implementation rather than establishing risk of bias in their evaluation.

Synthesis

We carried out a narrative synthesis, building on the 2013 Mental Health Foundation inquiry.²⁷ This was a substantial piece of work based on a literature review on integrated health care and mental health care, three expert seminars attended by 31 people and a call for evidence on the best ways to integrate care which led to over 1200 responses. The scope of the enquiry incorporated both health and social care, and identified nine structural and organizational arrangements at the heart of good integrated care for people with mental health problems (Box 2).

Box 2: Nine factors at the heart of good integrated care (Mental Health Foundation, 2013)

- 1. Information sharing systems
- 2. Shared protocols
- 3. Joint funding and commissioning
- 4. Co-location of services (e.g., services brought together for physical and practical ease of access)
- 5. Multidisciplinary teams
- 6. Liaison services (e.g., provision of shared expertise across service settings)
- 7. Navigators (e.g., named care co-ordinators)
- 8. Research (e.g., to ascertain the best way of delivering and evaluating integrated care)
- 9. Reduction of stigma

The majority of the recent evidence identified in this rapid review relates to complex and/or multicomponent programmes that incorporated several of the nine factors key to good integrated care (see Box 2).²⁷ We used use these nine factors as a guiding framework to help answer our four research questions, and to explore the elements of interventions or care models. We also discuss further issues to emerge from the evidence; for example, we incorporated in our synthesis any other relevant factors identified during data extraction and from discussions with Advisory Group field experts and service users, particularly wider system factors that might underpin the successful implementation of integrated care interventions.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

4. Nature of the evidence

Advisory Group

We spoke to 13 field experts (five provided detailed information) and two service users involved in the area of mental health services. We used their insights primarily to extend our working knowledge of the topic area and understand more clearly some of the issues arising from the published literature.

Literature

The search strategy retrieved 2,742 records. 70 records were included on the basis of screening titles and abstracts. 38 were retained and data extracted after reading the full paper; 32 were rejected. A further 10 papers were identified, four following discussions with field experts and six from the retrieval of relevant primary studies from rejected reviews. Seven of these 10 papers met our inclusion criteria and were included and data extracted; three were rejected. In total, 45 papers describing 36 approaches to integrating physical health needs into the care of people with SMI were included in this rapid review.

Some papers were retrieved outside the database search strategy (i.e. from website searching and via field experts) and had publication dates prior to 2013 (i.e. prior to our electronic search start date). Brief data extraction tables for all included studies are available in Appendix 5. For detailed information, readers are advised to consult the full reports.

The included papers comprised a range of study designs including systematic reviews and other literature reviews, various primary studies, book chapters, conference abstracts and dissertations, policy and guidance documents, feasibility studies, descriptive reports and programme specifications. We identified 27 papers reporting on 25 distinct evaluations of programmes or interventions;^{2, 26, 28-52} few were described in detail and fewer still were comprehensively evaluated. Details of study characteristics are presented in Appendix5.

Table 1 presents a classification of the included publications showing our interpretation of how the programmes or interventions correspond with the nine factors of good integrated care.²⁷

Figure 1: Flow of identified literature



[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Table 1: Classification of included publications

	Bartels ³¹	Bellamy ⁵²	Bradford ²⁶	Chawstiak ^{36, 44}	Curtis ⁴⁸	De Hert ⁵³	Department of Health ²	Department of Health ⁴	Druss ⁵¹	Greater Manchester	Happell ^{28, 54-56}	Hardv ²⁹	Jones ³⁸	Kelly ³⁰ Brekke ⁴²	Kern ⁵⁷	Kilany ⁴¹	Kilbourne ^{32, 34, 35, 58}	Lee ³⁹	Maki ⁴³	Mental Health Foundation ²⁷	NHS IQ ⁴⁹	NHS London ⁵⁹	Nover ⁶⁰	Parks ⁶¹	Pirraglia ⁴⁰	Rubin ⁵⁰	Shackleford ⁶²	Solomon ⁶³	Stark ⁶⁴	Tallian ⁶⁵	Ungar ⁶⁶	Vanderlip ⁶⁷	Vinas Cabrera ³³	Von Esenwein ³⁷	Welthagen ⁶⁸	Yeomans ⁴⁷
Study design E:Evaluation P:Policy D:Descriptive	E	E	E	E	E	Р	P E	Р	E	E	DDE	E	E	E	D	E	E E D	E	E	D	E	D	D	D	E	E	D	D	D	D	D	D	E	E	D	E
1. Information sharing systems			•				•			•					•	•	•		•	•				•					•				•	•		•
2. Shared protocols			•			•				•					•	•				•		•		•						•			•			
3. Joint funding and commissioning		•	•					•							•	•				•	•			•												
4. Co-location of services	٠	٠	•	•	٠		•		•		•				•	•		•		•			٠	•	•	٠	•				•				•	
5. Multidisciplinar y teams		•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•					•	•		•	•	•	•		•	•		•					•	•				
6. Liaison services		٠	٠	•			•		•	٠	•				•	•	٠			•				•		٠	٠		•		•				•	
7. Navigators	٠	٠								٠	٠		٠	٠	•	٠				٠	•		٠	•		٠		٠				٠				
8. Research															•	•			•	•				٠					•							
9. Reduction of stigma											•			•	•	•	٠			•	•			٠												

•1-9 indicates the likely emphasis of the intervention, according to the nine factors of good integrated care ²⁷

5. Findings and discussion

5.1. Information sharing systems (13 studies)

To properly integrate care, the Mental Health Foundation inquiry identified the need for a compatible information system within and across different care organisations that could establish individual electronic records of service users' integrated health and social care needs and interventions. The proposed system would also have the ability to anonymize and aggregate health and social care records to inform a needs assessment of the local population.²⁷

One of the quality indicators in the general medical services (GMS) contract is the establishment and maintenance of a register of people with SMI. It also requires the establishment of a comprehensive care plan and recording of physical health-related measures (blood pressure, alcohol consumption, cervical screening, lithium monitoring) for a defined proportion of SMI service users.⁶⁹ The collection and maintenance of such information necessarily requires an adequate IT infrastructure.

Like the GMS contract, the US Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration's (SAMHSA) Primary and Behavioural Health Care Integration (PBHCI) funding programme recommends a "registry/tracking system for all primary care needs of, and outcomes for, clients with serious mental illness".^{57, 70} However, PBHCI grantees have noted both technical and legal barriers to implementing the required shared information systems. For example, Web-based registry software has thus far proved to be inadequate, resulting in organisations relying on less useful paper or Excelbased versions.⁵⁷

Regulatory and medico-legal issues

Being able to access information from single or multiple electronic medical records (EMRs) is an important facilitator, as it allows providers to identify and track SMI populations and individuals needing physical health services.⁶¹ However, behavioural health care providers in some US States have been prevented from being able to share EMRs as a consequence of federal privacy laws regarding drug and alcohol information. Regulatory barriers that limit information exchange between primary and mental health care have been identified as particularly problematic.³⁶ It is not clear from the published evidence to what extent such barriers have been overcome by self-contained US funding systems, such as the Veterans' Health Administration (VA), where integrated registry and EMR data have been used to target the physical health care needs of people with SMI.^{26, 32, 34, 35, 51, 58} However, a recent plan to merge VA EMRs with US Department of Defense records proved costly and was abandoned in favour of an 'interoperable system'.³⁷

Some authors have proposed allowing service users to opt-in to release health information into the shared system to overcome medico-legal barriers,³⁷ though this may raise questions about informed consent, particularly among SMI populations.

In the UK, the Data Protection Act (1998) and the Human Rights Act (1998) govern the sharing and confidentiality of health records and the Health and Social Care Information Centre (2013) has produced guidance on handling confidential information.⁷¹

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Data collection

Some of the published evidence discussed facilitators and barriers to the initial identification and collection of service user data. For example, in the absence of a central register, a Californian programme that aimed to integrate primary care and mental health services for people with SMI reported spending several months of the 16-month project trying to identify eligible service users through chart review.⁶⁰

Much of the literature is concerned with conducting physical health checks in people with SMI, but even where such checks have been undertaken, there is evidence that the subsequent results are either incompletely recorded or inaccessible to other care professionals. The problem of missing lab data (such as glucose and lipids) has been noted in the literature^{34, 43, 60} and was raised as an issue by several of our field contacts. However, recent evidence from the Bradford and Airedale region suggests that incorporating a computerized template into the primary care information system improved the rates of both adherence to NICE standards for annual physical health checks and detection of significant cardiovascular risk.⁴⁷ While a number of physical screening templates have been proposed and implemented, some form of computer-assistance may be necessary to ensure sufficiently high quality data collection.

One of our field experts described attempts to implement such a screening template for collecting more comprehensive physical health data than the existing admission checklist used in his local psychiatric hospital. However, he noted a number or barriers to implementation, most significant being the technical and bureaucratic difficulty of being able to introduce any new template into the existing IT system.

Elsewhere, programmes have reported attempts to streamline the process of electronic data gathering by providing handheld units or desktop computer kiosks to allow service user self-entry of data such as depression rating scales,⁵⁷ though such technologies may not be accessible for people with low digital literacy and their overall impact is not clear.³⁷

Data sharing

The most commonly reported technological barrier to the integration of physical and mental health care is the failure to accurately and effectively share service user data between providers.

One NHS field expert noted that access to and sharing of information with primary care is very difficult for physical health clinics provided in secondary care, as secondary and primary care use different electronic systems (PARIS and SystmOne respectively). This impedes efforts to intervene on the basis of results of screening or monitoring. Another field expert noted that the difficulties with the coordination of information systems extended beyond primary and secondary care to community mental health and social care settings.

The absence of 'joined-up' information systems is also apparent to service users. One respondent mentioned routinely being asked to physically hand over printouts of clinical information from one service provider to another, and gave an example where this resulted in a psychiatrist fortuitously identifying an otherwise unidentified risk of an adverse drug interaction. Such *ad hoc* approaches to data sharing are clearly inadequate for properly integrated care.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Various forms of shared electronic record have been proposed and implemented, including electronic personal health records that shift the locus and ownership of records to the service user,³⁷ and records that attempt to fully integrate health and social care data. However, these also raise questions about how to negotiate issues of permissions and privacy.

Currently, NHS service users are automatically opted into having a Summary Care Record (SCR) containing limited information primarily related to medications and allergies that can be shared between providers. Service users can request further information be included in the SCR, though it is not clear to what extent most service users are aware of this option. Some Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) have started to integrate service users' health and social care records more broadly, with Camden CCG being one of the local commissioners to pioneer this 'Integrated Digital Record' approach.⁷¹ This allows authorised health and social care workers to access information relevant to their role.

Shared resources

Beyond individual service user data, some respondents mentioned shared resources such as Directory of Healthy Living Services being made available and distributed to all staff in a CMHT.^{45, 46} However, this required continual monitoring and updating by dedicated person, so while initially successful it was not considered sustainable.

5.2. Shared protocols (10 studies)

Despite noting difficulties around dissemination, communication, and 'territorialism' relating to the use of shared protocols, the Mental Health Foundation inquiry was broadly supportive of such protocols within and between the organisations that support people with mental health problems.²⁷

Responsibility and accountability

Prior to February 2014 QOF payments were used to incentivize primary care providers to undertake annual health checks in people with SMI. However, since then a new CQUIN incentive has placed greater emphasis on mental health trusts to monitor and improve the physical health of SMI service users while supporting and facilitating closer working relationships between specialist mental health providers and primary care.¹⁶ The first indicator of the CQUIN requires cardiometabolic parameters (such as smoking status, lifestyle, body mass index, blood pressure, glucose regulation, and blood lipids) be collected, reported, and treated according to NICE guidelines through appropriate referral where necessary. The second indicator requires that an up-to-date care plan (incorporating diagnoses, medications, physical health conditions, and recovery interventions) be shared with the service user's GP.

A major theme to emerge from the literature and advisory group was the importance of responsibility and accountability. Two field experts felt that there is currently insufficient clarity about who is responsible for the physical health needs of people with SMI. Both mentioned the physical health care of SMI service users falling to secondary care for the first 12 months post-diagnosis, followed by (where clinically appropriate) transfer of responsibility to primary care, in line with the shared care arrangements outlined in NICE quality standard QS80.⁷² However, several respondents also mentioned an ongoing lack of clarity and/or disagreement about roles and responsibilities ("Everyone thinks it is someone else's business"). While some of this confusion may © Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

be attributable to changes in the incentive structures, the wider literature suggests that maintaining absolute clarity about who is responsible for each aspect of physical health care is difficult but crucial to the success of integrating physical and mental health care.

Existing protocols

The CQUIN for physical health in mental health mentions the 'Lester' resource for physical health assessment in secondary care.⁷³ This tool provides a framework for the assessment and management of the cardiometabolic health in people experiencing psychosis and schizophrenia. It provides clear guidance on necessary measures and their timing, thresholds indicating the need for intervention, specific interventions or guidance to be implemented, and target outcomes. However, it is not prescriptive about who is responsible for monitoring service user health and effects of antipsychotic medication beyond the requirements of the NICE quality standard (i.e. psychiatrist for 12 months or until condition has stabilized, primary care thereafter under shared care arrangements). The European Psychiatric Association, European Association for the Study of Diabetes, and European Society of Cardiology have previously published a joint position statement outlining a similar cardiovascular risk management protocol, though with greater emphasis on psychiatric coordination of care.⁵³

NHS Improving Quality is currently piloting a national roll-out of an updated 'Lester 2014' resource. The pilot evaluation sites intend to use the Lester tool as the basis for integrating care through improved record keeping, data quality and communication both within Trusts and with primary care and the community.⁶⁴ A final report of the results of this pilot is due in December 2015.

The charity Rethink Mental Illness in collaboration with the Royal Colleges of GPs, Nurses, and Psychiatrists has responded to the CQUIN with an Integrated Physical Health Pathway, which broadly outlines the responsibilities of primary and secondary care in relation to initiation of treatment or admission to inpatient setting, CPA review, and annual health checks.⁷⁴

A number of initiatives have aimed to set out the responsibility of each organization (or part of organization) in meeting the physical health needs of people with SMI. For example, Manchester Mental Health and Social Care Trust has piloted a multi-component intervention that included joint action plans for the physical health management of service users.^{45, 46} The main components of the programme included: (1). A time-protected Community Physical Health Co-ordinator (CPHC) role; (2) Regular multi-disciplinary team meetings between the CPHC and GP practices to establish shared care with the local CMHT; (3) Identification of training needs amongst the CMHT staff and delivery of appropriate training to improve capacity to address physical health needs and support lifestyle changes; (4) Regular physical health assessments delivered in a community setting by CMHT; (5) Increased utilisation of existing physical health resources though a collaborative training day for CMHT and community lifestyle service staff. One of the key enablers for change identified by the authors was standardisation, which included implementation 'ingredients' such as a clearly defined CPHC job description and a flowchart of responsibilities; a defined process for identifying service users to raise for discussion at the multidisciplinary meetings; joint action plans documenting who is responsible for each action agreed at multidisciplinary team meetings; a clinical guidance document to assist Care Co-ordinators carrying out physical health assessments; and the previously mentioned lifestyle services directory being made available and distributed to all CMHT staff via the intranet.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

A recently published survey of Australian mental health nurses attitudes toward the introduction of a specialist 'Cardiometabolic Health Nurse' role identified concerns about "muddying the waters" around roles and responsibilities, possibly increasing the risk of mental health nurses believing that physical health must be "someone else's business".⁵⁵ This suggests that structured supportive measures such as those employed in the Manchester CPHC pilot should be considered by any model seeking to reorganise the integration of physical and mental health services.

5.3. Joint funding and commissioning (8 studies)

The Mental Health Foundation report concluded that separate funding streams hinder integrated care, while pooled funding and services commissioned across boundaries increase the likelihood of service users receiving better care.²⁷ A recent review of 38 schemes that integrated health and social care funds challenged the assumption that integrated funding leads to better health outcomes and lower costs. Rather improved integrated care tends to uncover unmet needs, with total care costs likely to rise. Nevertheless, better integration may still offer value for money if additional costs are offset by improvements in quality of life.⁷⁵

Much of the US literature has focused on overcoming funding barriers in the provision of collaborative stepped care. This has recently included the provision of integrated primary care services for people with SMI within Community Mental Health Centre (CMHC) settings, funded through the SAMHSA PBHCI programme. However, alternative administrative arrangements can include global payment systems for physical, mental, and dental care for Medicaid beneficiaries (via coordinated care organisations (CCOs)) and self-contained systems (Veterans Health Administration, Department of Defense, private insurers).^{26, 51, 57} While the organization of services may vary across PBHCI grantees, receipt of funding is contingent on CMHCs establishing a formal link with a primary care partner.

Some of the problems noted in the US literature – such as insurance companies refusing to pay for lipid panel orders for service users not taking second-generation anti-psychotics⁴³ – may not be directly relevant to UK, but such observations highlight how fragmented funding can undermine the implementation of integrated care programmes.

Several advisory group field experts discussed funding issues related to the integration of Healthy Living Services for people with SMI. One such existing service comprises dietitians, physiotherapists, and healthy living advisors who provide advice and support (on healthy eating, physical activity, smoking cessation, sensible alcohol use) for service users in inpatient units. In addition, a Health Improvement Specialist oversees public health work within the trust and supervises the healthy living advisors. The latter role is partly supported by local authority Public Health funds. The field expert considered commitment from both health and Public Health arms necessary to support and fund such a model, given the health inequalities in this population and the need for prevention as well as intervention. This was echoed by another respondent who noted that Public Health England might also have a significant role to play in terms of health needs assessment for this population. In the current NHS commissioning structure, local secondary care, community, and mental health services are typically funded through local CCGs, whereas local public health services are supported

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

by Local Authority funding. Close cooperation of local (and possibly national) commissioners will be necessary to facilitate the kind of Healthy Living Services described here.

In July 2014, NHS England announced a new integrated and personal commissioning (IPC) approach to providing care for people with complex needs, including those with significant mental health needs. IPC aims to move the balance of spending power to the individual, in terms of people being able to shape their own health and social care delivered (as appropriate) by various combinations of local authority, NHS, and voluntary sector providers. The success of this approach will depend to some extent on the ability of individuals with SMI to negotiate their own integrated care. As noted by the Mental Health Foundation, arrangements will be needed to ensure that disadvantaged individuals are able to benefit from IPC, to avoid the risk of further exacerbating their experience of inequality.

5.4. Co-location of services (19 studies)

The Mental Health Foundation inquiry looked at evidence on community-located psychiatric services, mental health professionals in primary care, and merging of entire Trusts or funding bodies. It concluded that the co-location of primary care and specialist mental health staff could provide significantly improved integration of care for people with mental health problems, but only if the staff understand their roles and responsibilities and work willingly and collaboratively together,²⁷ emphasising that people rather than organisational systems or structures are primarily responsible for the successful integration of care.

Much of the published evidence on co-located care identified through this rapid review was concerned with the primary care professionals providing clinics in community or inpatient mental health settings.^{31, 36, 40, 51, 57, 62, 66, 68} However, these might also be considered 'liaison' services that happen to be co-located; other publications have described similar clinics within virtual "Health Home" organisations where co-location is not strictly necessary.⁶¹ Therefore issues relating primarily to liaison are discussed later in this section.

Where factors relating to co-location were discussed, these broadly supported the Mental Health Foundation conclusions around staffing, highlighting the need for willing, interested, committed and passionate staff⁶⁶ plus commitment from leaders and administrators.³⁶ These themes recurred repeatedly in both the literature and our discussions with field contacts and are further discussed later in this report.

In addition, some studies highlighted the need to plan for and provide sufficient physical space for any primary care services to be located in a mental health clinic.^{57, 60} Others highlighted the need for co-located care sites to be both highly visible and easily accessible, including open access arrangements that allow walk-in care for people with SMI.^{40, 57}

5.5. Multidisciplinary teams (19 studies)

As acknowledged by the Mental Health Foundation inquiry report, the principles of multidisciplinary care are already well established in mental health services through the use of CMHTs and the CPA.

CMHTs can include professionals such as psychiatrists, psychologists, community psychiatric nurses (CPNs), social workers, and occupational therapists. Assertive Outreach and Crisis Teams also typically involve multidisciplinary team work. In addition, healthy lifestyle services may include healthy living advisors, dietitians, physiotherapists and health improvement specialists, whose work may be further supported by pharmacists (for example, through prescribing of nicotine replacement therapies).

Communication and relationships

Though effective communication between multi-agency health professionals has long been acknowledged as necessary to improve the physical health of people with SMI,² both field experts and service users told us that communication often remains poor, particularly between primary and secondary care. Similarly a survey of Australian nurses taking part in boundary-crossing roles emphasized the importance of a strong relationship between the coordinating mental health nurse and GPs.⁵⁴

One service user described regular physical health checks at a Clozapine Clinic, which she felt could be used to provide relevant advice on smoking cessation and/or weight loss, either on site or through referral to relevant Healthy Lifestyle Services. However these regular physical checks were solely focused on drug monitoring and such opportunities were missed. She also noted an apparent absence of information sharing between psychiatrist, CPN and GP.

The previously mentioned Manchester Mental Health and Social Care Trust has pilot programme noted how the role of an overall CPHC could be used to facilitate effective communication and collaboration between services. The CPHC would hold regular multi-disciplinary team (MDT) meetings with GP practices (involving at least a GP, Practice Manager /Administrator, Practice Nurse/ Health Care Assistant) to establish shared care with the local CMHT. The CPHC would co-ordinate each meeting with the lead GP, obtaining relevant client info from care co-ordinators in the CMHT, capturing actions, and then feeding back to the care co-ordinators and consultants. In addition, the CPHC would hold a definitive list of lifestyle services and liaise with Practice Managers and GPs in between MDT meetings. Among the various training needs identified for CPHCs, the authors suggested training in conflict management, facilitation, negotiation, and physical health management would enable MDT meeting success.^{45, 46}

Resources

A multidisciplinary 'lifestyle medicine programme' designed for young people with psychosis and bipolar disorder under the care of Worcestershire Early Intervention Service and South Worcestershire Recovery Service is currently being evaluated as part of the NHS Improving Quality 'Living Longer Lives' programme.⁴⁹ This was based on an existing Australian model identified in through our searches.⁴⁸ The 12-week 'Supporting Health And Promoting Exercise' (SHAPE) education and exercise programme includes a baseline physical health assessment, followed by group health education sessions on healthy eating, smoking cessation, substance abuse, dental care, sexual health and stress management.⁴⁹ Participants also receive weekly individual sessions with a dietician and an exercise physiologist plus group cardiovascular exercise sessions and advice on how to access these locally. 12-month gym membership to a local university gym is provided, along with access to peer support to help with goal setting, one-to-one encouragement and fitness training or taking part in team sports. Unlike other interventions aimed at improving the physical health of people with SMI

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

identified by this rapid review, this programme involves the Early Intervention service working in partnership with organizations outside the health and social care services (principally with a local University gym and wellbeing centre). Should the pilot model prove effective, its wider implementation is likely to rely on the availability of local health and fitness organizations and their willingness to engage in partnership with mental health service providers.

A randomized trial of an integrated care clinic staffed by a nurse practitioner, part-time family practitioner, and nurse case manager within a VA mental health clinic in the United States considered the provision of additional staff resources to improve access and adherence to care (case manager outreach, extra appointment time, scheduling flexibility) to be key to improved outcomes.⁵¹

5.6. Liaison services (17 studies)

The Mental Health Foundation inquiry was strongly supportive of the concept of liaison services – both psychiatric liaison services in physical health care settings and physical health care in mental health settings.²⁷ Also, advisory group service users told us that they would like to know there is someone with responsibility for the physical health needs of SMI service users, particularly in the inpatient setting.

One advisory group field expert described the emergence of physical health clinics in the NHS intended to meet NICE recommendations on physical health monitoring and screening for SMI users in secondary care. We also found several published descriptions of primary care clinics or placement of physical health practitioners in inpatient^{50, 68} and outpatient^{28, 51, 55-57, 62, 66} mental health settings. While the US PBHCI model typically involves the placement of primary care specialists in behavioural health facilities, this can also take the more indirect form of consulting primary care practitioners supporting psychiatrists who provide medical care for common conditions (hypertension, diabetes, dyslipidemias).⁵⁷ Field experts also described existing services such as dedicated GP sessions on forensic wards and in-reach specialist diabetes nurses.

One feasibility study noted that service user anxiety about seeing someone other than a psychiatrist could be a barrier to the implementation of a weekly primary care service on acute psychiatry wards and highlighted the importance of the primary care doctor being perceived as professional, kind, and understanding.⁶⁸

One US study described a half-time primary care clinic within a community mental health clinic, staffed by two nurse practitioners and one family physician. Referral was informal, with a mental health provider directly placing their service user on the clinic schedule or discusses the referral with the primary care nurse liaison. Though referral criteria were not formalised, the aim was to capture people with a chronic medical illness who are unable to navigate a traditional primary care setting.⁶²

5.7. Navigators (15 studies)

One of our advisory group field experts noted that continuity of care is particularly important for the SMI population, but noted that such continuity is becoming increasingly rare within primary care. In

response to observations of this nature, several models have proposed the role of a single named individual who can help people navigate their way through complex systems.

Among these is the existing CPA model, which aims to ensure people with mental illness receive a care-coordinator who can arrange a full assessment of both their health and social care needs and then help develop a plan to address those needs. Care coordinators may be a CPN, social worker, or occupational therapist.

While navigators or care coordinators are generally thought to negotiate the boundaries between health, social care, education, and housing sectors, this role can be just as important for helping people with SMI negotiate boundaries *within* heath care, between physical and mental health services, or between primary and secondary care. At the core of the Manchester Mental Health and Social Care Trust pilot was the CPHC role. In the pilot, this CPHC role was undertaken part-time (0.4 WTE) by Care Coordinators already working within the CMHT. The authors stated that it was essential for the CPHCs to also continue in their Care Coordinator role in order to retain their skills, continue to have contact with service users and colleagues, and to allow access to relevant meetings and discussions with other CMHT staff. CPHCs also felt that respect was a key facilitator for gaining the trust and support of other Care Coordinators.^{45, 46}

The Manchester model differs from some other 'navigator' programmes in the literature in that the CPHC role was deliberately focused on facilitating communication between services without the additional responsibility of undertaking physical health checks or other clinical tasks. By contrast, a US evaluation of a transitional care ("TCare") model for people with SMI being discharged from hospital to community care employed a psychiatric nurse practitioner (trained in medical and psychiatric assessment/treatment/prescribing) as the navigator.⁶³ The intervention consisted of ten components: (1) coordination of care by a psychiatric nurse; (2) a plan developed prior to hospital discharge; (3) home visits from the nurse for approximately 90 days post-hospital discharge and available 7 days a week; (4) coordination with physicians in the community, including accompanying service user on visits; (5) inclusive focus on health needs of the service user; (6) involvement of both service user and family in care through education and support; (7) early detection and quick response to health care risks and symptoms; (8) service user, family caregiver, and providers functioning as a team; (9) collaboration of nurse and physician; and (10) information sharing among all team members. Interestingly, this evaluation noted difficulties in engaging mental health case managers with the TCare programme. The authors attributed this to case managers' heavy caseloads forcing them to focus on dealing with crises at the expense of clients who are seen to be already receiving some form of service. This observation would appear to support the idea that physical health navigators should have a role that can be influential in the wider coordination of services for people with SMI.

A US pilot programme, "The Bridge" aimed to use a time-limited peer health navigator intervention to give clients the skills and experience to self-manage their health care activities to the greatest degree possible.^{30, 42} The intervention comprised four components: (1) service user health assessment and health navigation planning; (2) co-ordinated linkages/activities to help service users navigate the health care system and follow-up/adherence to treatment plans; (3) consumer education, including: partnering with medical care providers; treatment compliance; self-advocacy and interaction skills; health and wellness; benefits and entitlements (4) cognitive-behavioural

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

strategies to support health care use behaviour change and behaviour maintenance. The six-month intervention included a four-month phase of intense contact between service user and navigator, followed by a less intensive 'monitoring' period. Though the intervention appeared to improve some aspects of physical health and healthcare utilization, the pilot included only a single peer navigator, who had been involved in the intervention development, and received both extensive training and close supervision. There are a number of questions about whether such a model could be generalisable or sustainable in addition to ethical concerns around duty of care and accountability. However, particularly in the US, 'peer navigation' remains an area of interest.⁵²

An advisory group service user contributing to this rapid review described her CPN providing the coordinating role between mental and physical health care, particularly in terms of support and signposting to mainstream services. However, she also described being dropped from her dental practice because of missed appointments due to mental illness episodes. She had to be forceful in explaining the difficulties, but remains without dental care for the time being. While she feels confident at speaking out when things are not right, not everyone is able to do this. This raises questions about the extent that navigators such as Care Coordinators in the CPA model should engage in advocacy for service users, particularly when dealing with services less accustomed to SMI. One study of the CPA found that failings were often due to the Care Coordinator having insufficient authority to exert control over other care professionals to ensure care is properly integrated.⁷⁶

5.8. Research (6 studies)

A review of factors that influence integrated health and social care published by the Social Care Institute for Excellence⁷⁷ concluded:

"The evidence base underpinning joint and integrated working remains less than compelling. It largely consists of small-scale evaluations of local initiatives which are often of poor quality and poorly reported. No evaluation studied for the purpose of this briefing included an analysis of cost-effectiveness. There is an urgent need to develop high-quality, large-scale research studies that can test the underpinning assumptions of joint and integrated working in a more robust manner and assess the process from the perspective of service users and carers as well as from an economic perspective."

The Mental Health Foundation inquiry echoed these conclusions, recommending that more research into how best to support people with complex, co-morbid needs is required that addresses both effectiveness and economic assessment of integrated care models.²⁷

Similarly, most of the programmes identified through our update searches and contact with field experts have either not been evaluated, or only evaluated on a small-scale within a local context.

Future evaluations of programmes to improve the physical health of people with SMI will need to have sufficiently long follow-up to collect meaningful physical outcomes, and/or collect appropriate process and surrogate outcomes. One advisory group field expert described developing a bespoke outcome measure based on the Theory of Planned Behaviour to allow Healthy Living Advisors to measure impact upon service-users' attitudes towards healthy living, perceptions of social pressure/support and perceived barriers to healthy living.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.
5.9. Reduction of stigma (8 studies)

Attitudes and beliefs of staff

Both service users and field experts from our advisory group reported that GPs and non-mental health specialists can appear reluctant to tackle mental illness. Some attributed this to the perception that the SMI population can be "troublesome" or excessively difficult to deal with, generally because of non-attendance of appointments and non-compliance with treatment advice. The published literature has noted that primary care practitioners may be uncomfortable and find it difficult to deal with the complexity and/or the slow pace of working with people SMI relative to the wider primary care population.⁵⁷

Concerns about stigmatizing attitudes and behaviours were also raised in relation to administrative staff and processes. A service user suggested that receptionists and booking systems in mainstream services need to be more sensitive to the needs of SMI service users when arranging appointments. Examples included difficulties with feeling tired due to medication yet having to phone first thing in the morning to get an appointment at the GP, and having to complete forms to declare a diagnosis of SMI and/or antipsychotic medication use. A clinical expert described instances where physical health services for people with SMI were not regarded as "core business" by practice management.

Consequences of stigma

An issue of major concern raised both in the literature and among respondents is 'diagnostic overshadowing', whereby signs and symptoms of physical illness can be misattributed to mental illness, leading to underdiagnosis and mistreatment of the physical condition.²⁷

Even within mental health services, an over-emphasis on managing psychosis may mean also that physical health concerns are addressed too late. An advisory group field expert noted that around half of service users have an increase in body weight of more than 7% in first year of treatment, with other adverse changes being possible within days of antipsychotic initiation. He suggested that a preventative approach should be taken to physical health in SMI, similar to the way in which early intervention is used to avoid crisis and hospitalisation.

When discussing the possible adverse effects of antipsychotic medication with service users, both service users and field experts commented on the need for prescribers to balance their concerns about the risk of non-compliance with the longer-term consequences of not discussing adverse events.

One area of physical health that a service user considered to be seriously neglected in people with SMI is sexual health. Here, she noted that the focus is on risk and safeguarding rather than tackling positively the effects of SMI and medications on relationships and sexual activity, starting a family or bringing up children. CPNs and other health professionals can feel uncomfortable in addressing sexual health issues (and some may even be resistant to the idea that this is important to people with SMI).

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Reducing stigma

The Mental Health Foundation report recommends staff training and education to counter the potentially dangerous discrimination that can arise from diagnostic overshadowing, and calls for more research on the potential benefits of interpersonal contact with people with SMI as a way of reducing stigmatising attitudes and behaviour among non-mental health care providers.²⁷

Of the recently published literature, only the 'SHAPE' programme described its intervention in terms of stigma overtly, where access to a university gym was partly intended to allow young people with SMI to interact with other young people in a safe environment without feeling stigmatised.⁴⁹

5.10 Other factors emerging from the evidence

Staff, skills and training

The Mental Health Foundation report identified cross-boundary inter-professional training and education as essential for the better integration of physical and mental health care.²⁷

The need for training and education to foster appropriate skills and attitudes among health care staff was a major theme to emerge from both the recent literature and our discussions with field experts and service users. A review by Health Education England sets out a number of recommendations relevant to this area of our review in relation to the future education and training of nurses and care assistants in healthcare services.⁷⁸

Basic clinical training

Several respondents mentioned the need for improved general knowledge of mental health issues in general practice and nursing professions, with one service user emphasising the importance of including mental health in undergraduate nursing degrees, dental training and other clinical professions. This echoed the Mental Health Foundation's recommendation for basic education on the indivisibility of mental and physical health.²⁷ Authors have noted the need for ongoing reinforcement of the need for integration with staff alongside continuing professional development.^{27, 57}

Training and education for primary care practitioners

As mentioned previously, advisory group service users reported that not all GPs and nurses appear equipped to deal with the needs of SMI, with the impression that the system becomes less coordinated/integrated at the point of discharge from their CPN to GP care. A publication by the now defunct NHS London Health Programmes suggested that competence and capacity in could be improved both through the commissioning of formal training and ongoing supervision and coaching of primary care staff by mental health specialists. This proposed that frontline staff in access points such as A&E departments and GP surgeries should undertake training so that they have a basic awareness of mental health problems and communication skills that avoid exacerbation of mental health crises.⁵⁹

A primary care field expert also noted that GPs and practice nurses in primary care training needed to deal with basics and sensitivities in SMI. One proposed example of a relevant training package was the "Practice Nurse Masterclass" programme for north east and central London that is designed

to: improve case identification and signposting in primary care to support earlier intervention; enable safe discharge from secondary to primary care; improve communication between primary and secondary care; and decrease the stigma of mental illness.⁷⁹

Training and education for mental health practitioners

Insufficient training has also been identified as a barrier to mental health service providers being able to take on more responsibility for medical care.⁶⁷

One advisory group field expert described research undertaken within their Trust that identified a number of staff-related barriers to improving physical health for people with SMI, including: Knowledge (e.g. a lack of knowledge of recommendations); skills (e.g. a lack of physical health care skills; difficulty raising topics with service-users); and beliefs about capabilities (e.g. a lack of confidence in providing physical health care). In particular, the absence of confidence among many mental health practitioners about their own physical health care skills – and the need for training to address this – was raised by several respondents. One field expert mentioned mental health staff feeling uncomfortable and worried about accountability, attributing this to the absence of relevant physical health education as part of specialist mental health nursing training.

Acting in concert, the barriers described above can result in serious failures of care. For example, one service user described the experience of a friend with SMI who had undergone surgery and was later sectioned. With the District Nurse not attending to her on the mental health inpatient ward, and the mental health nurses not sufficiently experienced or confident to attend to this specialised type of physical health need, the service user had to refer to YouTube to find out how to change her own surgical dressing.

One proposed solution included implementing mandatory physical health education sessions provided by Physical Health Nurses for all inpatient and community staff (including care coordinators), plus a collaborative training day for CMHT and lifestyle service staff. However, it has been observed that accommodating additional training can be difficult for CMHT staff with heavy case-loads.^{45, 46, 57}

Several of the programmes identified through our searches supplemented training with some form of clinical guidance or decision support resources related to the physical health of people with SMI.^{45, 46} ^{28, 29, 32, 34, 35, 38, 39, 43, 55, 56, 58}

Organisational culture and environment

The second underpinning essential of integrated care identified by the Mental Health Foundation was having the right people in the organization,²⁷ including leaders who will drive forward integration at a strategic level. This was supported by more recent published evidence that emphasized the importance of commitment from key leaders and administrators,³⁶ and the development of a supportive organizational culture.^{45, 46}

In part, this might be achieved by obtaining staff "buy-in" and commitment through raising awareness and appropriate incentivisation.²⁷ One field expert noted that many of the issues in this area are similar to the introduction into primary care of incentivised diabetes care in the 1980s (i.e. strong emphasis on preventing cardiovascular disease, developing appropriate education and training for nurses) and that similar steps should be taken to adapt the existing culture.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Elsewhere, authors have highlighted the need for organisations to be flexible, acknowledging that practitioners need time to collaborate on service user care.^{36, 57} This is particularly the case in clinical settings with heavy caseloads.⁴³ For example, the CPHC pilot described care coordinators' lack of time as a barrier to performing community physical health assessments. It identified management commitment to protect time and resources, both for physical health assessments and the wider CPHC role, as key implementation ingredient.^{45, 46}

The pilot of a one-morning-per-week physical care clinic for mental health service users in a Canadian secondary care setting described an initial lack of administrative and institutional support due to a perceived increase in financial cost, unnecessary co-location, and absence of a specified/earmarked budget.⁶⁶ The authors noted that, for integrated care to be successful, senior decision makers need to retain a system-wide and integrated vision of service delivery and resource allocation. While the funding arrangements in the UK NHS differ from the Canadian setting, similar considerations apply.

One factor not explicitly addressed in the literature is the impact of the physical environment on the physical health of people with SMI. Reflecting on her experience as an inpatient, one service user described an environment that was "toxic to physical health". This included very poor quality and highly calorific food (e.g. cream cakes) that could exacerbate medication-induced weight gain, a lack of opportunities for exercise (e.g. broken exercise bike on the inpatient ward), and outdoor activity being restricted and geared towards those who smoke (through smoking breaks). This demonstrates how the culture and environment in one part of the service can unintentionally undermine efforts to improve physical health delivered elsewhere.

6. Conclusions

This rapid review is intended to give a snapshot of the approaches most recently used to address the physical health needs of people with SMI since two wide-ranging reviews of integrated in care were published in 2013. We identified the approaches by searching the international published literature, and speaking with UK service users and field experts.

What type of models currently exist for the provision of integrated care specifically to address the physical health needs of people with severe mental illness (SMI) when accessing mental health care services?

The majority of service models identified in this review were multi-component programmes incorporating two or more of the factors that have previously been identified as facilitators of integrated care: information sharing systems, shared protocols, joint funding/commissioning, colocated services, multidisciplinary teams, liaison services, navigators, research, and reduction of stigma.

The majority of programmes were in community and/or secondary care mental health settings in the UK, North America, or Australia.

Programmes rarely focused on a single delivery component, rather most described the complex interaction of multiple components. However, few programmes were described in detail and fewer still were comprehensively evaluated. This raises questions about the replicability and generalisability of much of the existing evidence.

One of the few clearly described and evaluated programmes was that piloted by Greater Manchester CLAHRC, which evaluated the impact of introducing a core time-protected Community Physical Health Co-ordinator (CPHC) role to improve communication between primary care and CMHTs. Other ingredients of the programme were multi-disciplinary team meetings, targeted training, physical health assessments and shared information resources. The team behind this programme has produced guidance for future implementation that other sites could use to replicate or further refine this promising approach.^{45, 46}

Many other variants of the 'navigator' model have been described in the literature, though where evaluations were available, these tended to be somewhat superficial with little clarity about implementation. However, the available evidence suggests that any individual tasked with coordinating care needs to be empowered with the authority to influence other care professionals. While peer (as opposed to professional) navigator models have also been proposed, both the ethics and sustainability of such approaches need to be considered carefully.

What are the perceived facilitators and barriers to implementation of these models?

As has been previously noted, a fundamental requirement for successful integration of physical and mental health care is having the right people with the right skills and attitudes in place. The Mental Health Foundation emphasised the need for strong leaders, along with committed and willing staff, supported by cross-boundary inter-professional training and ongoing professional development.²⁷

Our findings further underline the importance of considering the impact of any planned structural changes on the attitudes, skills and behaviours of the people interacting within and across health organisations, be they health professionals or service users. Many of the factors that authors,

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

experts and service users identified as facilitators were those that either empowered individuals and/or minimised the effort needed for individuals to provide integrated services.

Wherever possible, training for mental health professionals who fail to address the physical health needs of their service users should aim to increase self-confidence in their own skills, and give greater clarity about their responsibilities in relation to physical health. Care co-ordinators/navigators may have an empowerment role by providing advocacy for service users in certain settings, and might themselves benefit from greater formal authority over care integration. All health professionals will need time to undergo training and to collaborate on service user care, which can be difficult in clinical settings with heavy caseloads. Management commitment to protect time and (where necessary) resources for such activities has been raised as a potentially worthwhile investment.

Factors such as integrated information systems and individual electronic records have yet to be properly implemented due to various technical, legal, and organizational barriers. However, these remain the most promising means of simplifying communication and collaboration among professionals in order to provide care for service users across multiple services. We encountered potentially useful local innovations that could not be implemented because of IT incompatibility or inaccessibility issues. Improved communication and understanding between clinical, administrative and technical staff can be crucial in overcoming such barriers to innovation.

Any arrangements that reduce the level of effort necessary to deliver integrated services on a dayto-day basis should be welcomed. The literature identified simple measures such as informal referral procedures, high visibility of sites, and open access as facilitators of physical health clinics for people with SMI in mental health settings.

Multidisciplinary teams form an important role in the provision of mental health services, and are ever more likely to continue to do so in the future. However, simply having an appropriate skill mix within a team does not appear to be sufficient for providing integrated care. There often appears to be broad agreement about what needs to be done to improve the physical health of people with SMI, but not who should be responsible. Within multidisciplinary teams, there must be absolute clarity about the aspects of care for which individuals in the team are responsible and accountable, supported by effective communication between team members. We heard several instances where opportunities to intervene have been missed due to poor communication between providers.

Organisational incentives alone are likely to be inadequate unless individuals have the appropriate knowledge, skills, resources, and environment to support them. Shared protocols, joint action plans and decision support tools such as the Lester resource and Rethink Integrated Physical Health Pathway are promising approaches for clarifying responsibilities and supporting record keeping and communication across boundaries. NHS-specific evidence in this area is expected soon.⁶⁴

Field experts and service users described several ways in which the existing organization of services, and often unconscious assumptions, attitudes, and behaviours of health care staff, can be stigmatizing to people with SMI. Concerns such as inattention to the sexual health in people with SMI and inpatient environments conducive to poor physical health do not appear to have been explicitly tackled in the published literature identified in this review. These important concerns need

to be addressed.

Greater prioritization of physical health needs to be embedded in the culture and environment of mental health services. This will require clear strategic leadership and commitment from staff at all levels, backed by appropriate funding arrangements.

How do models implemented in practice compare and contrast with those described in the literature?

In 2013, the Mental Health Foundation concluded that good integrated care appears to be the exception rather than the norm, with isolated pockets of good practice, but overall dissatisfaction with progress being made across the UK.²⁷ Our field contacts gave the impression that this remains the state of affairs in 2015, describing a small number of high-profile programmes as well as their own efforts to address the physical health needs of people with SMI locally.

The sustainability and effectiveness of these initiatives and models described in the literature are not known. However, there are several high-profile initiatives ongoing and others that have been announced, which may indicate increased activity to progress the implementation of integrated care. It will be some time before these initiatives are fully implemented and even longer before their impact is established.

Can we identify high priority areas for either further primary research or a full evidence synthesis?

All of the practitioners we spoke to were dedicated to improving their local service with regard to meeting the physical health needs of people with SMI, but not all had plans to formally evaluate or widely disseminate these efforts. This makes it difficult for lessons learned locally to be shared across institutions and the health service more generally.

Most published evaluations were small in scale and/or poorly described. Ideally, future evaluations of efforts to improve physical health care for people with SMI should be on a larger scale and use meaningful, validated measures of success. Future evaluations should also build on the existing literature to learn lessons and prevent research waste through further unnecessary duplication of effort. Much of the recent literature consists of largely independent interventions/programmes based on a similar set of underlying ideas. Replication of locally successful programmes in different settings is legitimate, but all evaluations need to be clear about which outcomes, facilitators, and barriers are likely to be context-specific and which might be generalisable. There is scope for additional research on understanding why efforts to integrate physical health care needs for people with SMI succeed or fail, using qualitative or mixed-method techniques.

Wherever possible, service users should be involved in the design, conduct, and evaluation of programmes as they will provide crucial insights into current service provision that might not be visible to practitioners, decision makers or researchers. For example, service users on our advisory panel identified the need to consider: how existing appointment booking arrangements might be improved for patients with SMI; how mental health inpatient environments might be made more conducive to maintaining good physical health; and how to attend to the sexual health of people with SMI. Such concerns have received very little attention in the recent literature.

Outputs from ongoing pilot evaluations by NHS Improving Quality (now NHS England's Sustainable Improvement Team) alongside the New Care Models Programme vanguard sites and the Integrated

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Personal Commissioning demonstrator sites should also inform any future research efforts in this area.

On the basis of the evidence identified in this systematic review, a full evidence synthesis on this topic would not appear to be feasible or appropriate in the immediate future. In addition to the heterogeneity and poor reporting of many studies, any future overview of the evidence on integrated care for people with SMI would need to take into account the various developments in this area, such as the new five-year Mental Health Strategy for England, new QOF indicators for 2016/17, regional devolution, and ongoing work on approaches such as the Integrated Digital Record.

Limitations of the rapid review

This rapid review provides a snapshot of the literature on integrating the physical health needs of people with SMI published since 2013. As might be expected given the narrow timeframe, the volume of literature identified is relatively small. More significantly, much of this literature lacked the depth of description necessary to acquire new insights beyond those summarised in the Mental Health Foundation's "Crossing Boundaries" inquiry. Much of the available literature was descriptive and, with the exception of the Manchester CPHC pilot, much of the evaluative literature failed to provide additional useful information on barriers and facilitators. In addition, while we emphasised wherever possible aspects of the literature that were most novel, interesting, or relevant to implementation, our commitment to retaining an objective overview prevented us from speculating or greatly extrapolating from the limited available evidence. Consequently, the weight of attention given to specific interventions in this synthesis was at least partly determined by the amount of available information rather than the inherent value of the intervention.

In order to help interpret and contextualise the literature, we incorporated the input of an expert advisory panel made up of health professionals and service users. While the insights they provided were extremely valuable, our advisory group were not necessarily representative. For example, all our experts were based in England, so this report has limited information on the NHS contexts specific to Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland. Conversely, this rapid review drew on the literature from a diverse range of settings, some of which might not be considered comparable to the NHS. However, we believe that awareness that certain barriers (such as difficulties in implementing web-based registry software) can transcend different countries and health care systems is valuable.

While our focus was to identify the literature relating to people with physical health needs at <u>point</u> <u>of access</u> in the mental health setting, we found that the initial point of access is often not quite so clear cut, especially when patients are invariably referred back and forth between secondary and primary care.

Wherever possible in this rapid review, we have tried to follow the guiding principles of transparency and objectivity that underpin traditional systematic review methodology. However, there might also be an argument for undertaking a more interpretivist approach to exploring this literature. Very few of the interventions described in the literature had any explicit theoretical basis themselves, but it might have been possible to code these studies with specific the aim of developing higher level concepts and theory. Equally, aspects of this literature could be interpreted in light of several

existing theories of behavior change. Such an investigation was outside the scope and resources of this rapid review.

7. Acknowledgements

We are grateful to the following individuals who provided advice, information, or content for the rapid review: Heather Simpson, Karina Lovell, Martin Webber, Simon Cauvain, Simon Gilbody, Helen Lewis, Keri Lewis, Anthony Harris, David Shiers, Michael Spence, Claire Paul, Mark Regan, Najma Siddiq, and Kerry Owen. We are also grateful to a service user who wished to remain anonymous.

Contribution of authors

All searching was conducted by Melissa Harden (Information Specialist), who also wrote the search sections of the report and commented on the draft report. Study selection, data extraction, critical appraisal, and write up of the report were carried out by Mark Rodgers (Research Fellow, Evidence Synthesis), Jane Dalton (Research Fellow, Evidence Synthesis), and Alison Eastwood (Professor, Evidence Synthesis). Gillian Parker (Professor, Social Policy) and Andrew Street (Professor, Health Economics) provided expertise and advice, contributed to the development of the protocol, and commented on drafts of the report.

Data archiving

All available data can be obtained from the corresponding author. All data will be shared in a way which safeguards the confidentiality and anonymity of respondents.

Disclaimer

This report presents independent research commissioned by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR). The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, NETSCC, the Health Service and Delivery Research (HS&DR) programme or the Department of Health. The views and opinions expressed by the Delphi respondents in this publication are those of the respondents and do not necessarily reflect those of the authors, those of the NHS, the NIHR, MRC, CCF, NETSCC, the Health Service and Delivery Research (HS&DR) programme or the Department of Health.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

8. References

1. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. *Guideline scope. Severe mental illness and substance misuse (dual diagnosis): community health and social care services.* London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2015.

2. Department of Health. *Choosing health: supporting the physical needs of people with severe mental illness - commissioning framework*. London: Department of Health; 2006.

3. Druss B, Zhao L, Von Esenwein S, Morrato E, Marcus S. Understanding excess mortality in persons with mental illness: 17-year follow up of a nationally representative US survey. *Med Care* 2011;**49**:599-604.

4. Social Care Local Government and Care Partnership Directorate. *Closing the gap: priorities for essential change in mental health*. London: Department of Health; 2014.

5. NHS England. *Five year forward view*: NHS England; 2014.

6. Royal College of Psychiatrists. *Report for the second round of the National Audit of Schizophrenia (NAS2) 2014. Executive Summary*. London: Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership and Royal College of Psychiatrists; 2014.

7. Reilly S, Planner C, Gask L, Hann M, Knowles S, Druss B, *et al.* Collaborative care approaches for people with severe mental illness *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2013, Issue 11. Art.No.:CD009531. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD009531.pub2.

8. Royal College of Nursing. *Modernising the care programme approach. A policy booklet*. London: Royal College of Nursing; 2013.

9. Department of Health. *National service framework for mental health*. London: Department of Health; 1999.

10. Smith S, Yeomans D, Bushe CJP, Eriksson C, Harrison T, Holmes R, *et al.* A well-being programme in severe mental illness. Reducing risk for physical ill-health: a post-programme service evaluation at 2 years. *Eur Psychiatry* 2007;**22**:413-8.

http://dx.doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpsy.2007.07.002

11. Eldridge D, Dawber N, Gray R. A well-being support program for patients with severe mental illness: a service evaluation. *BMC Psychiatry* 2011;**11**:46. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-244x-11-46

12. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. *Psychosis and schizophrenia in adults: treatment and management. NICE guidelines [CG178]*. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2014.

13. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. *Psychosis and schizophrenia in children and young people: Recognition and management. NICE guidelines [CG155]*. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2013.

14. National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health. *Borderline personality disorder: treamtment and management. The NICE guideline on treatment and management.* London: The British Psychological Society and the Royal College of Psychiatrists; 2009.

15. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. *Psychosis with coexisting substance misuse: assessment and management in adults and young people. NICE guideline [CG120].* London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2011.

16. NHS England. *Commissioning for quality and innovation (CQUIN): 2014/15 guidance*. Leeds: NHS England; 2014.

17. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. *NICE announces new indicators for improving care in general practice*. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2015. URL: https://www.nice.org.uk/news/press-and-media/nice-announces-new-indicators-for-improving-care-in-general-practice (Accessed 10th September 2015).

18. The King's Fund. *Improving the management of patients with both mental and physical health needs*. The King's Fund; 2013. URL: http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/gp-commissioning/ten-priorities-for-commissioners/patient-management (Accessed 1st April 2015).

19. NHS England. *New care models – vanguard sites*. NHS England. URL:

http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/futurenhs/5yfv-ch3/new-care-models/ (Accessed 1st April 2015).

20. NHS England. *Integrated primary and acute care systems vanguard sites:* 7. *North East Hampshire and Farnham*. NHS England; 2015. URL:

http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/futurenhs/5yfv-ch3/new-care-models/primary-acutesites/#seven (Accessed 10th September 2015, http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/futurenhs/5yfvch3/new-care-models/primary-acute-sites/#seven.

21. NHS North East Hampshire & Farnham Clinical Commissioning Group. *Useful vanguard documents*. NHS North East Hampshire & Farnham CCG; 2015. URL:

http://www.northeasthampshireandfarnhamccg.nhs.uk/vanguard/useful-vanguard-documents (Accessed 10th September 2015).

22. NHS England. *Integrated Personal Commissioning (IPC) programme*. NHS England. URL: https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/ipc/ (Accessed 1st April 2015).

23. NHS England. *NHS and local government chiefs meet with local leaders of Integrated Personal Commissioning*. NHS England; 2015. URL: https://www.england.nhs.uk/2015/06/09/ipc/ (Accessed 10th September 2015).

24. NHS England. *Major new taskforce launched to chart roadmap for services and priorities over next five years*. NHS England; 2015. URL: https://www.england.nhs.uk/2015/03/25/taskforce-launched/ (Accessed 1st April 2015).

25. Mental Health Taskforce. *The five year forward view mental health taskforce: public engagement findings*: NHS England; 2015.

26. Bradford DW, Cunningham NT, Slubicki MN, McDuffie JR, Kilbourne AM, Nagi A, *et al.* An evidence synthesis of care models to improve general medical outcomes for individuals with serious mental illness: a systematic review. *J Clin Psychiatry* 2013;**74**:e754-e64.

27. Mental Health Foundation. *Crossing boundaries. Improving integrated care for people with mental health problems.* London: Mental Health Foundation; 2013.

28. Happell B, Stanton R, Hoey W, Scott D. Cardiometabolic health nursing to improve health and primary care access in community mental health consumers: baseline physical health outcomes from a randomised controlled trial. *Issues Ment Health Nurs* 2014;**35**:114-21.

http://dx.doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.3109/01612840.2013.842619

29. Hardy S, Hinks P, Gray R. Does training practice nurses to carry out physical health checks for people with severe mental illness increase the level of screening for cardiovascular risk? *Int J Soc Psychiatry* 2014;**60**:236-42. http://dx.doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0020764013483721

30. Kelly E, Fulginiti A, Pahwa R, Tallen L, Duan L, Brekke JS. A pilot test of a peer navigator intervention for improving the health of individuals with serious mental illness. *Community Ment Health J* 2014;**50**:435-46. http://dx.doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10597-013-9616-4

31. Bartels SJ, Pratt SI, Mueser KT, Naslund JA, Wolfe RS, Santos M, *et al.* Integrated IMR for psychiatric and general medical illness for adults aged 50 or older with serious mental illness. *Psychiatr Serv* 2014;**65**:330-7. http://dx.doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201300023

32. Kilbourne AM, Goodrich DE, Lai Z, Post EP, Schumacher K, Nord KM, *et al.* Randomized controlled trial to reduce cardiovascular disease risk for patients with bipolar disorder: the Self-Management Addressing Heart Risk Trial (SMAHRT). *J Clin Psychiatry* 2013;**74**:e655-62. http://dx.doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.4088/JCP.12m08082

33. Vinas Cabrera L, Fernandez San-Martin MI, Martin Lopez LM, Grupo Psicosis Litoral. [Effectiveness of a joint project between primary care and mental health to improve the recording of cardiovascular risk factors in patients with psychosis]. *Aten Primaria* 2013;**45**:307-14. http://dx.doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aprim.2012.12.008

34. Kilbourne AM, Goodrich DE, Lai Z, Clogston J, Waxmonsky J, Bauer MS. Randomized controlled pilot study of Life Goals Collaborative Care for patients with bipolar disorder and

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

cardiovascular disease risk from community-based preactices. *Psychiatr Serv* 2012;**63**:1234-8. http://dx.doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201100528

35. Kilbourne AM, Bramlet M, Barbaresso MM, Nord KM, Goodrich DE, Lai Z, *et al.* SMI life goals: description of a randomized trial of a collaborative care model to improve outcomes for persons with serious mental illness. *Contemp Clin Trials* 2014;**39**:74-85.

36. Chwastiak L, Vanderlip E, Katon W. Treating complexity: collaborative care for multiple chronic conditions. *Int Rev Psychiatry* 2014;**26**:638-47.

37. von Esenwein SA, Druss BG. Using electronic health records to improve the physical healthcare of people with serious mental illnesses: a view from the front lines. *Int Rev Psychiatry* 2014;**26**:629-37.

38. Jones H, Adams C, Clifton A, Callaghan P, Liddle P, Buchanan H, *et al*. An oral health intervention for people with serious mental illness (three shires early intervention dental trial): study protocol for a randomised controlled trial. *Trials* 2013;**14**:158.

39. Lee WK. [Outcome for patients with severe mental illnesses participating in a district-based risk-need-driven personalised care programme using case management approach]. *East Asian Arch Psych* 2010;**20**:33-4.

40. Pirraglia PA, Rowland E, Wu WC, Taveira TH, Cohen LB, Friedmann PD, *et al.* Benefits of a primary care clinic co-located and integrated in a mental health setting for veterans with serious mental illness. *Prev Chronic Dis* 2012;**9**:E51. http://dx.doi.org/dx.doi.org/10.5888/pcd9.110113

41. Kilany M. *Patient-centered medical homes for patients with severe mental illness: Utilization and quality of care variation in rural and urban areas.* United States, North Carolina: The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill; 2015.

42. Brekke JS, Siantz E, Pahwa R, Kelly E, Tallen L, Fulginiti A. Reducing health disparities for people with serious mental illness: development and feasibility of a peer health navigation intervention. *Best Pract Ment Health* 2013;**9**:62-82.

43. Maki M, Bjorklund P. Improving cardiovascular disease screening in community mental health centers. *Perspect Psychiatr Care* 2013;**49**:179-86.

44. University of Washington. *TEAMcare for diabetes in mental health centers*. ClinicalTrials.gov, National Library of Medicine (US); 2013. URL: http://ClinicalTrials.gov/show/NCT02011529 (Accessed 3rd June 2015).

45. NHS NIHR Collaboration for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care (CLAHRC) for Greater Manchester. *Improving the physical health care of people with severe and enduring mental illness. Manchester Mental Health and Social Care Trust pilot project evaluation report.* Salford: Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust; 2013.

46. NHS NIHR Collaboration for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care (CLAHRC) for Greater Manchester. *Improving the physical health care of people with severe and enduring mental illness. Community physical health co-ordinator and multi-disciplinary team meeting guidance document.* Salford: Salford Royal NHS Foundation; 2013.

47. Yeomans D, Dale K, Beedle K. Systematic computerised cardiovascular health screening for people with severe mental illness. *Psychiatr Bull* 2014;**38**:280-4.

48. Curtis J, Watkins A, Rosenbaum S, Teasdale S, Kalucy M, Samaras K, *et al.* Evaluating an individualized lifestyle and life skills intervention to prevent antipsychotic-induced weight gain in first-episode psychosis. *Early Intervention in Psychiatry* 2015:Published online 26th February 2015 http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/eip.12230.

49. NHS Improving Quality. *Living longer lives case study. SHAPE (Supporting Health and Promoting Exercise)*. Leeds: NHS Improving Quality; 2014.

50. Rubin AS, Littenberg B, Ross R, Wehry S, Jones M. Effects on processes and costs of care associated with the addition of an internist to an inpatient psychiatry team. *Psychiatr Serv* 2005;**56**:463-7.

51. Druss BG, Rohrbaugh RM, Levinson CM, Rosenheck RA. Integrated medical care for patients with serious psychiatric illness. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 2001;**58**:861-8.

52. Yale University. *Project wellness enhancement: increasing health care choice and outcomes for people with mental illness*. ClinicalTrials.gov, National Library of Medicine (US); 2014. URL: http://ClinicalTrials.gov/show/NCT02263742 (Accessed 3rd June 2015).

53. De Hert M, Dekker JM, Wood D, Kahl KG, Moller H-J. Cardiovascular disease and diabetes in people with severe mental illness. *Rev Psiquiatr Salud Ment* 2009;**2**:49-59.

54. Happell B, Platania-Phung C, Scott D. Mental Health Nurse Incentive Program: facilitating physical health care for people with mental illness? *Int J Ment Health Nurs* 2013;**22**:399-408. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/inm.12006

55. Happell B, Platania-Phung C, Stanton R, Millar F. Exploring the views of nurses on the cardiometabolic health nurse in mental health services in Australia. *Issues Ment Health Nurs* 2015;**36**:135-44.

56. Happell B, Stanton R, Hoey W, Scott D. Cardiometabolic health nursing to improve health and primary care access in community mental health consumers: protocol for a randomised controlled trial. *Int J Nurs Stud* 2014;**51**:236-42.

http://dx.doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2013.06.004

57. Kern JS. Providing primary care in behavioral health settings. In: Raney LE, editor. *Integrated care: working at the interface of primary care and behavioral health*. Arlington, VA, US: American Psychiatric Publishing, Inc; 2015:169-91.

58. Kilbourne A. Cross-diagnosis collaborative care program for patients with mood disorders from the U.S. National network of depression centers. *Bipolar Disord* 2013;**15(Suppl 1)**:11. http://dx.doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/bdi.12079

59. NHS London Health Programmes. *Mental health models of care for London*. London: NHS London Health Programmes; 2011.

60. Nover CH. Implementing a mental health and primary care partnership program in Placer County, California. *Soc Work Health Care* 2014;**53**:156-82.

61. Parks J. Behavioral health homes. In: Raney LE, editor. *Integrated care: working at the interface of primary care and behavioral health*. Arlington, VA, US: American Psychiatric Publishing, Inc; 2015:193-216.

62. Shackelford JR, Serna M, Mangurian C, Dilley JW, Shumway M. Descriptive analysis of a novel health care approach: reverse collocation-primary care in a community mental health "home". *Prim Care Companion CNS Disord* 2013;**15**. http://dx.doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.4088/PCC.13m01530

63. Solomon P, Hanrahan NP, Hurford M, DeCesaris M, Josey L. Lessons learned from implementing a pilot RCT of transitional care model for individuals with serious mental illness. *Arch Psychiatr Nurs* 2014;**28**:250-5.

64. Stark E, Walker W. *Specification for the evaluation of the implementation of Lester 2014*. Leeds: NHS Improving Quality; 2014.

65. Tallian K, Hirsch JD, Chang CA, Messinger M, Gilmer T, Kuo GM, *et al.* Development of a pharmacist-managed Medication Therapy Management Services (MTMS) in a mental health clinic. *Pharmacotherapy* 2010;**30**:443e.

66. Ungar T, Goldman S, Marcus M. Reversed shared care in mental health: bringing primary physical health care to psychiatric patients. *Can J Commun Ment Health* 2013;**32**:1-16.

67. Vanderlip ER, Williams NA, Fiedorowicz JG, Katon W. Exploring primary care activities in ACT teams. *Community Ment Health J* 2014;**50**:466-73.

68. Welthagen E, Talbot S, Harrison O, Phelan M. Providing a primary care service for psychiatric in-patients. *Psychiatr Bull R Coll Psychiatr* 2004;**28**:167-70.

69. NHS Employers. 2014/15 General Medical Services (GMS) contract Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF). Guidance for GMS contract 2014/15. Leeds: NHS Employers; 2014.

70. *SAMHSA Primary and Behavioural Health Care Integration (PBHCI) Program.* Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA). URL:

http://www.integration.samhsa.gov/about-us/pbhci (Accessed 19th September 2015).

71. Health & Social Care Information Centre. *A guide to confidentiality in health and social care. Treating confidential information with respect.* Leeds: Health & Social Care Information Centre; 2013.

72. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. *Quality statement 6: Assessing physical health*. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2015. URL:

http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/QS80/chapter/Quality-statement-6-Assessing-physical-health (Accessed 16th September 2015).

73. Shiers DE, Rafi I, Cooper S J, Holt RIG. *Positive Cardiometabolic Health Resource: an intervention framework for patients with psychosis and schizophrenia. 2014 update.* London: Royal College of Psychiatrists; 2014 update (with acknowledgement to the late Helen Lester for her contribution to the original 2012 version).

74. Rethink Mental Illness. *Integrated physical health pathway. Supporting the physical health of people with psychosis and schizophrenia*. London: Rethink Mental Illness; 2014.

75. Mason A, Goddard M, Weatherly H, M C. Integrating funds for health and social care: an evidence review. *J Health Serv Res Policy* 2015;**20**:177-88.

http://hsr.sagepub.com/content/20/3/177.full.pdf?ijkey=48TFT0Ktj1jynwf&keytype=finite 76. Goodwin N, Lawton-Smith S. Integrating care for people with mental illness: the Care Programme Approach in England and its implications for long-term conditions management. *International Journal of Integrated Care* 2010;**10**.

http://dspace.library.uu.nl/bitstream/handle/1874/42991/516-1276-3-PB.pdf?sequence=2 77. Cameron A, Lart R, Bostock L, Coomber C. *SCIE research briefing 41: Factors that promote and hinder joint and integrated working between health and social care services*. London: Social Care Institute for Excellence; 2012.

78. Health Education England. *Raising the bar. Shape of caring: a review of the future education and training of registered nurses and care assistants.* Leeds: Health Education England; 2015.

79. *Practice nurse masterclasses*. UCL Partners Academic Health Science Partnership. URL: http://www.uclpartners.com/our-work/academic-health-science-network/integrated-mental-health/practice-nurse-masterclasses (Accessed 17th September 2015).

80. Cerimele JM, Strain JJ. Integrating primary care services into psychiatric care settings: a review of the literature. *Prim Care Companion J Clin Psychiatry* 2010;**12**:e1-e4.

APPENDIX 1: Field expert contact form

Name:

(This is to ensure we correctly acknowledge your contribution in our final report, if appropriate)

Role:

About CRD

The Centre for Reviews and Dissemination (CRD) is a department at the University of York. One of CRD's funding sources is the Department of Health/NIHR/HS & DR programme which aims to improve UK health service delivery through research. The following project is part of that research.

Project title

Integrated care to address the physical health needs of people with severe mental illness (SMI).

Background

The present focus on improving integrated care for people with mental health needs appears to be from the perspective of access to health services for an acute or chronic physical health condition. Information about the converse of this (i.e. addressing the physical health care needs of patients with severe mental illness at point of access in the mental health service setting) seems lacking.

About this project

The aim of this project is to explore what current provision exists in practice together with mapping the evidence on models of care for dealing with the physical health needs of people with mental health problems at point of access in the mental health service setting.

What we'd like from you

By answering the questions below, as a **field expert** you will be helping us to (a) develop our research and (b) ultimately think about what might be useful to those commissioning and delivering future services.

Questions:

- What types of models exist (or are emerging) in practice for the delivery of integrated care specifically to address the physical health needs of people with severe mental illness (SMI) when accessing mental health care services?
- 2. What are the specific components of the physical health services?
- 3. Where are these services located?
- 4. When/how are they offered?
- 5. How likely are these models to be generalisable nationally? (Why/Why not?)

- 6. What are the perceived facilitators and barriers to successful implementation of these models?
- 7. How successfully will these models address diversity/inequalities in society?
- 8. How successfully will these models address parity of esteem between mental and physical health?
- 9. Is there a plan for evaluation? If so, how and by whom?
- 10. Further contacts?

Please contact Jane Dalton (jane.dalton@york.ac.uk), Mark Rodgers (mark.rodgers@york.ac.uk)_or Alison Eastwood (alison.eastwood@york.ac.uk) if you have any further questions or feedback. We thank you for your time.

June 2015

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

APPENDIX 2: Service User contact form

Name:

(This is to ensure we correctly acknowledge your contribution in our final report, if appropriate. Please leave this blank if you would prefer to remain anonymous).

Role (e.g., service user):

Type of service you are familiar with:

About CRD

The Centre for Reviews and Dissemination (CRD) is a department at the University of York. One of CRD's funding sources is the Department of Health/NIHR/HS & DR programme which aims to improve UK health service delivery through research. The following project is part of that research.

Project title

Integrated care to address the physical health needs of people with severe mental illness (SMI).

Background

At the moment, attempts to improve integrated care focus on people with an acute or chronic physical health condition being able to access mental health services. Information about the converse of this (i.e. addressing the physical health care needs of patients with severe mental illness who use mental health services) seems lacking.

About this project

The aim of this project is to explore what current provision exists for dealing with the physical health needs of mental health service users with severe mental illness. We will also look for published evidence on different models of care.

What we'd like from you

By answering the questions on page 2, in an **advisory capacity** you will be helping us to (a) develop our research and (b) ultimately think about what might be useful to those commissioning and delivering future services. We do <u>not</u> seek details of your personal experience of services.

We anticipate needing your input just once during the project which started at the beginning of May and should be completed by the end of August 2015. If you would like to, we would welcome your comments on the draft report we write at the end of this project, but it is not necessary for you to do this.

We are very happy to receive your input over the phone or by email. Alternatively, we can arrange to meet (at the University of York) if you prefer.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

What we can offer you

We can offer you payment at a rate of £20 per hour for your involvement. We will also cover reasonable travel expenses and related costs (Please note: Accepting payment may affect your tax situation and can be problematic if you are in receipt of state benefits).

Please contact Jane Dalton (jane.dalton@york.ac.uk or 01904 321056) if you have any further questions or feedback.

Thank you for your time.

June 2015

Questions:

- 1. What types of services are you aware of that specifically address the physical health needs of people with severe mental illness (SMI) when accessing mental health care?
- 2. To what extent are these services brought together in an integrated (co-ordinated/tailored) way?
- 3. What are the specific components of the physical health care services?
- 4. Where are these services located?
- 5. When/how are they offered?
- 6. What do you feel are the advantages/disadvantages of existing services?
- 7. How successfully do you feel existing services cater for the needs of everyone?
- 8. How successfully do you feel services are providing equal focus on mental and physical health needs?
- 9. Imagine an ideal integrated care service brought together to address the physical health needs of people with SMI. What would that look like? Consider three things that might make a difference in future.
 - 1.
 - 2.
 - 3.

APPENDIX 3: Search strategies

Database search strategies

Database searches were carried out to update the following systematic reviews:

Bradford DW, Cunningham NT, Slubicki MN, McDuffie JR, Kilbourne AM, Nagi A, et al. An evidence synthesis of care models to improve general medical outcomes for individuals with serious mental illness: a systematic review. *J Clin Psychiatry* 2013;74:e754-e64.

Bradford DW, Slubicki MN, McDuffie JR, Kilbourne AM, Nagi A, Williams JW. *Effects of care models to improve general medical outcomes for individuals with serious mental illness*. Washington DC: Department of Veterans Affairs; 2011

The original search strategies from the above reviews were used, but adapted to fit the inclusion criteria of the current review. Adaptations included the addition of terms for depression to cover the definition of severe mental illness used in the current review and the addition of further terms for integrated care.

MEDLINE

Ovid http://ovidsp.ovid.com/

1946 - May week 3 2015

Searched on 21st May 2015. 680 records were retrieved.

Searches were limited to records added to MEDLINE since 1st January 2013. The Cochrane highly sensitive search strategy for identifying randomized trials in MEDLINE (sensitivity-maximizing version) was used to limit retrieval to clinical trials (lines 55-67).

- 1 ((serious\$ or sever\$) adj2 mental\$ adj2 (ill\$ or disorder\$)).ti,ab. (5876)
- 2 exp Schizophrenia/ (87822)
- 3 schizophreni\$.ti,ab. (89080)
- 4 exp Bipolar Disorder/ (32800)
- 5 ((bipolar or bi polar) adj3 (disorder\$ or depress\$ or ill\$)).ti,ab. (21109)
- 6 exp Psychotic Disorders/ (39605)
- 7 (psychotic\$ or psychosis or psychoses).ti,ab. (46608)
- 8 (schizoaffective or schizo-affective).ti,ab. (4447)
- 9 (hypomania\$ or mania\$ or manic).ti,ab. (13879)
- 10 mental disorder\$.ti. (6128)
- 11 exp Depressive Disorder/ (84240)
- 12 Depression/ (81346)
- 13 ((depression or depressive) adj3 (major or sever\$ or serious\$ or endur\$ or chronic\$ or persist\$
- or resistant)).ti,ab. (43847)
- 14 or/1-13 (331007)
- 15 exp "Delivery of Health Care, Integrated"/ (9052)

- 16 exp Patient Care Team/ (56442)
- 17 exp Patient Care Planning/ (53238)
- 18 exp disease management/ (31742)
- 19 Patient-Centered Care/ (11885)
- 20 models, nursing/ (11135)
- 21 "Continuity of Patient Care"/ (15114)
- 22 Comprehensive Health Care/ (6119)
- 23 Patient Care Management/ (2494)
- 24 exp Primary Health Care/ (83718)
- 25 exp Internal Medicine/ (74152)
- 26 Family Practice/ (60309)
- 27 Geriatrics/ (26950)
- 28 general practice.ti. (17325)
- 29 (continuity of care or coordinated care or co-ordinated care or co-ordinated program\$ or
- coordinated program\$ or team care or team treatment\$ or team assessment\$ or team consultation\$).ti,ab. (5536)
- 30 (collaborat\$ adj3 (care or manage\$)).ti,ab. (4109)
- 31 shared care.ti,ab. (837)
- 32 ((patient-centred or patient-centered) adj2 (care or manage\$ or program\$ or service\$)).ti,ab. (2584)
- 33 ((patient-centred or patient-centered) adj2 (policy or policies or model\$)).ti,ab. (268)
- 34 holistic care.ti,ab. (916)
- 35 (integrat\$ adj2 (care or service\$)).ti,ab. (7037)
- 36 (model\$ adj2 care).ti,ab. (7914)
- 37 or/15-36 (397601)
- 38 14 and 37 (12508)
- 39 evaluation studies as topic/ (120255)
- 40 (pre-post or pre-test or pretest or post-test or posttest).ti,ab. (19293)
- 41 controlled before-after studies/ (37)
- 42 (before and after).ti,ab. (520777)
- 43 (before and during).ti,ab. (277889)
- 44 Non-Randomized Controlled Trials as Topic/ (17)
- 45 (quasi-experiment\$ or quasiexperiment\$ or quasirandom\$ or quasi random\$ or quasicontrol\$ or quasi control\$).ti,ab. (9253)
- 46 Interrupted Time Series Analysis/ (37)
- 47 (time series and interrupt\$).ti,ab. (1136)
- 48 time points.ti,ab. (47741)
- 49 (multiple or three or four or five or six or seven or eight or nine or ten or month\$ or hour\$ or day\$).ti,ab. (5919691)
- 50 48 and 49 (33546)
- 51 "Process Assessment (Health Care)"/ (3172)
- 52 Program Evaluation/ (48243)
- 53 39 or 40 or 41 or 42 or 43 or 44 or 45 or 46 or 47 or 50 or 51 or 52 (831939)
- 54 38 and 53 (822)

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

- 55 randomized controlled trial.pt. (394882)
- 56 controlled clinical trial.pt. (89465)
- 57 randomized.ab. (291871)
- 58 placebo.ab. (152257)
- 59 drug therapy.fs. (1773960)
- 60 randomly.ab. (205670)
- 61 trial.ab. (301120)
- 62 groups.ab. (1310948)
- 63 or/55-62 (3346399)
- 64 38 and 63 (4431)
- 65 54 or 64 (4864)
- 66 exp animals/ not humans.sh. (4041332)
- 67 65 not 66 (4862)
- 68 limit 67 to ed=20130101-20150514 (680)

Кеу

/ = indexing term (MeSH heading)
exp = exploded MeSH heading
\$ = truncation
ti,ab = terms in either title or abstract fields
adj3 = terms within three words of each other (any order)
pt = publication type
fs = floating subheading
sh = subject heading
ed = entry date - date added to the database

MEDLINE In-Process & Other Non-Indexed Citations

OvidSP http://ovidsp.ovid.com/

May 19, 2015

Searched on 21st May 2015. 155 records were retrieved.

- 1 ((serious\$ or sever\$) adj2 mental\$ adj2 (ill\$ or disorder\$)).ti,ab. (742)
- 2 exp Schizophrenia/ (0)
- 3 schizophreni\$.ti,ab. (7295)
- 4 exp Bipolar Disorder/ (0)
- 5 ((bipolar or bi polar) adj3 (disorder\$ or depress\$ or ill\$)).ti,ab. (2610)
- 6 exp Psychotic Disorders/ (0)
- 7 (psychotic\$ or psychosis or psychoses).ti,ab. (3960)
- 8 (schizoaffective or schizo-affective).ti,ab. (331)
- 9 (hypomania\$ or mania\$ or manic).ti,ab. (1186)
- 10 mental disorder\$.ti. (592)
- 11 exp Depressive Disorder/ (0)
- 12 Depression/ (0)

13 ((depression or depressive) adj3 (major or sever\$ or serious\$ or endur\$ or chronic\$ or persist\$ or resistant)).ti,ab. (4727)

- 14 or/1-13 (16803)
- 15 exp "Delivery of Health Care, Integrated"/ (0)
- 16 exp Patient Care Team/ (0)
- 17 exp Patient Care Planning/ (0)
- 18 exp disease management/ (0)
- 19 Patient-Centered Care/ (0)
- 20 models, nursing/ (0)
- 21 "Continuity of Patient Care"/ (0)
- 22 Comprehensive Health Care/ (0)
- 23 Patient Care Management/ (0)
- 24 exp Primary Health Care/ (0)
- 25 exp Internal Medicine/ (0)
- 26 Family Practice/ (0)
- 27 Geriatrics/ (0)
- 28 general practice.ti. (781)

29 (continuity of care or coordinated care or co-ordinated care or co-ordinated program\$ or coordinated program\$ or team care or team treatment\$ or team assessment\$ or team consultation\$).ti,ab. (623)

- 30 (collaborat\$ adj3 (care or manage\$)).ti,ab. (629)
- 31 shared care.ti,ab. (87)
- 32 ((patient-centred or patient-centered) adj2 (care or manage\$ or program\$ or service\$)).ti,ab. (528)
- 33 ((patient-centred or patient-centered) adj2 (policy or policies or model\$)).ti,ab. (48)
- 34 holistic care.ti,ab. (103)
- 35 (integrat\$ adj2 (care or service\$)).ti,ab. (1125)
- 36 (model\$ adj2 care).ti,ab. (1138)
- 37 or/15-36 (4535)
- 38 14 and 37 (155)

Кеу

- / = indexing term (MeSH heading)
- exp = exploded MeSH heading
- \$ = truncation
- ti,ab = terms in either title or abstract fields
- adj3 = terms within three words of each other (any order)

The Cochrane Library

Wiley http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews (CDSR), Issue 5 of 12, May 2015

Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects (DARE), Issue 2 of 4, April 2015

Health Technology Assessment Database (HTA), Issue 2 of 4, April 2015

NHS Economic Evaluations Database (NHSEED), Issue 2 of 4, April 2015

Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL), Issue 4 of 12, April 2015

The 5 databases above were searched on 26th May 2015, via the Cochrane Library.

176 records were retrieved in total – 9 from CDSR, 13 from DARE, 3 from HTA, 15 from NHSEED and 136 from CENTRAL. Retrieval was restricted to records published from between 2013-2015.

#1	((serious* or sever*) near/2 mental* near/2 (ill* or disorder*)):ti,ab,kw	843
#2	MeSH descriptor: [Schizophrenia] explode all trees	4990
#3	schizophreni*:ti,ab,kw	10183
#4	MeSH descriptor: [Bipolar Disorder] explode all trees	1619
#5	((bipolar or bi next polar) near/3 (disorder* or depress* or ill*)):ti,ab,kw	3222
#6	MeSH descriptor: [Psychotic Disorders] explode all trees	1573
#7	(psychotic* or psychosis or psychoses):ti,ab,kw	4848
#8	(schizoaffective or schizo next affective):ti,ab,kw	888
#9	(hypomania* or mania* or manic):ti,ab,kw	1692
#10	mental next disorder*:ti	1222
#11	MeSH descriptor: [Depressive Disorder] explode all trees	7707
#12	MeSH descriptor: [Depression] this term only	5603
#13	((depression or depressive) near/3 (major or sever* or serious* or endur* or chi	
	* or resistant)):ti,ab,kw	9257
#14	#1 or #2 or #3 or #4 or #5 or #6 or #7 or #8 or #9 or #10 or #11 or #12 or #13	32574
#15	MeSH descriptor: [Delivery of Health Care, Integrated] explode all trees	273
#16	MeSH descriptor: [Patient Care Team] explode all trees	1454
#17	MeSH descriptor: [Patient Care Planning] explode all trees	1481
#18	MeSH descriptor: [Disease Management] explode all trees	2358
#19	MeSH descriptor: [Patient-Centered Care] this term only	344
#20	MeSH descriptor: [Models, Nursing] this term only	159
#21	MeSH descriptor: [Continuity of Patient Care] explode all trees	569
#22	MeSH descriptor: [Comprehensive Health Care] this term only	81
#23	MeSH descriptor: [Patient Care Management] this term only	135
#24	MeSH descriptor: [Primary Health Care] explode all trees	3976
#25	MeSH descriptor: [Internal Medicine] explode all trees	847
#26	MeSH descriptor: [Family Practice] this term only	2136
#27	MeSH descriptor: [Geriatrics] this term only	202
#28	general next practice:ti	1679
#29	("continuity of care" or "coordinated care" or "co-ordinated care" or co-ordinated	ed next
progra	n* or coordinated next program* or "team care" or team next treatment* or tea	m next
assessr	nent* or team next consultation*):ti,ab,kw	332
#30	(collaborat* near/3 (care or manage*)):ti,ab,kw	633
#31	shared next care:ti,ab,kw	118

#32	((patient-centred or patient-centered) near/2 (care or manage* or program* or							
service	e*)):ti,ab,kw	443						
#33	((patient-centred or patient-centered) near/2 (policy or policies or							
model	*)):ti,ab,kw	21						
#34	holistic next care:ti,ab,kw	26						
#35	(integrat* near/2 (care or service*)):ti,ab,kw	687						
#36	(model* near/2 care):ti,ab,kw	993						
#37	#15 or #16 or #17 or #18 or #19 or #20 or #21 or #22 or #23 or #24 or #25 or #26 or							
#27 or #28 or #29 or #30 or #31 or #32 or #33 or #34 or #35 or #36								
#38	#14 and #37	1644						
#39	#14 and #37 Publication Year from 2013 to 2015	176						

Кеу

MeSH descriptor = indexing term (MeSH heading)

* = truncation

:ti,ab,kw = terms in either title or abstract or keyword fields

near/3 = terms within three words of each other (any order)

next = terms are next to each other

EMBASE

Ovid http://ovidsp.ovid.com/

1974 to 2015 May 20th

Searched on 21st May 2015. 1263 records were retrieved.

Searches were limited to records added to EMBASE since 1st January 2013. A search strategy developed by Lefebvre et al. to identify randomised trials in EMBASE was used to limit retrieval to clinical trials (lines 49-63).

- 1 ((serious\$ or sever\$) adj2 mental\$ adj2 (ill\$ or disorder\$)).ti,ab. (8516)
- 2 exp schizophrenia/ (151405)
- 3 schizophreni\$.ti,ab. (127264)
- 4 exp bipolar disorder/ (43502)
- 5 ((bipolar or bi polar) adj3 (disorder\$ or depress\$ or ill\$)).ti,ab. (34751)
- 6 exp Psychotic Disorders/ (231368)
- 7 (psychotic\$ or psychosis or psychoses).ti,ab. (73153)
- 8 exp psychosis/ (231368)
- 9 (schizoaffective or schizo-affective).ti,ab. (6604)
- 10 exp mania/ (52985)
- 11 (hypomania\$ or mania\$ or manic).ti,ab. (20738)
- 12 mental disorder\$.ti. (7616)
- 13 exp depression/ (336751)

14 ((depression or depressive) adj3 (major or sever\$ or serious\$ or endur\$ or chronic\$ or persist\$

or resistant)).ti,ab. (64184)

15 or/1-14 (565390)

- 16 integrated health care system/ (7540)
- 17 patient care planning/ or case management/ or clinical pathway/ (41236)
- 18 patient care/ (209606)
- 19 disease management/ (12769)
- 20 exp primary health care/ (116185)
- 21 exp internal medicine/ (205500)
- 22 general practice/ (72243)
- 23 geriatrics/ (38504)
- 24 holistic care/ (1795)
- 25 general practice.ti. (21231)

26 (continuity of care or coordinated care or co-ordinated care or co-ordinated program\$ or coordinated program\$ or team care or team treatment\$ or team assessment\$ or team consultation\$).ti,ab. (8089)

- 27 (collaborat\$ adj3 (care or manage\$)).ti,ab. (6348)
- 28 shared care.ti,ab. (1336)

29 ((patient-centred or patient-centered) adj2 (care or manage\$ or program\$ or service\$)).ti,ab. (4067)

- 30 ((patient-centred or patient-centered) adj2 (policy or policies or model\$)).ti,ab. (399)
- 31 holistic care.ti,ab. (1251)
- 32 (integrat\$ adj2 (care or service\$)).ti,ab. (10758)
- 33 (model\$ adj2 care).ti,ab. (12170)
- 34 or/16-33 (680193)
- 35 15 and 34 (24865)
- 36 pretest posttest design/ (811)
- 37 (pre-post or pre-test or pretest or posttest or post-test).ti,ab. (31005)
- 38 (before and after).ti,ab. (734035)
- 39 (before and during).ti,ab. (385621)
- 40 quasi experimental study/ (2381)
- 41 (quasi-experiment\$ or quasiexperiment\$ or quasirandom\$ or quasi random\$ or quasicontrol\$ or quasi control\$).ti,ab. (11935)
- 42 (time series and interrupt\$).ti,ab. (1493)
- 43 time points.ti,ab. (76080)
- 44 (multiple or three or four or five or six or seven or eight or nine or ten or month\$ or hour\$ or day\$).ti,ab. (8055470)
- 45 43 and 44 (55432)
- 46 exp program evaluation/ (5865)
- 47 36 or 37 or 38 or 39 or 40 or 41 or 42 or 45 or 46 (953694)
- 48 35 and 47 (1019)
- 49 random\$.ti,ab. (982608)
- 50 factorial\$.ti,ab. (25495)
- 51 crossover\$.ti,ab. (53225)
- 52 cross-over\$.ti,ab. (23880)
- 53 placebo\$.ti,ab. (219295)
- 54 (doubl\$ adj blind\$).ti,ab. (157013)

- 55 (singl\$ adj blind\$).ti,ab. (16000)
- 56 assign\$.ti,ab. (263435)
- 57 allocat\$.ti,ab. (93863)
- 58 volunteer\$.ti,ab. (193530)
- 59 Crossover Procedure/ (42861)
- 60 double blind procedure/ (122799)
- 61 Randomized Controlled Trial/ (373265)
- 62 single blind procedure/ (20192)
- 63 49 or 50 or 51 or 52 or 53 or 54 or 55 or 56 or 57 or 58 or 59 or 60 or 61 or 62 (1563786)
- 64 35 and 63 (3815)
- 65 48 or 64 (4549)
- 66 limit 65 to em=201300-201521 (1192)
- 67 ("201591" or "201592" or "201593").em. (375297)
- 68 65 and 67 (71)
- 69 66 or 68 (1263)

Key:

/ = indexing term (EMTREE heading)
exp = exploded EMTREE heading
\$ = truncation
ti,ab = terms in either title or abstract fields
adj3 = terms within three words of each other (any order)
sh = subject heading field
em = entry month – date added to database

PsycINFO

Ovid http://ovidsp.ovid.com/

1806 - May Week 2 2015

Searched on 21st May 2015. 1122 records retrieved.

Searches were limited to records added to PsycINFO since 1st January 2013.

- 1 ((serious\$ or sever\$) adj2 mental\$ adj2 (ill\$ or disorder\$)).ti,ab. (9034)
- 2 exp schizophrenia/ (75327)
- 3 schizophreni\$.ti,ab. (99865)
- 4 exp bipolar disorder/ (20860)
- 5 ((bipolar or bi polar) adj3 (disorder\$ or depress\$ or ill\$)).ti,ab. (23736)
- 6 exp psychosis/ (95879)
- 7 (psychotic\$ or psychosis or psychoses).ti,ab. (62031)
- 8 schizoaffective disorder/ (2679)
- 9 (schizoaffective or schizo-affective).ti,ab. (5591)
- 10 (hypomania\$ or mania\$ or manic).ti,ab. (17533)
- 11 exp mania/ (5305)
- 12 mental disorder\$.ti. (5329)

- 13 exp major depression/ (99296)
- 14 "depression (emotion)"/ (22238)
- 15 atypical depression/ (172)

16 ((depression or depressive) adj3 (major or sever\$ or serious\$ or endur\$ or chronic\$ or persist\$ or resistant)).ti,ab. (45042)

- 17 or/1-16 (289663)
- 18 exp integrated services/ (2521)
- 19 treatment planning/ or case management/ or interdisciplinary treatment approach/ (12865)
- 20 disease management/ (4527)
- 21 client centered therapy/ (2578)
- 22 "continuum of care"/ (1197)
- 23 primary health care/ (13463)
- 24 family medicine/ (1071)
- 25 geriatrics/ (7683)
- 26 general practice.ti. (1537)

27 (continuity of care or coordinated care or co-ordinated care or co-ordinated program\$ or coordinated program\$ or team care or team treatment\$ or team assessment\$ or team consultation\$).ti,ab. (2074)

- 28 (collaborat\$ adj3 (care or manage\$)).ti,ab. (2468)
- 29 shared care.ti,ab. (260)
- 30 ((patient-centred or patient-centered) adj2 (care or manage\$ or program\$ or service\$)).ti,ab. (993)
- 31 ((patient-centred or patient-centered) adj2 (policy or policies or model\$)).ti,ab. (119)
- 32 holistic care.ti,ab. (367)
- 33 (integrat\$ adj2 (care or service\$)).ti,ab. (3554)
- 34 (model\$ adj2 care).ti,ab. (3650)
- 35 or/18-34 (53285)
- 36 17 and 35 (7783)
- 37 posttesting/ or pretesting/ (274)
- 38 (pre-post or pre-test or pretest or posttest or post-test).ti,ab. (24682)
- 39 (before and after).ti,ab. (70148)
- 40 (before and during).ti,ab. (39397)
- 41 quasi experimental methods/ (130)
- 42 (quasi-experiment\$ or quasiexperiment\$ or quasirandom\$ or quasi random\$ or quasicontrol\$ or quasi control\$).ti,ab. (7991)
- 43 (time series and interrupt\$).ti,ab. (516)
- 44 time points.ti,ab. (8295)
- 45 (multiple or three or four or five or six or seven or eight or nine or ten or month\$ or hour\$ or day\$).ti,ab. (1068587)
- 46 44 and 45 (5891)
- 47 exp program evaluation/ (17222)
- 48 37 or 38 or 39 or 40 or 41 or 42 or 43 or 46 or 47 (136358)
- 49 36 and 48 (383)
- 50 Clinical Trials/ (8665)

- 51 Placebo/ (4069)
- 52 control\$.ti,ab. (514410)
- 53 random\$.ti,ab. (141414)
- 54 exp treatment/ (614674)
- 55 or/50-54 (1106526)
- 56 36 and 55 (6346)
- 57 49 or 56 (6393)
- 58 limit 57 to up=20130101-20150511 (1122)

Key:

/ = indexing term exp = exploded MeSH heading sh = terms in subject heading field \$ = truncation ti,ab = terms in either title or abstract fields adj3 = terms within three words of each other (any order) adj = terms next to each other (order specified) up = update code – date added to database

ClinicalTrials.gov

https://clinicaltrials.gov/

Searched on 3rd June 2015. 81 trials retrieved for the period 01/0/2013-03/06/2015.

81 studies found for: "serious mental illness" OR SMI OR "severe mental illness" OR "bipolar disorder" OR schizophrenia OR "schizoaffective disorder" OR depression OR "psychotic disorder" OR "mental disorder" | "collaborative care" OR "team care" OR "shared care" OR "integrated care" OR "care model" OR "models of care" OR "coordinated care" OR "co-ordinated care" OR "continuity of care" OR "patient-centred" OR "patient-centered" OR "holistic care" | received from 01/01/2013 to 03/06/2015

Guideline searches

National Guideline Clearinghouse

http://www.guideline.gov/

Searched on 5th June 2015. No date limits were applied. 10 relevant guidelines were found in total using the search strategies below.

1. Searched via the guidelines by topic search. Mental disorders category selected from within psychiatry and psychology giving 281 results. Searched within these results for "physical health" or "integrated care" giving 36 results. 36 results browsed for relevance. 7 relevant guidelines retrieved.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

2. Searched via the guidelines by topic search. Mental disorders category selected from within psychiatry and psychology giving 281 results. Searched within these results for "comorbidity" giving 110 results. 110 results browsed for relevance. 2 relevant guidelines retrieved.

Using the general search box search for "severe mental illness" or "serious mental illness" or smi.
 results found which were browsed for relevance. I relevant guideline retrieved.

Trip Database

https://www.tripdatabase.com/

Searched on 5th June 2015. No date limits were applied. 137 records were retrieved from within the guidelines category using the strategy below. The records were browsed for relevance and 11 relevant guidelines were found.

("severe mental illness" OR "serious mental illness" OR SMI) AND (physical OR "integrated care" OR comorbidity OR co-morbidity)

Website searches

Australia

The Department of Health

http://www.health.gov.au/

Searched on 6th June 2015. 4 reports retrieved.

103 report titles from the mental health topic within the publications section were browsed for relevance. 4 relevant reports were found.

New Zealand

New Zealand Ministry of Health

http://www.health.govt.nz/

Searched on 9th June 2015. 7 reports retrieved.

93 report titles from the mental health topic within the publications section were browsed for relevance. In addition, searched the publications section using the following search terms "integrated care", "severe mental illness", "serious mental illness", comorbidity or co-morbidity. 7 relevant reports in total were found.

Canada

Health Canada

http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/index-eng.php

Searched on 9th June 2015. 2 reports retrieved.

Searched the website using the following search terms: "integrated care", "severe mental illness", "serious mental illness", comorbidity or co-morbidity. 2 relevant reports in total were found.

USA

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration

http://www.samhsa.gov/

Searched on 9th June 2015. 4 reports retrieved.

Browsed report titles listed within the publications sections on integrated care (46 reports) and cooccurring disorders (80 reports). 4 relevant reports were found.

UK

Department of Health

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-of-health

Searched on 9th June 2015. 2 reports retrieved.

Searched the website using following search terms:

"severe mental illness" AND physical

"severe mental illness" AND "integrated care"

Browsed results, 2 relevant reports were found.

Google search

http://www.google.com/advanced_search

Searched on 17th June 2015. 20 reports retrieved.

The following search strategy was entered into the google advanced search page:

("integrated care" OR "collaborative care" OR "shared care" OR "models of care") AND (mental OR physical OR comorbidity OR co-morbidity OR bipolar OR schizophrenia OR depression)

The following limits were applied: terms appearing anywhere on the page, region set to UK, language set to English, pdf files only.

The first 100 results were browsed for relevance. 20 relevant reports were retrieved.

APPENDIX 4: Data extraction template

Reference	Stated aim/ objective	Patient/service	Setting (Country; Primary/secondary/tertiary	Defining characteristics of approach as described by	Integrated care factors*	Facilitators for wider implementation	Barriers to wider implementation	Evaluation? (Yes/No)
Source (Literature,	objective	user group	etc.; involvement of non-NHS services/organisations)‡	authors/practitioners	lactors	(process outcomes described by authors)	(process outcomes described by	Outcome relevant
contact, PPI)							authors)	to physical health
Nature of publication								

[‡] We are primarily interested in integration within the NHS, but some relevant models may nevertheless touch on other agencies or sectors

* Integrated care factors:

1. Information sharing systems – e.g. individual electronic records, other IT solutions

2. Shared protocols – setting out the responsibility of each organization (or part of organization) in delivering and agreed service and/or outcome.

3. Joint funding and commissioning – pooled funding and services commissioned across boundaries

4. Co-location of services - e.g. co-location of primary care and specialist mental health staff

5. Multidisciplinary teams – e.g. Community Mental Health Teams (CMHTs)

6. Liaison services - e.g. physical care liaison services in mental health settings

7. Navigators – e.g. a single named individual who can help people navigate their way through complex systems

8. Research

9. Reduction of stigma

APPENDIX 5: Data extraction

Reference Source	Stated aim/ objective	Patient/service user group	Setting (Country; Primary/secondary/tertiary	Defining characteristics of approach as described by authors/practitioners	Integrated care factors*	Facilitators for wider implementation	Barriers to wider implementation (process outcomes	Evaluation? (Yes/No)
Nature of			etc.; involvement of non-NHS services/organisations)‡			(process outcomes described by	described by authors)	Outcome relevant to
publication			services/organisations)+			authors)	autionsy	physical health
Bartels (2014) ³¹	To evaluate	Older adults	USA	Combined patient training in	4.7.	Participant		Yes.
()	feasibility and	with SMI	Community mental health	self-management for both		attendance at		Measures of
Literature	effectiveness of	(schizophrenia	centres	psychiatric and general medical		sessions was		improvement in
	integrated Illness	spectrum;		illness. 10 modules delivered		sufficient to benefit		self-
RCT pilot	Management and	bipolar disorder;		weekly over 8 month period by		from training and		management of
study ³¹	Recovery (I-IMR)	major		an I-IMR specialist. Preventive		nurse management.		psychiatric and
	for people with SMI	depression) and		and on-going health care		Indicates feasibility		general medical
	and chronic general	chronic medical		facilitated by a primary care		of intervention.		illness (including
	medical conditions.	conditions.		nurse health care manager				disease-specific
				located one day per week at				measures for
				the mental health centre.				diabetes, COPD,
								hypertension,
				Components of intervention				hyperlipidemia,
				for both psychiatric and				and arthritis.
				general medical illness:				
				customized to patient				Participation
				education/training about				(communication
				illness and treatment;				and preferences
				cognitive-behavioural				about decision-
				approaches to improve medication adherence; relapse				making) in
				prevention; coping skills to				psychiatric and medical
				manage persistent symptoms;				encounters. Use
				social skills.				of acute care
				30Clar 3Kill3.				services.
Bellamy	To study health	People with SMI	USA	SAMHSA-funded integrated	3. 4. 5. 6. 7.	-	-	Yes
(2013) ⁵²	outcomes of			Wellness Center (WC)	5			
()	individuals with		Mental health centre	providing four evidence-based				Clinical (e.g.
Clinical trials	mental illness			practices: (a) on-site primary				blood pressure,
register	attending a co-			care; (b) screening of clients				BMI, glucose/
5	located primary			for modifiable risk factors and				lipid levels,
RCT protocol	health care centre			medical conditions; (c) care				substance use)
•	in a mental health			coordination; and (d) peer				and patient-
	centre.			health navigation.				centred
								outcomes.

Reference	Stated aim/ objective	Patient/service user group	Setting (Country;	Defining characteristics of approach as described by	Integrated care factors*	Facilitators for wider	Barriers to wider implementation	Evaluation? (Yes/No)
Source Nature of publication	objective	user group	etc.; involvement of non-NHS services/organisations)‡	authors/practitioners		implementation (process outcomes described by authors)	(process outcomes described by authors)	Outcome relevant to physical health
Bradford(2013) ²⁶ Literature Journal article (systematic review)	To conduct a systematic review of studies of interventions that integrated medical and mental health care to improve general medical outcomes in individuals with serious medical illness.	People with SMI	USA Veterans' Administration (VA) outpatient mental health clinic	Co-located general medical clinic with care provided by a nurse practitioner with supervision from a family practitioner; care coordination provided by a nurse. Liaison with mental health providers. Primary care appointments were scheduled to immediately follow mental health appointments when possible. VA computerized record. Funded by VA Research and Development/ local clinic funds.	1. 3. 4. 5. 6.	Single payer health care system	-	Yes General medical service use
(continued)		Bipolar disorder	USA Veterans' Administration (VA) outpatient mental health clinic	Specialty team of psychiatrist and nurse care manager, including self-management support (psychoeducational "Life Goals Program", primarily addressing bipolar disorder symptoms) decision support (simplified VA Bipolar Clinical Practice Guidelines for providers), emphasis on primary care enrollment and collaboration. Nurse care manager provided same-day telephone and next- business-day clinic appointments. VA computerized record. Funded by VA Research and	1. 3. 4. 5.	Single payer health care system	-	Yes SF-36 physical health

Reference	Stated aim/	Patient/service	Setting	Defining characteristics of	Integrated	Facilitators for	Barriers to wider	Evaluation?
	objective	user group	(Country;	approach as described by	care factors*	wider	implementation	(Yes/No)
Source			Primary/secondary/tertiary	authors/practitioners		implementation	(process outcomes	
			etc.; involvement of non-NHS			(process outcomes	described by	Outcome
Nature of			services/organisations)‡			described by	authors)	relevant to
publication						authors)		physical health
(continued)		Bipolar disorder	USA Veterans' Administration (VA)	Bipolar disorder medical care model consisting of 4 sessions of self-management support,	1. 3. 4. 5. 6.	Single payer health care system	-	Yes SF-12 quality of
			outpatient mental health clinic	nurse care management (first				life-physical
			outpatient mental nearth clinic	response for bipolar disorder-				health
								nealth
				specific care and liaison				
				between existing providers), guideline implementation				
				related to cardiovascular risk				
				factors.				
				Tactors.				
				Decision support included				
				continuing medical education				
				and guidelines; pocket cards				
				for medical and mental health				
				providers related to				
				cardiovascular risk factor				
				management.				
				VA computerized record.				
				VA computenzeu record.				
				Funded by VA Research and				
				Development.				
(continued)		SMI	USA	Nurse care management with	5.6.			Yes
(continued)		500	00,1	self-management (motivational	5. 6.			105
			Urban community mental	interviewing, development of				SF-36
			health centre	action plans, and coaching),				
				liaison between mental health				Framingham
				and medical providers, and				Cardiac Index
				case management				
				components.				
				Funded by National Institute of				
				Mental Health.				

Reference	Stated aim/	Patient/service	Setting	Defining characteristics of	Integrated	Facilitators for	Barriers to wider	Evaluation?
Source	objective	user group	(Country; Primary/secondary/tertiary	approach as described by authors/practitioners	care factors*	wider implementation	implementation (process outcomes	(Yes/No)
Source			etc.; involvement of non-NHS			(process outcomes	described by	Outcome
Nature of			services/organisations)‡			described by	authors)	relevant to
publication						authors)	,	physical health
Chwastiak	To demonstrate the	Patients with	USA	TEAMcare is an evidence-	4, 5	-	-	Yes
44	feasibility and	schizophrenia		based collaborative care				
Clinical trials	acceptability of	and poorly	Mental health centre	approach to the treatment of				HbA1c, blood
register	adapting TEAMcare	controlled type		diabetes and psychiatric illness.				pressure, LDL
	for patients with	2 diabetes		Involves structured visits with a				cholesterol
Feasibility	schizophrenia			study nurse to monitor				
study protocol				psychiatric symptoms, control				
				of medical disease, and self-				
				care activities. Nurses use				
				motivational coaching to help				
				patients solve problems and				
				set goals for improved self-care				
				and medication adherence.				
				Medications for diabetes,				
				hypertension, and				
				hyperlipidemia are monitored				
				and therapy intensified based				
				on treat-to-target guidelines.				
				All process and outcome measures are tracked in a				
				registry designed for the study,				
				and the nurses receive weekly				
				supervision with a psychiatrist,				
				an endocrinologist and a				
				psychologist in order to review				
				new cases and to track				
				progress. Once a patient				
				achieves targeted levels for				
				relevant measures, the patient				
				and the nurse develop a				
				maintenance plan.				
Chwastiak	To describe various	Patients with	USA	Example 1: VA hospital – co-	4.	Flexibility within	Regulatory barriers	Yes.
(2014) ³⁶ #734	collaborative care	SMI	Community	located medical and mental	5.	health care systems	that limit	
	models (including			health care versus general	6.	to work	information	Number of
Literature	the adapted			medical clinic. Intervention		collaboratively.	exchange between	primary care
	TEAMcare model)			group emphasis on prevention,			primary and mental	visits.
Overview	for community			patient education, and		Commitment from	health care.	
	mental health			collaborative care with mental		key leaders and		Receipt of
	patients with			health providers.		administrators.		preventive
	serious mental							services (e.g.,
Reference	Stated aim/ objective	Patient/service user group	Setting (Country;	Defining characteristics of approach as described by	Integrated care factors*	Facilitators for wider	Barriers to wider implementation	Evaluation? (Yes/No)
-------------	--------------------------	-------------------------------	------------------------------	--	-----------------------------	------------------------	----------------------------------	-------------------------
Source			Primary/secondary/tertiary	authors/practitioners		implementation	(process outcomes	(,
			etc.; involvement of non-NHS			(process outcomes	described by	Outcome
Nature of			services/organisations)‡			described by	authors)	relevant to
publication						authors)	,	physical health
•	illness (SMI).			Example 2: The Primary Care		,		screening or
	· · ·			Access Referral and Evaluation				colorectal
				(PCARE) trial. Co-location of a				cancer/metaboli
				nurse care manager in				c disorders/BP
				specialist mental health clinic.				control).
				Example 3: Integrated Illness				Cardiac risk
				Management and Recovery (I-				factors.
				IMR); 8 month programme				
				combining self-management				Diabetes
				training for physical and				control.
				mental illness.				
				Example 4: Life Goals				
				Collaborative Care (LGCC).				
				Care management				
				incorporated with care				
				management and tracking of				
				health behaviours/issue of				
				treatment guidelines to				
				providers of mental and				
				primary health care.				
				Example 5: TEAMcare model				
				(adapted for SMI).				
				Multidisciplinary team in				
				mental health care setting;				
				nurse care manager is a				
				community psychiatric nurse;				
				increase emphasis on outreach				
				and home visit; intervention				
				training manuals adapted;				
				collaboration with prescriber				
				of antipsychotic medication;				
				collaboration with wider				
				mental health team.				
		1		mental nearth teann.	1	1	1	1

Reference	Stated aim/	Patient/service	Setting	Defining characteristics of	Integrated	Facilitators for	Barriers to wider	Evaluation?
_	objective	user group	(Country;	approach as described by	care factors*	wider	implementation	(Yes/No)
Source			Primary/secondary/tertiary	authors/practitioners		implementation	(process outcomes	
			etc.; involvement of non-NHS			(process outcomes	described by	Outcome
Nature of			services/organisations)‡			described by	authors)	relevant to
publication						authors)		physical health
Curtis (2015) ⁴⁸	To evaluate an	Young people	Australia	In addition to standard care	4. 5.	NR	NR	Yes
	individualized	with first-	Community-based health	(individual mental health case				
From field	lifestyle and life	episode	services	management with medical				Prevention of
expert contact	skills intervention	psychosis		assessment and antipsychotic				antipsychotic
	("Keeping the body	(schizophrenifor		prescriptions) participants				induced weight
Prospective	in mind") as part of	m psychosis,		received a 12-week				gain
controlled	standard mental	schizophrenia,		intervention comprising three				
study	health care.	schizoaffective		interrelated components: (1)				
		disorder,		individualised health coaching				
		delusional		(to promote intervention				
		disorder,		adherence); (2), dietetic				
		depression/psyc		support; (3) supervised				
		hotic features		exercise prescription.				
		according to		Delivered by clinical nurse				
		DSM-IV-TR).		consultant, dietician, exercise				
				physiologist, youth peer				
				wellness coaches. Psychiatrists				
				and endocrinologist carried out				
				additional medication review				
				and advice.				

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Reference	Stated aim/ objective	Patient/service user group	Setting (Country;	Defining characteristics of approach as described by	Integrated care factors*	Facilitators for wider	Barriers to wider implementation	Evaluation? (Yes/No)
Source Nature of publication		user Broup	Primary/secondary/tertiary etc.; involvement of non-NHS services/organisations)‡	authors/practitioners		implementation (process outcomes described by authors)	(process outcomes described by authors)	Outcome relevant to physical health
DeHert (2009) ⁵³ Literature Proposed clinical pathway/Positi on statement (based on guidelines from the European Society of Cardiology/Eur opean Association for the Study of Diabetes).	Initiate cooperation and shared care and increase awareness of psychiatrists to screen and treat CV risk factors and diabetes in SMI.	Severe mental illness (schizophrenia, major depression, bipolar disorder)	Europe Multiple settings. Psychiatric co-ordination, ideally as part of shared care arrangements with general and specialist services. European focus.	CV risk assessment at 6 and 12 weeks after antipsychotic treatment initiation, followed by annual check to include: Baseline assessment and advice: (1) history, smoking exercise, dietary habits; (2) BP, weight, waist circumference, BMI; ECG (3) Diabetes, fasting glucose and fasting lipids; (4) Advice on smoking cessation, food choices, physical activity. This information should inform the choice or review of antipsychotic treatment. If additional treatment for CV risk or diabetes is needed, involve or refer to primary care/diebetologist/specialist where appropriate, with an agreed follow-up date. Repeat steps 2, 3, and 4 plus smoking levels at weeks 6 and 12 if new to antipsychotic agent. Then annually for all patients. Flowchart presented in paper.	2.	NR	NR	No Risk factors for cardiovascular disease and diabetes.
Department of Health (2006) ² Literature	Commissioning Framework to help PCTs plan for, design, and	People with SMI	UK Urban and rural settings. Involving primary/secondary/tertiary/no	See specifically Appendices A & B. Case study examples of pilot programmes:	1. 4. 5. 6.	Training of health professionals. Dedicated care- coordinator role.	Resistance of primary care to carry out physical health checks.	Yes. Substance use; weight loss; smoking;
Policy document	commission and monitor services to improve physical health and well- being for people with SMI.		n-NHS.	Four separate nurse-led programmes involving multi- agency input. Combined consultation and healthy living initiatives. Multidisciplinary teams of		Effective communication between multi- agency health professionals.	Low attendance rate in younger service users.	physical activity; diet; primary care use; BP; BMI; Glucose and Lipids

Reference	Stated aim/	Patient/service	Setting	Defining characteristics of	Integrated	Facilitators for	Barriers to wider	Evaluation?
	objective	user group	(Country;	approach as described by	care factors*	wider	implementation	(Yes/No)
Source			Primary/secondary/tertiary	authors/practitioners		implementation	(process outcomes	
			etc.; involvement of non-NHS			(process outcomes	described by	Outcome
Nature of			services/organisations)‡			described by	authors)	relevant to
publication						authors)		physical health
				consultants/community mental		Continuity of care		
				health managers/ other service		likely to be		
				managers/psychiatric		facilitated by:		
				consultants. Clinic and home				
				consultation visits. Regular		Maintaining		
				healthy living groups for		accurate registers of		
				people with SMI.		people with SMI to		
				FF		record physical		
				Other promising approaches		health checks and		
				are: Inpatient support: Weekly		consultations,		
				Primary care service provided		including follow up		
				by GP to acute inpatient unit;		and progress;		
				health screening pilot in an		supporting access		
				inpatient unit delivered by GP		and appropriate		
				or practice nurse for those with		referral to		
				length of stay >6 months;		healthcare and		
				physical healthcare team		health promotion		
				(nurse practitioners) at acute		services.		
				mental health trust.		services.		
				Community services:		Other facilitators:		
				Collaborative primary and				
						Less Les develors		
				secondary care involving physical health checks and		Local leadership of		
						programmes		
				monitoring or service users and		(appropriate		
				physical health/training for		training; clearly		
				mental health nurses; SMI		defined roles and		
				registers at GP practices,		responsibilities);		
				followed by annual health		consultation with		
				checks (led by mental health		stakeholders		
				nurses).		(patients; health		
						professionals;		
						voluntary sector.		
						Open referral policy;		
						buddying		
						programmes/		
						use of mobile		
						technology to		
						increase		
						programme		
						attendance.		

Reference Source	Stated aim/ objective	Patient/service user group	Setting (Country; Primary/secondary/tertiary etc.; involvement of non-NHS	Defining characteristics of approach as described by authors/practitioners	Integrated care factors*	Facilitators for wider implementation (process outcomes	Barriers to wider implementation (process outcomes described by	Evaluation? (Yes/No) Outcome
Nature of publication			services/organisations)‡			described by authors)	authors)	relevant to physical health
F						Evaluation of effectiveness.		
Social Care Local Government and Care Partnership Directorate(20 14) ⁴	Increase access to mental health services	Not specified	NHS	Clinical commissioning tools that will support integration of physical and mental health care to be developed by NHS England	3.	Insufficient details	Insufficient details	No
Literature Policy document								
(continued)	Integrate physical and mental health care	Not specified	NHS	Training programmes for health care employers to increase awareness of mental health problems and how they may affect their patients, including links between mental and physical health.		Insufficient details	Insufficient details	No
(continued)	Integrate physical and mental health care	Not specified	NHS primary care	Improving GP knowledge and experience of management of SMI, including physical health and crisis care. RCGP adapting its Curriculum Statement for Mental Health and appointing a Mental Health Clinical Lead. All future GPs to receive specialist-led training in the care of young people and adults with mental health problems.		Insufficient details	Insufficient details	No
(continued)	Integrate physical and mental health care	Mental health in-patients	NHS mental health in-patient facilities	Improving standards of physical care in to support earlier diagnosis and treatment of common illnesses		Insufficient details	Insufficient details	No

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Reference	Stated aim/ objective	Patient/service	Setting (Country;	Defining characteristics of approach as described by	Integrated care factors*	Facilitators for wider	Barriers to wider implementation	Evaluation? (Yes/No)
Source	objective	user group	Primary/secondary/tertiary	authors/practitioners	care factors.	implementation	(process outcomes	(res/NO)
Source			etc.; involvement of non-NHS	autions/practitioners		(process outcomes	described by	Outcome
Nature of			services/organisations)‡			described by	authors)	relevant to
publication			services/organisations/+			authors)	autions	physical health
(continued)	Integrate physical	Not specified	NHS	Providing Health and Wellbeing	3. (other	Insufficient details	Insufficient details	No
(continueu)	and mental health	Not specified	NIIS	boards with funds to develop	aspects may	insumcient details	insumcient details	NO
	care			their own plans for joined up	be covered by			
	Care			health and care locally. 14	pioneer sites)			
				"Integrated Care pioneer sites"	pioneer sites)			
				announced in November 2013.				
(continued)	Raising awareness	Not specified	NHS/Public Health England	GPs, health care professionals	5.?	Insufficient details	Insufficient details	No
(continueu)	of mental and	Not specified	NH3/Public Health England	and social workers can	5.1	insumcient details		NO
	physical health			promote importance of				
	needs			physical health. Appropriate				
	neeus			adaptation of lifestyle and				
				public health intervention				
				services for mental health				
				service users.				
Druss (2001) ⁵¹	Ta avaluata an	Matanana with			45.0		Lineite el	Vaa
Druss (2001)	To evaluate an	Veterans with	USA Veterans Affairs Mental Health	Integrated care clinic located in	4.5.6.	Additional staff	Limited	Yes.
From ⁸⁰	integrated model of	SMI		the mental health clinic to		resources to	generalizability to	Lingth and
From	primary medical		Clinic	provide primary care and case		improve access and	non- VA settings.	Health care
	care for patients			management, including		adherence to care		visits (including
	with SMI.			prevention, patient education,		(case manager		primary care
				and collaboration with mental		outreach, extra		visit) /receipt of
				health providers. Delivered by		appointment time,		preventive
				nurse practitioner, part-time		scheduling		health
				family practitioner, nurse care		flexibility).		measures/Physi
				manager and administrative				cal component
				assistant. The registered nurse		Basic reorganization		of the SF-36.
				and the family practitioner		of services,		
				provided liaison between		including on-site		
				psychiatry and medical		location, common		
				services.		chart, enhanced		
				Detterste some av set statet		channels of		
				Patients were prompted about		communication and		
				appointments scheduled		information sharing.		
				(where possible) to follow				
				mental health visits.				
				One representative from the				
				integrated clinic liaised with				
				mental health teams via				
				weekly team meetings.				

Reference	Stated aim/	Patient/service	Setting	Defining characteristics of	Integrated	Facilitators for	Barriers to wider	Evaluation?
	objective	user group	(Country;	approach as described by	care factors*	wider	implementation	(Yes/No)
Source			Primary/secondary/tertiary	authors/practitioners		implementation	(process outcomes	
			etc.; involvement of non-NHS			(process outcomes	described by	Outcome
Nature of			services/organisations)‡			described by	authors)	relevant to
publication						authors)		physical health
NHS NIHR	1. Develop a system	People with SMI	UK	Five main components:	1?2? 5.6.7.	Boundary spanning	Lack of time to	Yes (process
Collaboration	that demonstrates					role: Essential for	perform community	evaluation)
for Leadership	improved		North West Community Mental	1. A time-protected		CPHC to continue as	physical health	
in Applied	continuity of care		Health Team (NW CMHT) of	Community Physical Health Co-		a Care Co-ordinator	assessments.	
Health	achieved		Manchester Mental Health and	ordinator (CPHC) role. Split		whilst carrying out		
Research and	through		Social Care Trust (MMHSCT)	with an ongoing part-time Care		the role; Training in	Difficulty for CMHT	
Care (CLAHRC)	strengthened		and general practice.	Coordinator role within the		conflict	staff trying to	
for Greater	coordination and			CMHT. Provided with		management,	accommodate	
Manchester	collaboration			mandatory physical health		facilitation,	physical health	
(2013) ^{45, 46}	between primary			training (including medication		negotiation,	training into their	
	care and CMHTs,			side effects, COPD,		and physical health	case loads.	
Literature	such that there is a			obesity/weight management,		management to		
	clear shared			type 2 diabetes, measuring		facilitate MDT		
Guidance	responsibility for			blood pressure and stroke,		meeting success.		
document and	the physical health			preventing VTE, physical health				
pilot project	of people with SMI.			assessments)		Knowledge		
evaluation				,		integration: MDT		
	2. Develop clear			2. Regular multi-disciplinary		meetings involving		
	pathways and			team (MDT) meetings between		at least a GP,		
	guidance on			the CPHC and GP practices to		Practice Manager		
	delivering physical			establish shared care with the		/Administrator,		
	health checks in a			NW CMHT. The CPHC co-		Practice Nurse/		
	community setting			ordinates each meeting with		Health Care		
	to ensure that the			lead GP; obtains relevant client		Assistant and the		
	physical health of			info from Care Co-ordinator;		CPHC; Integrated		
	people with SMI is			captures actions and feeds		working between		
	assessed on a more			back to Care Co-ordinators and		Assistant		
	regular basis and			consultants; holds a definitive		Practitioners and		
	access to			list of lifestyle services; liaises		Care Co-ordinators;		
	appropriate care is			with Practice Manager and GPs		Physical health		
	timely,			in between MDT meetings.		Education sessions		
	resulting in better					provided by the		
	health outcomes			3. Identification of training		Physical Health		
	for the service user.			needs amongst the NW CMHT		Nurses; Mandatory		
				staff and delivery of		physical health		
	3. Ensure that			appropriate		training for all		
	people with SMI			training to improve capacity to		CMHT staff;		
	are provided with			address physical health needs		Collaborative		
	improved access to			and support lifestyle changes.		training day for		
				and support mestyle changes.		• ,		
	lifestyle services			I		CMHT and lifestyle		

Reference	Stated aim/	Patient/service	Setting	Defining characteristics of	Integrated	Facilitators for	Barriers to wider	Evaluation?
	objective	user group	(Country;	approach as described by	care factors*	wider	implementation	(Yes/No)
Source			Primary/secondary/tertiary	authors/practitioners		implementation	(process outcomes	
			etc.; involvement of non-NHS			(process outcomes	described by	Outcome
Nature of			services/organisations)‡			described by	authors)	relevant to
publication						authors)		physical health
	currently available			4. Regular physical health		service staff.		
	Within Manchester			assessments delivered in a				
	Mental Health and			community setting by CMHT.		Standardisation:		
	Social Care Trust					CPHC job		
	(MMHSCT), whilst			5. Increased use of existing		description and a		
	improving the			physical health resources		flowchart of		
	provision of			through collaborative training		responsibilities; A		
	targeted health			day for CMHT and community		process for		
	information			lifestyle service staff on a)		identifying service		
	that will empower			what lifestyle services were		users to raise for		
	service users to			available, b) what they		discussion at the		
	take care of their			provided, c) how to refer into		MDT meetings;		
	own physical health			them, d) barriers to		Joint action plans		
	needs.			referrals, e) how to improve		for the physical		
				the current system, f) how to		health management		
				improve the uptake, and g)		of service users;		
				experiences of working with		Clinical guidance		
				SMI service users.		document to assist		
						Care Co-ordinators		
						carrying out physical		
						health assessments;		
						Distributing a		
						physical health		
						check bag (including		
						scales etc.) to CMHT		
						staff; Lifestyle		
						services directory		
						made available and		
						distributed to all		
						CMHT staff.		
						Supportivo		
						Supportive organizational		
						culture: Spread and		
						sustainability		
						strategy;		
						Commitment to		
						CPHC role from		
						management,		
		1				protected time and		1

Reference	Stated aim/	Patient/service	Setting	Defining characteristics of	Integrated	Facilitators for	Barriers to wider	Evaluation?
6	objective	user group	(Country;	approach as described by	care factors*	wider	implementation	(Yes/No)
Source			Primary/secondary/tertiary	authors/practitioners		implementation	(process outcomes	Outcome
Nature of			etc.; involvement of non-NHS services/organisations)‡			(process outcomes	described by	Outcome relevant to
publication			services/organisations)+			described by authors)	authors)	physical health
publication								physical field
						resources; Supervision of Care		
						Co-ordinators to		
						include MDT		
						actions;		
						Implementation of		
						physical health		
						mandatory training		
						for all CMHT staff;		
						Protected time plus		
						support and		
						guidance for		
						completing physical		
Hennell	To identify the	Deersle with CN4	Australia	Mantal Haalth Numa Inconting	6. 9.	health assessments.		Na
Happell (2013) ⁵⁴	'	People with SMI	Australia	Mental Health Nurse Incentive	6.9.	MHNIP allows	-	No
(2013)	views of nurses		Drimon, core cottings (CD	Program (MHNIP) was		flexibility to deal		
Litoratura	working within the		Primary care settings (GP	designed to increase access to		within the MHN role		
Literature	Mental Health		clinics, private psychiatry	quality mental-health care		to deal with physical		
terrerel entitle	Nurse Incentive		services, private hospitals).	services in the primary care		health care.		
Journal article	Program (MHNIP)			setting and to support GPs in				
(Survey)	about their			providing quality health-care		MHNIP allows		
	involvement with			services.				
	the physical health			Involves the introduction of		important access to all services in one		
	of people with SMI					location.		
				Mental Health Nurses (MHN)				
				into primary care settings such as GP clinics, private psychiatry		Strong relationship		
				services, private hospitals.		between MHN and		
				services, private nospitals.		general practitioner.		
				Primary role of MHN is to		general practitioner.		
				coordinate the mental health				
				care for people in the				
				community, destigmatising the				
				primary care experience of				
				consumers, helping to ensure				
				connection with the general				
				community, and to prevent				
				hospitalisation.				
				Only documented reference to				
				Unity documented reference to				

Reference	Stated aim/ objective	Patient/service user group	Setting (Country; Drimony/cocondon//tortion/	Defining characteristics of approach as described by authors/practitioners	Integrated care factors*	Facilitators for wider	Barriers to wider implementation	Evaluation? (Yes/No)
Source Nature of			Primary/secondary/tertiary etc.; involvement of non-NHS services/organisations)‡	authors/practitioners		implementation (process outcomes described by	(process outcomes described by authors)	Outcome relevant to
publication				physical health is 'providing information on physical health care' and 'improving links to other professionals and community support programmes'. However, survey respondents reported often discussing physical health of consumers with GPs, psychiatrists, and case managers. Also checking whether consumers had received physical health assessments on entering the service, checking if they had a regular GP, plus weight management, exercise and dietary advice. Less frequently gave advice on STD protection and contraceptives and ensuring eyesight is regularly checked.		authors)		physical health
Happell (2014) ²⁸ Literature RCT	To describe the initial physical health of SMI participants randomized to a specialist Cardiometabolic Health Nurse (CHN) intervention.	SMI	Australia Community mental health care	Identification of at-risk factors for cardiometabolic health by CHN.	4. 6. 7.	NR	NR	Yes. Measures assessed: BP BMI Self-reported physical activity and views on physical activity, smoking and nutrition

Reference	Stated aim/	Patient/service	Setting	Defining characteristics of	Integrated	Facilitators for	Barriers to wider	Evaluation?
Source	objective	user group	(Country; Primary/secondary/tertiary etc.; involvement of non-NHS	approach as described by authors/practitioners	care factors*	wider implementation (process outcomes	implementation (process outcomes described by	(Yes/No) Outcome
Nature of publication			services/organisations)‡			described by authors)	authors)	relevant to physical health
Happell (2014) ⁵⁶ Literature Protocol for 26- week RCT	To evaluate the impact on physical health care of community mental health consumers following intervention of a specialist Cardiometabolic	Community mental health consumers	Australia Community mental health care	Participants receive 2 x 30 min consultations (baseline/completion), covering physical assessment (BMI, waist/hip ratio, vegetable intake, smoking status, alcohol use, ECG, self- care of feet , BP, glucose, lipids, medication review.	4. 6. 7.	-	-	Yes Self-reported physical health. Use of primary health services. Behaviour change.
	Health Nurse (CHN) vs usual care.			CHN implements strategies to address concerns of those identified at-risk, including links to GPs or allied health professionals/advice on health behaviour change. CHN responsible for follow up.				
Happell (2015) ⁵⁵	To explore the views of nurses on the introduction of	Nurses caring for patients with SMI.	Australia	Option for mental health nurses to refer patient to CHN (role description as above).	4. 6. 7.	Seen as helpful support for mental health nurses.	Funding and resources. Potential service	No. See ⁵⁶ for range of physical
Literature Survey	the Cardiometabolic Health Nurse (CHN) as an effective strategy in patients with SMI.			,, p		Will depend on context and extent of existing provision for primary care services.	fragmentation. Encroachment on/conflicts with comprehensive nursing. Complicating/interf ering with care. "Muddying the waters" on who is responsible for physical health. Diverting attention from GP access.	health outcomes considered.

Reference	Stated aim/	Patient/service	Setting	Defining characteristics of	Integrated	Facilitators for	Barriers to wider	Evaluation?
	objective	user group	(Country;	approach as described by	care factors*	wider	implementation	(Yes/No)
Source			Primary/secondary/tertiary	authors/practitioners		implementation	(process outcomes	
			etc.; involvement of non-NHS			(process outcomes	described by	Outcome
Nature of			services/organisations)‡			described by	authors)	relevant to
publication						authors)		physical health
Hardy (2014) ²⁹	To establish	Patients with	UK (England); NHS primary	Training manual and website		NR	Organisation of	Yes: Before and
	whether training	SMI in primary	care (Practice Nurses).	(developed as part of the			practice nurses	after audit.
	practice nurses	care (taken		study).			workload.	
Literature	increases the	from the SMI		Manual provides clear			Culture of primary	Proportion of
search	proportion of	register).		guidance and a rationale to			care - also need to	SMI patients
	patients with SMI			help practice nurses make			educate	receiving
Primary study	who are screened			decisions about individual			commissioners and	elements of an
	for CVD risk factors			patients.			GPs about the risk	annual health
	and given life-style			Website provides training and			of CVD in this group	check (CVD
	advice in primary			a resource for useful tools and			of patients.	screening and
	care.			links.				lifestyle advice).
				Training aimed to provide				
				practice nurses with greater				
				understanding of the increased				
				risk of CVD in patients with SMI				
				and confidence in carrying out				
				the physical health checks.				
Jones (2013) ³⁸	To examine	Care-	UK NHS East Midlands	One-off dental awareness	7.	-	-	Yes, though not
	whether dental	coordinators		training for care coordinators,				yet complete.
Literature	awareness training	working in Early		and a checklist to be				
	plus a dental	Intervention in		completed with service users,				Problems with
RCT protocol	checklist leads to a	Psychosis (EIP)		covering SMI history, contact				mouth and
	clinically significant	teams.		with dentist, toothbrush				teeth.
	difference in oral			ownership/use, current state				
	health behavior of			of dental health, and an oral				
	people with serious			hygiene information sheet for				
	mental illness			service users.				

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Reference	Stated aim/	Patient/service	Setting	Defining characteristics of	Integrated	Facilitators for	Barriers to wider	Evaluation?
<u> </u>	objective	user group	(Country;	approach as described by	care factors*	wider	implementation	(Yes/No)
Source			Primary/secondary/tertiary	authors/practitioners		implementation	(process outcomes	0.1
Nature of			etc.; involvement of non-NHS			(process outcomes	described by	Outcome
Nature of			services/organisations)‡			described by	authors)	relevant to
publication	To suplusts the	Deersle with CN4	LICA /Courthours Colifornia	"The Bridge" – four	7.	authors) NR		physical health Yes.
Kelly (2014) ³⁰	To evaluate the effectiveness of a	People with SMI	USA/Southern California Mental health setting	0	7.	NR	-	
Literature	peer-delivered		Wental health setting	components (1) patient health assessment and health				Measures (for pain only)
Literature	health navigation			navigation planning; (2) co-				drawn from SF-
RCT pilot	intervention ("The			ordinated linkages/activities to				6D.
KCT pllot	Bridge") for			help patients navigate the				00.
	improving health			health care system and follow-				24 common
	and healthcare use			up/adherence to treatment				physical
	in people with SMI.			plans; (3) consumer education,				symptoms
	in people with sivil.			including partnering with				(listed in tab 2
				medical care providers,				of the paper)
				treatment compliance, self-				plus measure of
				advocacy and interaction skills,				pain recorded at
				health & wellness, benefits and				baseline and up
				entitlements); (4) cognitive-				to 12 months.
				behavioural strategies to				
				support health care use				
				behaviour change and				
				behaviour maintenance.				
				Delivered in 2 phases (timing				
				individualized according to				
				need): Phase 1 – intense				
				contact between patient and				
				navigator. Phase 2 – contact				
				less intense as navigator starts				
				to monitor from a distance.				
				Comparator: Treatment as				
				usual.				
Brekke (2013)42	To describe the	People with SMI	USA	The Bridge – a peer health	7.9.	Supervision and	-	Yes
	development and			navigator intervention to give		support of the peer		
Literature	implementation of		Mental health service	clients the skills and experience		navigator		Health
	"The Bridge": a			to self-manage their health				screenings in
Journal article	peer-staffed care-			care activities to the greatest				previous 6
(Pilot study)	linkage model			degree possible (adapted from				months/medical
	situated in a mental			Gelberg et al 200: Behavioural				hospital
	health clinic.			Model of Health Service Use				admissions/eme
				for Vulnerable Populations				rgency room
				(BMHSUVP) to address some of				admissions for

Reference	Stated aim/	Patient/service	Setting	Defining characteristics of	Integrated	Facilitators for	Barriers to wider	Evaluation?
	objective	user group	(Country;	approach as described by	care factors*	wider	implementation	(Yes/No)
Source			Primary/secondary/tertiary	authors/practitioners		implementation	(process outcomes	
			etc.; involvement of non-NHS			(process outcomes	described by	Outcome
Nature of			services/organisations)‡			described by	authors)	relevant to
publication						authors)		physical health
				the barriers to implementation				physical
				identified in BMHSUVP).				problems/outpa
								tient visits to
				The recruited peer navigator				primary care
				was given comprehensive				providers.
				training, combining 10 weeks				
				in classroom, followed by six				
				weeks internship. Spent two				
				months shadowing clinic				
				nurses, team leaders, and				
				service providers, plus further				
				training in the navigator model				
				and supporting theory.				
				Navigator was provided self-				
				instructional cognitive				
				behavioural strategy guides.				
				Senario ana oracegy Balaesi				
				Intervention intended to last				
				around 6 months (4-month				
				intensive phase, followed by 2				
				month step-down phase)				
				month step down phasey				
				Four intervention components				
				are: (1) Assessment of health				
				status, current use of services,				
				and experiences of accessing				
				services. Used to develop a				
				collaborative care health				
				navigation plan and a step-by-				
				step strategy as a basis for				
				monitoring. (2) Coordinated				
				linkages – assisting clients				
				make appointments,				
				communicate with medical				
				care providers, ensure follow-				
				up, handling pharmacy issues,				
				and ensuring compliance with				
				treatment plans. (3) Consumer				
				education about the health				
				care system, how to partner				

Reference	Stated aim/	Patient/service	Setting	Defining characteristics of	Integrated	Facilitators for	Barriers to wider	Evaluation?
	objective	user group	(Country;	approach as described by	care factors*	wider	implementation	(Yes/No)
Source			Primary/secondary/tertiary	authors/practitioners		implementation	(process outcomes	
			etc.; involvement of non-NHS			(process outcomes	described by	Outcome
Nature of			services/organisations)‡			described by	authors)	relevant to
publication						authors)		physical health
				with medical providers,				
				treatment compliance, self-				
				advocacy, appropriate				
				interaction skills, health and				
				wellness issues, health benefits				
				and entitlements. (4) Cognitive				
				behavioral strategies:				
				modeling, role-playing,				
				coaching, and fading in order				
				to gradually shift navigation				
				activities to the client so they				
				can manage their own health				
				to the greatest extent possible.				
				Peer navigator was supervised				
				and supported by the project				
				manager and participated in				
				weekly team meetings.				
Kern (2015) ⁵⁷	Describe practices	Adults with SMI	USA	PBHCI requires CMHCs to	1-9	- Informing	- Lack of availability	No
	where primary care			create a link with a primary		providers of	of useful Web-based	
Literature	services are		Primary care services typically	care partner. This can be a		available tobacco	registry software	Some evaluative
	provided to adults		provided within Community	local Federally Qualified Health		cessation services,		evidence
Book chapter	with SMI in a		Mental Health Centre (CMHC)	Centre (FQHC; a federally		and engaging staff	- Lack of attention	presented.
	mental health		settings, and funded through	funded primary care clinic for		to support	to tobacco cessation	
	environment.		the Substance Abuse and	medically underserved areas)		abstinence	from psychiatric	
			Mental Health Services	or a Primary Care Provider		attempts.	providers	
			Administration's (SAMHSA)	(PCP). CMHCs may				
			Primary and Behavioural	alternatively take on FQHC		- Encouraging	-Difficulty recruiting	
			Health Care Integration (PBHCI)	status.		behavioural health	PCP and case	
			programme.	Description de description (case managers to	management staff	
			Altornativo administrativa	Recommended components of		expand their scope	in rural centres.	
			Alternative administrative	PBHCI programmes:		into the medical	DCDc	
			arrangements include global	(1) Pogular screening and		realm. Training in medical issues.	- PCPs uncomfortable with	
			payment systems for physical, mental. and dental care for	 Regular screening and registry tracking/outcome 				
			Medicaid beneficiaries	measurement; (2) Placing		- Strong	treating SMI patients and/or	
			(coordinated care	PCPs, nurse practitioners, or		administrative	difficulties with the	
			organisations; CCOs) and self-	physician assistants in		support for attitude	complexities and/or	
			contained systems (Veterans	behavioural health facilities; (3)		change among	slow pace of this	
			Health Administration,	Primary care supervising		providers.	work.	
	I	L	nearth Authinisti dtioli,	i innary care supervising	l	providers.	WUIK.	1

Reference	Stated aim/	Patient/service	Setting	Defining characteristics of	Integrated	Facilitators for	Barriers to wider	Evaluation?
	objective	user group	(Country;	approach as described by	care factors*	wider	implementation	(Yes/No)
Source			Primary/secondary/tertiary	authors/practitioners		implementation	(process outcomes	
			etc.; involvement of non-NHS			(process outcomes	described by	Outcome
Nature of			services/organisations)‡			described by	authors)	relevant to
publication						authors)		physical health
			Department of Defense,	physician to provide				
			private insurers).	consultation on complex health		- Global funding of	- Inadequate	
				issues; (4) Nurse care		health care to	inclusion of	
				managers to increase		better engage PCPs.	psychiatrists.	
				participation and follow-up		Or Health Homes		
				primary care screening,		model	- Confidentiality	
				assessment and treatment			laws preventing	
				services; (5) Use of evidence		- Exploiting the	sharing of EMR	
				based practices; (6) Prevention		ability of	information	
				and wellness support services		psychiatrists to	between providers.	
				(e.g. nutrition, health		move along the		
				education/literacy, peer		primary care-		
				specialists, self-help)		behavioural health		
						spectrum.		
				Typical staff:				
				Care manager (typically nurse		- Psychiatrists		
				with physical care background)		providing medical		
				maintains registry of physical		care for common		
				health indicators,		conditions		
				communicates need for		(hypertension,		
				treatment adjustment to		diabetes,		
				primary care team, and		dyslipidemias) with		
				coordinates multiple medical		support of		
				providers. Provides clinical		consulting PCP.		
				direction to case managers, as				
				well as direct physical		- PCPs embedded in		
				assessment, health education		behavioural Health		
				and primary care linkage for		Home model.		
				individual patients.				
						- Finding ways to		
				Case managers (typically		access information		
				batchelors-level clinicians) role		from multiple EMRs		
				includes maintaining patients'				
				benefits and housing, keeping		- Electronic data		
				appointments, interpreting		gathering via		
			"medicalese", basic medical		handheld units or			
			education, decoding insurance		desktop computer			
						kiosks to allow		
				problems, assisting improved health behaviours,		patient self-entry of		
				,				
	1			miscellaneous problem-solving.		data such as		

Reference	Stated aim/	Patient/service	Setting	Defining characteristics of	Integrated	Facilitators for	Barriers to wider	Evaluation?
	objective	user group	(Country;	approach as described by	care factors*	wider	implementation	(Yes/No)
Source			Primary/secondary/tertiary	authors/practitioners		implementation	(process outcomes	
			etc.; involvement of non-NHS			(process outcomes	described by	Outcome
Nature of			services/organisations)‡			described by	authors)	relevant to
publication						authors)		physical health
						depression scales.		
				Peers living with mental illness				
				can be involved in individual		- Clarity about goals		
				and group approaches to		of the primary care		
				improving health behaviours.		clinic.		
				PCPs (physicians, nurse-		- Providing sufficient		
				practitioners, or physician		physical space for		
				assistants) provide direct		the primary care		
				medical services, may oversee		service if located in		
				the primary care support team		mental health clinic.		
				and/or provide education to all				
				staff in basic health literacy.		- Ensuring site is		
				May use registry data to		both visible and		
				establish priorities and target		accessible		
				educational efforts, and				
				provide consultation to		- Planning for		
				psychiatric providers on		unexpected		
				chronic medical issues.		financial issues.		
				Psychiatrists ensure attention		- Planning and		
				to health issues, use of safer		nurturing		
				psychotropic medicines,		communication		
				regular physical screening with		mechanisms.		
				appropriate intervention				
				where necessary. May provide		- Use of registry to		
				basic treatment of common		organize physical		
				metabolic conditions with		care of psychiatric		
				retraining and PCP consultation		population.		
				and/or written protocols.		population		
						- Learning how to		
				Example programmes include:		make behavior		
				peers as wellness coaches;		change happen.		
				providing resources such as		suche neppen		
				fitness centre/relaxation room		- Continual		
				for peer run programmes ;		reinforcement with		
				locating primary care services		staff of the need for		
				in the mental health clinic;		integration.		
				Electronic medical records				
				(EMRs) accessible to both		- Making time for		

Reference	Stated aim/	Patient/service	Setting	Defining characteristics of	Integrated	Facilitators for	Barriers to wider	Evaluation?
Source	objective	user group	(Country; Primary/secondary/tertiary	approach as described by authors/practitioners	care factors*	wider implementation	implementation (process outcomes	(Yes/No)
Source			etc.; involvement of non-NHS	autions/practitioners		(process outcomes	described by	Outcome
Nature of			services/organisations)‡			described by	authors)	relevant to
publication			services/organisations/+			authors)	autions)	physical health
publication				physical and behavioural		providers to		physical fiediti
						collaborate on		
				health services; becoming an				
				FQHC in order to develop a common EMR, plus using a van		patient care.		
				to provide primary care				
				services to largely homeless				
				population, coordinating with				
				other organisations that use				
				mobile services; employing a				
				physician trained in bariatric				
				medicine to consult on obesity.				
Kilany (2015) ⁴¹	To examine the	Medicaid	US	"The main tenets of the PCMH	Potentially 1-	Health IT	Rural areas have	Yes
(2015)	performance of the	beneficiaries	03	model are a physician-directed	9	(telemental health	mental health	165
Literature	patent-centred	with SMI	Primary care	medical practice, a personal	5	services), and	professional	No clinical
Eliciatore	medical care home			physician for each patient, the		advanced practice	shortages. As a	outcomes
Dissertation	(PCMH) model for			capacity to coordinate high		psychiatric nurses	result, co-location of	outcomes
Dissertation	Medicaid			quality, accessible care and		are examples of the	specialty mental	
	beneficiaries with			payments".		type of resources	health in non-urban	
	SMI living in urban					that can aid rural	PCMHs is not a	
	and rural areas			Encompasses five functions		PCMHs.	realistic option in	
	based on a set of			and attributes: (1)			most situations.	
	health service			Comprehensive care; (2)				
	utilization and			patient-centred; (3)				
	quality of care			Coordinated care; (4)				
	outcomes.			Accessible services; (5) Quality				
				and safety. Detailed				
				description of the concept				
				available from:				
				https://pcmh.ahrq.gov/				
Kilbourne	To determine the	People with	USA	Three components: Self-	1.	NR	Incomplete lab data	Yes.
(2012) ³⁴	impact of Life Goals	bipolar disorder	Community-based mental	management; care	9.		(glucose, lipids) to	BMI
	Collaborative Care	(I, II, NOS) and	health outpatient setting.	management; guideline	6.?		determine necessity	BP
Literature	(LGCC) on	at least one		support.			for medical care.	HR QOL
	cardiometabolic	cardiometabolic						Functioning
RCT Pilot	factors in people	risk factor.		Self-management: Over 6				(WHO Disability
	with bipolar			month period , four 2-hour				Assessment
	disorder in			weekly self- management				Scale)
	community-based			sessions (active discussions				
	settings.			based on social cognitive				

Reference	Stated aim/	Patient/service	Setting	Defining characteristics of	Integrated	Facilitators for	Barriers to wider	Evaluation?
	objective	user group	(Country;	approach as described by	care factors*	wider	implementation	(Yes/No)
Source			Primary/secondary/tertiary	authors/practitioners		implementation	(process outcomes	
			etc.; involvement of non-NHS			(process outcomes	described by	Outcome
Nature of			services/organisations)‡			described by	authors)	relevant to
publication						authors)		physical health
				theory, covering bipolar				
l				disorder and CV risk, stigma,				
				diet and exercise relating to				
				symptom coping, and				
				collaborative care				
				management).				
				6 ,				
				This was followed by brief care				
				management from a nurse care				
				manager (CM) contacts to				
				track progress (by addressing				
				symptoms and side effects and				
				facilitating provider				
				communication. Also directly				
				contacts medical/mental				
				health/geriatric providers				
				regarding urgent health				
				concerns based on patient				
				communication or medical				
				record information and				
				provides outreach/crisis				
				management after critical				
				service encounters or missed				
				appointments).				
				appointments).				
				Guideline support: A series of				
				one-hour continuing medical education (CME) in-services				
				were held that addressed CVD				
				risk in older patients with				
				bipolar disorder for all primary				
				care and mental health				
				providers. Pocket cards				
				summarizing these				
				recommendations for				
				metabolic syndrome risk				
				monitoring, psychotropic drug				
				toxicity monitoring, and				
				reminders to promote diet and				
				exercise with patients were				

Reference	Stated aim/ objective	Patient/service user group	Setting (Country;	Defining characteristics of approach as described by	Integrated care factors*	Facilitators for wider	Barriers to wider implementation	Evaluation? (Yes/No)
Source Nature of publication			Primary/secondary/tertiary etc.; involvement of non-NHS services/organisations)‡	authors/practitioners		implementation (process outcomes described by authors)	(process outcomes described by authors)	Outcome relevant to physical health
				also handed out as part of the educational sessions				
Kilbourne (2013) ³² Literature RCT	To determine the impact of Life Goals Collaborative Care (LG-CC) on cardiometabolic factors in VA patients with bipolar disorder.	VA patients with bipolar disorder (I,II,NOS, Schizoaffective bipolar subtype) and at least one CVD risk factor.	USA Community-based mental health outpatient setting.	As above.	As above.	NR	As above.	Yes. Primary: BP Cholesterol Physical HR QOL. Secondary: Lipids Weight/BMI Waist circumference
Kilbourne (2014) ³⁵ Literature RCT.	To determine the impact of Life Goals Collaborative Care (LGCC) on physical health in VA patients with SMI.	VA patients with serious mental illness based on ICD-9- CM (includes schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, major depressive disorder) and at least one CVD risk factor.	USA VA mental health clinic	Three components: Self- management; care management; provider support. Self-management: Five weekly self-management sessions/five group sessions covering SMI facts and risk factors for CVD; personal goal-setting; active discussion on coping and management of psychiatric and medical risk factors; provider engagement and communication tips. Care management: Health specialist conducts ongoing patient contacts monthly for 6 months to reinforce lessons from self-management, track progress on patient-specific physical activity and dietary goals made during self- management sessions, and identify symptoms or other health issues to relay to	As above.	NR	Resources needed to integrate LG-CC into routine VA care.	Yes. Primary: Physical HR QOI (VR-12) Secondary: CV risk factors (BP,BMI) Physical activity

Reference	Stated aim/ objective	Patient/service user group	Setting (Country;	Defining characteristics of approach as described by	Integrated care factors*	Facilitators for wider	Barriers to wider implementation	Evaluation? (Yes/No)
Source	objective	user group	Primary/secondary/tertiary	authors/practitioners	care factors	implementation	(process outcomes	(103/100)
			etc.; involvement of non-NHS			(process outcomes	described by	Outcome
Nature of			services/organisations)‡			described by	authors)	relevant to
publication			, ,			authors)	,	physical health
				providers. Provides links to				
				community resources where				
				applicable. Contacts patient's				
				principle primary care and				
				mental health provider on a				
				monthly basis using electronic				
				medical record view alerts or				
				in-person curbside				
				consultations to relay potential				
				issues brought up when				
				contacting patients, including				
				physical or mental health				
				symptoms, medication side				
				effects, symptoms, or urgent				
				health concerns. Uses registry				
				for recording all relevant				
				information.				
				Provider support: Health				
				specialist provides care plan to				
				primary care and mental health				
				providers after the last care				
				management contact to				
				facilitate ongoing clinical				
				management. They also				
				disseminate information on				
				LGCC program and VA				
				guidelines for CVD risk				
				monitoring to primary care and				
				mental health providers at				
	Carabana			staff meetings.				N -
Kilbourne	See above							No
(2015) ⁵⁸								
Litoratura								
Literature								
Conference								
abstract								

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Reference	Stated aim/	Patient/service	Setting	Defining characteristics of	Integrated care factors*	Facilitators for wider	Barriers to wider	Evaluation? (Yes/No)
C	objective	user group	(Country;	approach as described by	care factors*		implementation	(Yes/NO)
Source			Primary/secondary/tertiary	authors/practitioners		implementation	(process outcomes	0.1
			etc.; involvement of non-NHS			(process outcomes	described by	Outcome
Nature of			services/organisations)‡			described by	authors)	relevant to
publication						authors)		physical health
Lee (2010) ³⁹	To evaluate a	Patients with	Hong Kong	Trained case managers	4. 5.	-	-	Yes, though not
	Personalised Care	severe mental		(including psychiatric nurses,				reported
Literature	Programme	illness	District-based model	social workers, occupational				
				therapists) aiming to provide				Clinical
Conference				patient centred care, needs				symptoms, A&E
abstract				and risk management, gate-				attendance
				keeping to prevent avoidable				(proxy measure)
				hospitalization, better				
				treatment adherence,				
				reduction of disabilities,				
				enhancement of recovery, and				
				social inclusion.				
				Programme involves holistic				
				biopsychosocial risk and needs				
				assessment, regular clinical				
				meetings with internal and				
				community partners, service				
				co-location, delivery of phase-				
				specific post-discharge				
				interventions. 365 day case				
				management service with				
				medical supervision and out-				
				of-hours medical support.				
				Central training programme				
				and clinical protocols for case				
				managers to acquire generic				
				core competency.				
	1	1	1	core competency.	1		1	<u> </u>

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Reference	Stated aim/	Patient/service	Setting	Defining characteristics of	Integrated	Facilitators for	Barriers to wider	Evaluation?
Source Nature of publication	objective	user group	(Country; Primary/secondary/tertiary etc.; involvement of non-NHS services/organisations)‡	approach as described by authors/practitioners	care factors*	wider implementation (process outcomes described by authors)	implementation (process outcomes described by authors)	(Yes/No) Outcome relevant to physical health
publication Maki (2013) ⁴³ Literature Journal article (quality improvement process evaluation)	Describe and evaluate an improved process of identifying and managing CVD factors	People with SMI	USA Community mental health centre psychiatry clinic, targeting centre staff working for or with Assertive Community Treatment (ACT) teams (psychiatrist, advanced practice registered nurse, registered nurses, case managers, and ACT support staff).	Basic education of staff about CVD risk in SMI, plus a CVD screening tool prompting providers to order appropriate laboratory tests and communicate the results to primary care providers (PCPs)	5.1.8.	authors) Education and consensual /shared goals across mental health and primary care settings.	Population with severe mental health symptoms/ Patient compliance. Clinical settings with heavy caseloads, limiting time available to practitioners/incom plete laboratory documentation/pro cess. Insurance companies refusing to pay for laboratory tests if not indicated (i.e. refusing lipid panel orders for patients not taking second- generation anti- psychotics)	physical health Yes Screening rates
Mental Health Foundation, (2013) ²⁷ Literature Report on an Inquiry from 2012-2013 (involving literature search; expert seminars; call for evidence)	To identify good practice, generate discussion, and draw up key messages on integrated health care for people with mental health problems.	People with mental health problems. (By implication, this report covers people with SMI)	UK	The report implies there is no single agreed approach to integrated health care or integrated care. Various generic definitions are presented, including: WHO (2008): "the organization and management of health services so that people get the care they need, when they need it, in ways that are user-friendly, achieve the desired results and provide value for money".	The report identifies 9 factors of successful integrated care See 1-9 below (footnote)	Two underpinning essential factors: 1. Having the right people in the organisation (leaders who will drive forward integration at a strategic level and staff who understand and respect the roles and responsibilities of other professions and are willing to		No.

Reference	Stated aim/	Patient/service	Setting	Defining characteristics of	Integrated	Facilitators for	Barriers to wider	Evaluation?
	objective	user group	(Country;	approach as described by	care factors*	wider	implementation	(Yes/No)
Source			Primary/secondary/tertiary	authors/practitioners		implementation	(process outcomes	
			etc.; involvement of non-NHS			(process outcomes	described by	Outcome
Nature of			services/organisations)‡			described by	authors)	relevant to
publication			, , ,			authors)	,	physical health
						work with patients		F /* ** ** *
				Department of Health (2011):		and across		
				"most commonly used to		organisational and		
				express a very practical desire		professional		
				to make sure separate		boundaries)		
				specialist healthcare services		boundaries		
						2 Cross houndary		
				work closely together to		2. Cross-boundary		
				ensure all a patient's needs are		inter-professional		
				met".		training and		
						education that		
				Appleton (2009):"the		must be ongoing		
				coordinated commissioning		with continuing		
				and delivery of services and		professional		
				support to individual in a way		development.		
				that enables them to maximize				
				their independence, health and		Key facilitators to		
				wellbeing."		implement 1-9:		
				Lester (2005): Shared care:		1. An ability to		
				"the pooling of expertise and		anonymize and		
				enhanced creativity in		aggregate data to		
				problem-solving".		inform a needs		
						assessment of the		
						local population.		
						2. Staff "buy-in"		
						and commitment.		
						3.Commissioner		
						awareness of issues		
						beyond traditional		
						health and social		
						care interventions.		
						4. Staff		
						understanding their		
						respective roles and		
						responsibilities.		
						5. Effective		
						interprofessional		
						education and staff		
						training.		
						6. Commissioner		

Reference	Stated aim/ objective	Patient/service user group	Setting (Country;	Defining characteristics of approach as described by	Integrated care factors*	Facilitators for wider	Barriers to wider implementation	Evaluation? (Yes/No)
Source	,	0 1	Primary/secondary/tertiary	authors/practitioners		implementation	(process outcomes	,
			etc.; involvement of non-NHS			(process outcomes	described by	Outcome
Nature of			services/organisations)‡			described by	authors)	relevant to
publication			,			authors)	,	physical health
·						awareness of		
						evidence for		
						services; economic		
						benefits.		
						7. A single named		
						individual.		
						8. More research of		
						effectiveness and		
						economic		
						assessment of		
						integrated care.		
						9. Public and		
						healthcare		
						workforce		
						awareness,		
						education and		
						training on mental		
						health issues.		

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Reference	Stated aim/	Patient/service	Setting	Defining characteristics of	Integrated	Facilitators for	Barriers to wider	Evaluation?
Source	objective	user group	(Country; Primary/secondary/tertiary etc.; involvement of non-NHS	approach as described by authors/practitioners	care factors*	wider implementation (process outcomes	implementation (process outcomes described by	(Yes/No) Outcome
Nature of			services/organisations)‡			described by	authors)	relevant to
publication			services, organisations, r			authors)	uuunorsy	physical health
NHS Improving	To pilot a 12-week	Young people	υκ	Multidisciplinary 'lifestyle	3.?	Adequate funding to	NR	Yes.
Quality	education and	diagnosed with	Primary/Secondary/non-NHS	medicine programme'.	5.	sustain the model.		
(2014) ⁴⁹	exercise	psychosis and	organisations	Partnership model, including	7.			Key physical
	programme* for	bipolar	organisations	Worcester Health and Care	9.	Interactive sessions.		health risk
rom field	young people with	disorder.		NHS Trust Early Intervention in				markers.
expert contact	SMI.			Psychosis service; University of				Weight/fitness
				Worcester; McClelland Health				levels/behaviour
Case study	(*SHAPE:			and Wellbeing Centre; local				change and
···· ,	Supporting Health			private industry;				engagement
	and Promoting			Worcestershire County				with
	Exercise) based on			Council; The Health				programme.
	"Keeping the Body			Foundation/SHINE; South				1 0
	in Mind" developed			Worcestershire Clinical				
	at Bondi Beach,			Commissioning Group.				
	Australia.)			0				
	,			12-week programme. Baseline				
				physical health MOT for				
				participants. Group health				
				education sessions on healthy				
				eating, smoking cessation,				
				substance abuse, dental care,				
				sexual health and stress				
				management. Programme				
				involved weekly individual				
				sessions with a dietician and an				
				exercise physiologist.				
				Group cardiovascular exercise				
				sessions and advice on how to				
				access these locally. 12-month				
				gym membership. Access to				
				peer support and help with				
				goal setting; 1:1				
				encouragement and fitness				
				training/taking part in team				
				sports. Partnerships formed				
				with local private industry to				
				sportswear and equipment.				1

Reference	Stated aim/	Patient/service	Setting	Defining characteristics of	Integrated	Facilitators for	Barriers to wider	Evaluation?
Source Nature of publication	objective	user group	(Country; Primary/secondary/tertiary etc.; involvement of non-NHS services/organisations)‡	approach as described by authors/practitioners	care factors*	wider implementation (process outcomes described by authors)	implementation (process outcomes described by authors)	(Yes/No) Outcome relevant to physical health
NHS London Health Programmes, (2011) ⁵⁹ Literature search Description of model of care for long term mental health conditions	Describe a model of care for long term mental health conditions (i.e., p29 of report onwards); includes aim to integrate physical and mental health care.	People with long term mental health conditions. likely diagnoses (ICD10) of schizophrenia, schizoaffective disorder, bipolar disorder, recurrent depression, and chronic neurotic, stress related and somatoform disorders.	UK (England); NHS primary and secondary care with links into local authority and third sector.	Broad proposed model of care encompassing inpatient services, secondary services, shared care, primary care, social determinant of health: universal support, involvement of family/carers. Physical health component mainly addressed through primary care, but also included in shared care element. (Relevant principle underpinning the model of care: more active involvement of primary care teams can improve physical health care for those with a long term mental health condition.)	2.	Training in primary care to increase competence and capacity for shared care.	NR	No. Description of a proposed model of care with anticipated benefit for each component. Case studies provided but none addressing physical health needs. Discusses possible outcome measures – generic, which could encompass physical health measures but do not explicitly do so. Also proposes implementation tools and plans, but no further detail.
Nover (2014) ⁶⁰ Literature	To improve medical treatment for patients with SMI who had a diagnosis	Severe mental illness (schizophrenic disorders,	16-month CalMEND Collaborative to Integrate Primary Care and Mental Health Services (CPCI)	Programme coordinated by a social worker (also responsible psychosocial assessments and interventions) with a nurse	4. 5. 7	Budget for contracting with outside providers and community-	Providers sometimes unwilling or unable to refer to the programme.	No outcome measurement
Report of pilot implementatio n	of, or risk factors for hypertension, coronary artery disease (CAD), dyslipidemia, and/or diabetes.	recurrent major depression, bipolar disorder) with a diagnosis of, or risk factors for	programme in a community care clinic in rural California.	responsible for medical assessments and interventions. Contracted with dietitian and pharmacist to deliver relevant interventions.		based programmes.	Months of work to identify patients through chart review.	

Reference	Stated aim/	Patient/service	Setting	Defining characteristics of	Integrated	Facilitators for	Barriers to wider	Evaluation?
	objective	user group	(Country;	approach as described by	care factors*	wider	implementation	(Yes/No)
Source			Primary/secondary/tertiary	authors/practitioners		implementation	(process outcomes	
			etc.; involvement of non-NHS			(process outcomes	described by	Outcome
Nature of			services/organisations)‡			described by	authors)	relevant to
publication		-				authors)		physical health
		hypertension,					Important data	
		CAD,		Eligible patients were			missing from patient	
		dyslipidemia,		identified from records or from			charts.	
		and/or		referrals from the clinic				
		diabetes.		physicians/psychiatrist and			Some patients	
				asked if they wanted to			would agree to	
				participate.			participate but not	
							attend arranged	
				Baseline assessment of			assessment.	
				presenting problem,				
				biopsychosocial history,			Providers rarely	
				treatment goals (social work			signed "Shared Care	
				assessment); medical history,			Planning Forms".	
				frequency of tests, self-				
				management of illnesses			Problems with office	
				(nursing assessment).			staff: scheduling	
							appointments,	
				Patients asked to attend			notification of	
				clinical weekly-monthly for			patient arrival,	
				individualized treatment to			access to medical	
				meet their treatment goals (charts.	
				typically weight loss, smoking				
				cessation, diabetes			Budget cuts forced	
				management, SMI symptom			programme to end	
				management)			early.	
							,	
							Insufficient funds	
							for >10 weeks of	
							dietitian	
							involvement.	
							Physical space	
							restriction for	
							nursing assessment.	
Parks (2015) ⁶¹	To describe the	Chronic	US	An expansion of the patient	Potentially		Most patients will	No
1 0113 (2013)	Medicaid "Health	conditions,		centred medical home (PCMH)	1-9		be going to multiple	
Literature	Home (HH)" model.	including SMI	Primary, behavioural,	model to further enhance	1.5		providers, many of	Chronic disease
Literature	nome (my model.	and substance	community and social care	integrated care.			whom will not be	management
Book chapter		abuse disorders	services.				providing electronic	management
book chapter		abuse disorders	SEI VILES.	Sonvice requirements: 1				
				Service requirements: 1.			medical record data.	

Reference	Stated aim/	Patient/service	Setting	Defining characteristics of	Integrated	Facilitators for	Barriers to wider	Evaluation?
	objective	user group	(Country;	approach as described by	care factors*	wider	implementation	(Yes/No)
Source			Primary/secondary/tertiary	authors/practitioners		implementation	(process outcomes	
No.			etc.; involvement of non-NHS			(process outcomes	described by	Outcome
Nature of			services/organisations)‡			described by	authors)	relevant to
publication		Fliaible		Commente han alterna indexes 2		authors)	Such data is	physical health
		Eligible individuals must		Comprehensive care plan; 2.				
		have either:		Quality-driven, cost-effective,			necessary to properly identify	
		two chronic		culturally appropriate, person- and family-centred, evidence			and track patient	
		conditions; one		based services; 3. Include			populations and	
		chronic		prevention, health promotion,			individuals needing	
		condition and		health care, mental health,			HH services.	
		risk of having a		substance use and long-term			THT SELVICES.	
		second or; one		services, with linkages to				
		serious and		community supports and				
		persistent		resources; 4. Continuing care				
		mental health		strategies including care				
		condition.		management, care				
				coordination, and transitional				
				care from the hospital to				
				community; 5. HH providers do				
				not need to provide all the				
				required services themselves				
				but must ensure the full array				
				of services is available and				
				coordinated; 6. Use				
				information technology to				
				facilitate the HHs work and				
				establish quality improvement				
				efforts.				
				HHs required to track				
				avoidable hospital				
				readmissions, calculate cost				
				savings of coordinated care, and monitor the use of health				
				information technology. States				
				are required to track				
				emergency room visits, skilled				
				nursing facility admissions and				
				cost-savings.				
				Procedure:				
				Care manager (CM; often a				
				nurse) uses disease registry to				

Reference	Stated aim/	Patient/service	Setting	Defining characteristics of	Integrated	Facilitators for	Barriers to wider	Evaluation?
	objective	user group	(Country;	approach as described by	care factors*	wider	implementation	(Yes/No)
Source			Primary/secondary/tertiary	authors/practitioners		implementation	(process outcomes	
			etc.; involvement of non-NHS			(process outcomes	described by	Outcome
Nature of			services/organisations)‡			described by	authors)	relevant to
publication						authors)		physical health
				monitor and identify gaps in				
				care and, with other HH team				
				members (e.g. primary care				
				provider, traditional mental				
				health team members),				
				decides who will be				
				responsible for intervening.				
				May or may not be a member				
				of the HH team. CM or				
				delegated team member				
				contacts patient regularly to				
				assess, educate, or intervene				
				as needed. Progress measured				
				using validated standardized				
				tools. CMs use registry to keep				
				track of their panel of patients				
				and ensure they are followed				
				up regularly. Regular HH team				
				meetings to review their panel				
				of eligible patients and				
				prioritise those with greatest				
				immediate need or				
				opportunity for improvement.				
				The team works from a single				
				care plan designed to address				
				all physical health, behavioural				
				health and wellness needs. HH				
				team may be housed in one				
				location or function virtually				
				from different settings.				
Pirraglia	Cohort study. To	US veterans	USA	Serious Mental Illness Primary	4.	Open access.	Limited	Yes.
(2012) ⁴⁰	test whether	with serious		Care Clinic (SMIPCC). Open for		epen accessi	generalisabilty	
· · · · · /	implementation of	mental illness	Mental health outpatient unit.	1 session per week/open			beyond VA	Clinic
Literature	primary care co-			access to coincide with mental			population.	attendance and
	located in mental			health appointment where			F - F	attainment of
Observational	health setting			possible; walk-in care is				targets for LDL
cohort study	impacts on health			allowed and patients seen the				cholesterol,
	service use and			same day; staffed by single				triglycerides, BP,
	cardiovascular risk			primary care provider and a				and BMI.
	factor control.			patient care assistant.				
			1	patient tale assistant.	1		l	1

Reference	Stated aim/ objective	Patient/service user group	Setting (Country;	Defining characteristics of approach as described by	Integrated care factors*	Facilitators for wider	Barriers to wider implementation	Evaluation? (Yes/No)
Source Nature of publication			Primary/secondary/tertiary etc.; involvement of non-NHS services/organisations)‡	authors/practitioners		implementation (process outcomes described by authors)	(process outcomes described by authors)	Outcome relevant to physical health
Rubin (2005) ⁵⁰ From ⁸⁰ RCT/process evaluation	To evaluate the addition of an internist to the care of patients on psychiatric inpatient units.	People hospitalized with chronic mental illness	USA Inpatient psychiatric units.	Participants seen within 24 hours of admission by an Internist (working with usual care team). Data collected on medical history, followed by physical examination, and communication with primary care provider about the completion of health maintenance services (e.g., scheduling breast screening, vaccinations, lipid screening), chronic medical problems and medications (either as an inpatient or on discharge). Internist also ordered specialty consultations and formulated smoking and alcohol cessation plans.	4.6.7.	NR	Referrals to expensive health maintenance services such as mammography.	Yes. Care processes, e.g. Number of health maintenance services completed.
Shackelford (2013) ⁶² Literature Journal article	Describe the population receiving primary care services in a community mental health clinic.	Mental health clinic users. Primarily indigent patients from a large urban area.	USA Outpatient community mental health clinic with a co-located primary care clinic.	Primary care clinic operates 3.5 days per week, staffed by two nurse practitioners and one family physician. Informal referral in which a mental health provider directly places their patient on the clinic schedule or discusses the referral with the primary care nurse liaison. Though no formal referral criteria, the aim was to capture people with a chronic medical illness who are unable to navigate a traditional primary care setting.	4. 6.	The organization of services in this study lends itself to accommodate a "stepped care" approach (i.e. patients level of care being altered according to objectively measured need)	-	No
Solomon (2014) ⁶³	To assess the barriers and facilitators to	People with serious mental illness, including	USA Setting: Upon transition from hospital discharge to	TCare (based on targeted case management model; Naylor et al 2013).	7.	Integration of TCare into the hospital discharge planning	Intensity of physical health need. (Patients with more	No. Rehospitalisatio
Literature	implementation of a transitional care	major depression;	community.	Ten essential elements of		process.	pressing physical health needs were	n; use of emergency

Reference	Stated aim/	Patient/service	Setting	Defining characteristics of	Integrated	Facilitators for	Barriers to wider	Evaluation?
	objective	user group	(Country;	approach as described by	care factors*	wider	implementation	(Yes/No)
Source			Primary/secondary/tertiary	authors/practitioners		implementation	(process outcomes	
			etc.; involvement of non-NHS			(process outcomes	described by	Outcome
Nature of			services/organisations)‡			described by	authors)	relevant to
publication						authors)		physical health
Pilot RCT	model (TCare) for	bipolar		targeted care management: 1.		Team approach	more receptive to	services;
	patients with	disorder;		coordination of care by an		involving	TCare).	medication/heal
	serious mental	schizoaffective		advanced practice nurse (APN);		peers/social worker	_	th care
	illness.	disorder;		2. a plan developed prior to		(to assess patient's	Poor	appointment
		schizophrenia;		hospital discharge; 3. Home		social environment/	communication and	management
		psychosis (not		visits by APN for ~90 days post-		stability of housing,	co-ordination	and adherence.
		otherwise		hospital discharge and		etc.) and a	between providers.	
l		specified).		available 7 days a week; 4.		consulting	(use of electronic	
				Coordination with physicians in		psychiatrist.	health	
				community, including			records/psychiatric	
				accompanying patient on visits;		Focus on	advance directives is	
				5. inclusive focus on health		implementation at	suggested).	
				needs of patient; 6.		multiple systems		
				Involvement of both patient		level.		
				and family in patient care				
				through education and				
				support; 7. early detection and				
				quick "response to health care				
				risks and symptoms"; 8.				
				Patient, family caregiver, and				
				providers functioning as a				
				team; 9. collaboration of nurse				
				and physician; and 10.				
				Information sharing among all				
				team members.				
				Here, the pilot intervention				
				consisted of a 90-day				
				programme delivered by a				
				psychiatric nurse practitioner				
				(trained in medical and				
				psychiatric				
				assessment/treatment/prescri				
1				bing). Programme includes				
				assessment, planning,				
				assistance in accessing medical				
				care and social services (based				
				on needs of patient),				
				attendance at appointments				
				and monitoring of services			1	

Reference	Stated aim/ objective	Patient/service user group	Setting (Country;	Defining characteristics of approach as described by	Integrated care factors*	Facilitators for wider	Barriers to wider implementation	Evaluation? (Yes/No)
Source	objective	user group	Primary/secondary/tertiary	authors/practitioners		implementation	(process outcomes	(103/100)
			etc.; involvement of non-NHS			(process outcomes	described by	Outcome
Nature of			services/organisations)‡			described by	authors)	relevant to
publication						authors)		physical health
				received. A psychiatrist was				
				available for consultation.				
Stark (2014) ⁶⁴	A proposal to test	Patients with	UK	1. Embedding the Lester tool as	1.6.8.	NR	NR	No.
	the implementation	SMI	Four Strategic Clinical Network	a standard of physical care in				
From field	of the Lester tool		(SCN) pilot sites:	an acute male inpatient mental				Pilot work on-
expert contact	(updated 2014		1. Cheshire and Merseyside	health unit. Identify training				going from
	version) to screen		SCN	needs and development of				October 2014.
Specification	for cardiovascular		2.Northern SCN	care pathways.				Final report due
for evaluation	conditions in		3.Northern SCN	2. Develop and co-ordinate				December 2015.
of the Lester	patients being		4.South West SCN	physical health link nurses				
tool (2014)	treated for SMI.			using appropriate training and				
				support. Develop clinical				
				pathways arising from				
				implementation of Lester tool				
				and to link with external NHS				
				agencies and community				
				services.				
				3. Electronic physical health				
				monitoring system for				
				inpatients (based on Lester				
				tool) to improve data quality				
				between Trust and primary				
				care/community. Increase				
				service user awareness of				
				physical wellbeing.				
				4. Expand inpatients physical				
				health programme (based on				
				Lester tool) to more inpatients				
				and into community. Expand				
				remit beyond CVD to dental				
				and sexual health. Improve				
				communication with primary				
				care.				

Reference	Stated aim/ objective	Patient/service user group	Setting (Country;	Defining characteristics of approach as described by	Integrated care factors*	Facilitators for wider	Barriers to wider implementation	Evaluation? (Yes/No)
Source Nature of publication		aser Broad	Primary/secondary/tertiary etc.; involvement of non-NHS services/organisations)‡	authors/practitioners		implementation (process outcomes described by authors)	(process outcomes described by authors)	Outcome relevant to physical health
Tallian (2010) ⁶⁵ Literature Conference abstract	To describe the implementation of a pharmacist- managed Medication Therapy Management Services (MTMS) at an outpatient mental health clinic.	Mental health patients	US, California University hospital outpatient clinic in collaboration with University School of Pharmacy, County Mental Health Services, California Mental Health Care Management Program	Credentialed psychiatric pharmacists providing direct patient-care activities under a collaborative practice protocol with psychiatrists, to patients referred by residents and attending physicians. Included: psychiatric evaluation, medication management, laboratory and adverse effects monitoring, medication adherence assessment, lifestyle, counselling, therapy referral, clinical practice integration.	2	_	Delay in patient referrals, space allocation, acceptance of pharmacists' role at the clinic, changing needs of clinic and County due to diminished state funds.	No Laboratory and adverse effect monitoring.
Ungar (2013) ⁶⁶ Literature Journal article (service description and pilot)	To pilot a "Reversed shared care" clinic	Mental health patients without access to a primary care physician	Canada Urban community teaching hospital Mental Health Department.	A public insurance-funded primary care family physician and Assertive Community Treatment (ACT) nurse available for appointments one morning per week. Co-located in hospital Mental Health Community Day Treatment, Outpatient, and Outreach services.	4. 5. 6	System-wide and integrated vision of service delivery and resource allocation from decision makers. Willing and interested primary care family physician and committed, passionate staff.	Lack of administrative and institutional support due to perceived increased financial cost and unnecessary co- location, absence of a specified/earmarke d budget.	No
Vanderlip (2014) ⁶⁷ Literature Journal article (survey)	To examine the identification, management, and referral of primary care activities of Assertive Community Treatment (ACT) teams across the United States.	Persons suffering persistent mental illness who also demonstrate difficulty engaging in care.	USA Community-based settings	ACTs provide intensive psychosocial rehabilitation support, combining the services of a psychiatrist, psychiatric nursing, and supportive community living aids in community based settings. They are charged with medication management and assisting with vocational, substance abuse, and housing	5. 7.	Nurse care managers acting as liaisons to primary care for people with SMI. More education of ACT clinicians on recommended preventive health screening and	Deficiencies in training of team members limit their capabilities in taking responsibility for medical care. Failure to take full advantage of staff in addressing medical care.	No

Source Source Source	bjective	user group	(Country; Primary/secondary/tertiary etc.; involvement of non-NHS services/organisations)‡	approach as described by authors/practitioners services. ACT can support the dissemination of evidence- based practices such as	care factors*	wider implementation (process outcomes described by authors) standardization of an intake process to	implementation (process outcomes described by authors)	(Yes/No) Outcome relevant to physical health
				dissemination of evidence- based practices such as				
				integrated dual-diagnosis treatment and wellness and recovery planning. Attention to physical health needs is a stated goal of the model. Many commonalities with the medical home concept (enhanced access and continuity, patient education and empowerment, comprehensive evidence- based treatment). ACTs teams are designed to function as "mental health homes" and have evolved in parallel with growing PCMH movement.		identify physical health needs.		
(2013)33eff joirLiteratureinto betBefore andcar after study.Written ininfo spanish.rec car	o evaluate the effectiveness of a oint team ntervention setween primary are and mental sealth to improve nformation ecording on ardiovascular risk actors.	Patients diagnosed with psychosis	Spain Primary care/mental health care settings	Shared clinical sessions; joint GP-mental health protocol. Patients were selected from primary care	1. 2.	NR in abstract	NR in abstract	Yes. Information recording on smoking; BP; BMI; total cholesterol; HDL cholesterol; triglycerides; glucose; waist circumference; cardiovascular risk.
(2014) ³⁷ lite ele Literature rec	Review of grey iterature to identify electronic health ecord (EHR) ystems to integrate	People with SMI	USA Cross setting partnerships: Mental health -Community Mental Health Centres (CMHC)	General EHR examples: examining mortality after cardiac surgery; disease monitoring; disease self- management training.	1.	Electronic PHR shifts locus of control to patient. Funding and training	Patient: People with low digital literacy and/or psychosocial challenges (poverty, social isolation,	Yes. Primary care service use; hospitalisation; physical health

Reference	Stated aim/	Patient/service	Setting	Defining characteristics of	Integrated	Facilitators for	Barriers to wider	Evaluation?
Source	objective	user group	(Country; Primary/secondary/tertiary	approach as described by authors/practitioners	care factors*	wider implementation	implementation (process outcomes	(Yes/No)
Not an of			etc.; involvement of non-NHS			(process outcomes	described by	Outcome
Nature of publication			services/organisations)‡			described by authors)	authors)	relevant to physical health
review	mental and physical		Qualified Health Centres	smartphone apps;		implement EHR.	work conditions).	(unspecified)
	outcomes of people		(FWHC)).	appointment/medication				(unopeomea)
	with SMI.			reminders by text.		Allowing patients to	Provider: time-	
			Department of Veterans Affairs			opt-in to release	consuming; system	
			(VA)/VA sites and outside VA	Programmes: Primary and		health information	compatibility and	
			system.	Behavioural Health Care		into the shared	patient	
				Integration Grant Programme –		system to overcome	confidentiality	
				funding for CMHCs. To include		medico-legal	(including legal	
				enhanced computer systems,		barriers.	protections); staff	
				management information			training; lack of financial incentives	
				systems and electronic health record integration.			to implement	
				record integration.			to implement	
				Rhode Island example:				
				"Current Care" (system to				
				share electronic patient				
				information between primary				
				and specialist care, pharmacy,				
				hospital and emergency				
				departments) and "Direct				
				Secure Messaging" (point-to-				
				point electronic messaging				
				between providers).				
				California example: e-				
				prescribing; electronic care				
				pathways to track patients.				
				Provision of grants and				
				training; integration toolkit for				
				providers.				
				• • • • • • • •				
				Missouri example: "Pay to				
				Play" incentives for providers to use CyberAccess (webportal				
				with real-time transmission of				
				health information).				
				,				
				Tennessee example :				
				Telehealth consultations with				
				psychiatrists who have access				

Reference	Stated aim/	Patient/service	Setting	Defining characteristics of	Integrated	Facilitators for	Barriers to wider	Evaluation?
	objective	user group	(Country;	approach as described by	care factors*	wider	implementation	(Yes/No)
Source			Primary/secondary/tertiary	authors/practitioners		implementation	(process outcomes	
			etc.; involvement of non-NHS			(process outcomes	described by	Outcome
Nature of			services/organisations)‡			described by	authors)	relevant to
publication						authors)		physical health
				to shared electronic health				
				record.				
				New York state example:				
				Psychiatric Services and Clinical				
				Knowledge Enhancement				
				System (PSYCKES) web-based				
				tools to access administrative				
				data.				
Welthagen	To evaluate the	Adults	UK	Weekly 3-hour sessions	4.6.	Professional, kind,	Patient anxiety	No.
(2004) ⁶⁸	feasibility of primary	with SMI (over	Acute psychiatric hospital	(appointment times 30		and understanding	about seeing	
	care services co-	70% had		minutes each) offering primary		nature of primary	someone other than	
From ⁸⁰	located within an	schizophrenia/		care services on 3 acute		care doctor.	a psychiatrist.	
	acute psychiatric	bipolar		psychiatry wards. Services				
Feasibility	unit.	affective		included physical diagnoses			High demand for	
study		disorder)		and treatments, referrals to			services.	
				specialists, health promotion				
				and education.			Generalisability	
							beyond acute	
				Advice also offered to ward			setting.	
				doctors and nurses, including				
				advice on patient management				
				to junior psychiatrists.				

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2016. This work was produced by Rodgers *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health. This document may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Reference	Stated aim/	Patient/service	Setting	Defining characteristics of	Integrated	Facilitators for	Barriers to wider	Evaluation?
	objective	user group	(Country;	approach as described by	care factors*	wider	implementation	(Yes/No)
Source			Primary/secondary/tertiary	authors/practitioners		implementation	(process outcomes	
			etc.; involvement of non-NHS			(process outcomes	described by	Outcome
Nature of			services/organisations)‡			described by	authors)	relevant to
publication						authors)		physical health
Yeomans	To evaluate a	People with	UK (Bradford and Airedale)	Computer template designed	1	Use of computer-	Accuracy of data	Yes.
(2014) ⁴⁷	computer based	SMI	Primary care	to be compatible with the		based template	recording.	
	physical health			primary care information		(versus paper-based		Uptake of the
From field	screening template			system (SystmOne). Template		template).	Availability of QOF	template in
expert contact	for use with primary			to support a standard annual			incentive for annual	primary care.
	care information			physical health check based on			health checks in	
Cross sectional	systems			NICE guideline for physical			primary care.	Quality and rate
retrospective				health checks in schizophrenia.				of
study.				Also to help GPs submit data				cardiovascular
				returns for the Quality and				health
				Outcomes Framework (QOF).				screening/early
								detection of
				Template includes pre-existing				high
				data from patient records and				cardiovascular
				facilitates the allocation of				risk.
				tasks (e.g., ordering blood				
				tests) to the primary care team.				
				Results are returned through				
				usual channels in the computer				
				system.				
				Members of staff were offered				
				training on use of the template.				

Key:

* 1. Information sharing systems – e.g. individual electronic records, other IT solutions

2. Shared protocols – setting out the responsibility of each organization (or part of organization) in delivering and agreed service and/or outcome.

3. Joint funding and commissioning – pooled funding and services commissioned across boundaries

4. Co-location of services - e.g. co-location of primary care and specialist mental health staff

5. Multidisciplinary teams – e.g. Community Mental Health Teams (CMHTs)

6. Liaison services – e.g. physical care liaison services in mental health settings

7. Navigators – e.g. a single named individual who can help people navigate their way through complex systems

8. Research

9. Reduction of stigma

‡ We are interested in integration within the NHS, but some relevant models may nevertheless touch on other agencies or sectors.